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Part I – Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements

PolyOne Corporation and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

(In millions, except per share data)
                 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Sales  $ 579.0  $ 552.2  $ 1,739.1  $ 1,645.6 
Operating costs and expenses:                 

Cost of sales   511.7   469.1   1,529.2   1,377.3 
Selling and administrative   42.9   46.7   136.9   159.3 
Depreciation and amortization   13.4   11.5   38.3   38.6 

Employee separation and plant phaseout   1.9   (0.3)   2.5   (1.5)
Environmental remediation at inactive sites   2.9   7.4   2.9   8.7 
Loss on sale of assets   –   0.2   –   5.9 
Loss (income) from equity affiliates and minority interest   7.6   (20.2)   (50.5)   (46.1)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Operating income (loss)   (1.4)   37.8   79.8   103.4 
Interest expense   (17.0)   (18.1)   (51.2)   (54.8)
Interest income   0.5   0.4   1.4   1.0 
Other expense, net   (2.4)   (6.1)   (3.7)   (12.7)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Income (loss) before income taxes and discontinued operations   (20.3)   14.0   26.3   36.9 
Income tax expense   (1.5)   (2.2)   (6.4)   (7.5)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Income (loss) before discontinued operations   (21.8)   11.8   19.9   29.4 
Discontinued operations:                 

Income (loss) from operations, net of income taxes   2.3   (0.2)   5.3   7.7 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Net income (loss)  $ (19.5)  $ 11.6  $ 25.2  $ 37.1 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Earnings (loss) per common share:                 

Basic and diluted earnings (loss):                 
Before discontinued operations  $ (0.24)  $ 0.13  $ 0.22  $ 0.32 
Discontinued operations   0.03   –   0.05   0.08 

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share  $ (0.21)  $ 0.13  $ 0.27  $ 0.40 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Weighted average shares used to compute earnings per share:                 

Basic   91.9   91.5   91.8   91.5 
Diluted   91.9   91.8   92.1   91.7 

                 
Dividends paid per share of common stock  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ – 

See Accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PolyOne Corporation and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)

(In millions, except per share data)
         
  September 30,  December 31, 
  2005   2004  
Assets         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 47.3  $ 38.6 
Accounts receivable, net   336.9   309.7 
Inventories   194.4   196.0 
Deferred income tax assets   20.2   20.1 
Other current assets   14.6   17.7 
Discontinued operations   34.9   34.6 

  
 
  

 
 

Total current assets   648.3   616.7 
Property, net   405.6   441.2 
Investment in equity affiliates   267.1   263.3 
Goodwill, net   322.0   321.0 
Other intangible assets, net   12.1   12.3 
Other non-current assets   58.9   57.4 
Discontinued operations   44.9   59.9 

  
 
  

 
 

Total assets  $ 1,758.9  $ 1,771.8 
  

 

  

 

 

         
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity         
Current liabilities:         

Short-term bank debt  $ 6.6  $ 2.3 
Accounts payable   224.7   210.7 
Accrued expenses   93.1   102.4 
Current portion of long-term debt   29.6   49.3 
Discontinued operations   29.0   26.3 

  
 
  

 
 

Total current liabilities   383.0   391.0 
Long-term debt   638.8   640.5 
Deferred income tax liabilities   9.9   14.4 
Post-retirement benefits other than pensions   106.8   114.0 
Other non-current liabilities, including pensions   216.0   224.6 
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries   5.7   6.8 
Discontinued operations   0.1   0.1 
  

 
  

 
 

Total liabilities   1,360.3   1,391.4 
  

 
  

 
 

Shareholders’ equity:         
Preferred stock, 40.0 shares authorized, no shares issued   –   – 
Common stock, $.01 par, 400.0 shares authorized, 122.2 shares issued at September 30, 2005 and December 31,

2004   1.2   1.2 
Other shareholders’ equity   397.4   379.2 

  
 
  

 
 

Total shareholders’ equity   398.6   380.4 
  

 
  

 
 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 1,758.9  $ 1,771.8 
  

 

  

 

 

See Accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PolyOne Corporation and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(In millions)
         
  Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,  
  2005   2004  
Operating Activities         

Net income  $ 25.2  $ 37.1 
Income from discontinued operations   5.3   7.7 

  
 
  

 
 

Income from continuing operations   19.9   29.4 
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided (used) by operating activities of

continuing operations:         
Employee separation and plant phaseout charges   2.5   (1.5)
Cash payments for employee separation and plant phaseout   (2.3)   (18.9)
Charges for environmental remediation at inactive sites   2.9   8.7 
Cash payments for environmental remediation at inactive sites   (11.3)   (1.0)
Depreciation and amortization   38.3   38.6 
Loss on sale of assets   –   5.9 
Companies carried at equity and minority interest:         

Income from equity affiliates and minority interest   (50.5)   (46.1)
Dividends and distributions received   46.8   33.8 

Deferred income taxes   1.0   1.4 
Change in assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable   (53.9)   (60.6)
FIFO inventories   (2.4)   (25.7)
Accounts payable   19.5   55.0 
Increase (decrease) in sale of accounts receivable   20.1   (70.7)
Accrued expenses and other   (18.2)   39.8 

  
 
  

 
 

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities of continuing operations   12.4   (11.9)
         
Investing Activities         

Capital expenditures   (23.4)   (13.0)
Return of cash from equity affiliates   –   0.9 
Proceeds from sale of discontinued business, net   –   101.5 
Business acquired, net of cash received   (2.7)   (5.1)
Proceeds from sale of assets   15.4   31.9 

  
 
  

 
 

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities of continuing operations   (10.7)   116.2 
         
Financing Activities         

Change in short-term debt   4.2   20.9 
Change in long-term debt   (20.0)   (83.4)
Termination of interest rate swaps   –   (0.3)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   0.4   0.1 

  
 
  

 
 

Net cash used by financing activities of continuing operations   (15.4)   (62.7)
         
Net cash provided by discontinued operations   23.1   24.8 
         
Effect of exchange rate on changes on cash   (0.7)   (0.4)
  

 
  

 
 

         
Increase in cash and cash equivalents   8.7   66.0 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   38.6   48.7 

  
 
  

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 47.3  $ 114.7 
  

 

  

 

 

See Accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PolyOne Corporation and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions, shares in thousands)
                                     
                                  Accumulated  
      Common                   Common       Other Non-  
      Shares           Additional   Retained   Stock Held   Share   Owner  
  Common   Held in       Common  Paid-In   Earnings   in   Ownership  Equity  
  Shares   Treasury   Total   Stock   Capital   (Deficit)   Treasury   Trust   Changes  
  

 

Balance January 1, 2004   122,192   30,425  $366.8  $ 1.2  $ 1,068.7  $ (232.4)  $ (339.8)  $ (1.3)  $ (129.6)
Comprehensive income:                                     

Net income           4.0           4.0           – 
Translation adjustment           0.2           –           0.2 

          
 
          

 
          

 
 

Total comprehensive income           4.2           4.0           0.2 
Stock-based compensation

and benefits       141   (0.9)       (0.1)       (0.8)         
  

 

Balance March 31, 2004   122,192   30,566  $370.1  $ 1.2  $ 1,068.6  $ (228.4)  $ (340.6)  $ (1.3)  $ (129.4)
                                     
Comprehensive income:                                     

Net income           21.5           21.5           – 
Translation adjustment           (12.5)           –           (12.5)

          
 
          

 
          

 
 

Total comprehensive income
(loss)           9.0           21.5           (12.5)

Stock-based compensation
and benefits       (4)   –       0.1           (0.1)     

  
 

Balance June 30, 2004   122,192   30,562  $379.1  $ 1.2  $ 1,068.7  $ (206.9)  $ (340.6)  $ (1.4)  $ (141.9)
                                     
Comprehensive income:                                     

Net income           11.6           11.6           – 
Translation adjustment           6.3           –           6.3 

          
 
          

 
          

 
 

Total comprehensive income           17.9           11.6           6.3 
Stock-based compensation

and benefits       (24)   0.1       (0.1)       0.2         
  

 

Balance September 30, 2004   122,192   30,538   397.1   1.2   1,068.6   (195.3)   (340.4)   (1.4)   (135.6)
  

 

                                     
Balance January 1, 2005   122,192   30,480  $380.4  $ 1.2  $ 1,069.8  $ (208.9)  $ (339.0)  $ –  $ (142.7)
Comprehensive income:                                     

Net income           13.4           13.4           – 
Translation adjustment           (5.3)           –           (5.3)

          
 
          

 
          

 
 

Total comprehensive income
(loss)           8.1           13.4           (5.3)

Stock-based compensation
and benefits       (98)   1.0       (0.2)       0.9       0.3 

  
 

Balance March 31, 2005   122,192   30,382  $389.5  $ 1.2  $ 1,069.6  $ (195.5)  $ (338.1)  $ –  $ (147.7)
                                     
Comprehensive income:                                     

Net income           31.3           31.3           – 
Translation adjustment           (6.0)           –           (6.0)

          
 
          

 
          

 
 

Total comprehensive income
(loss)           25.3           31.3           (6.0)

Stock-based compensation
and benefits       (36)   (0.9)       (0.2)       0.2       (0.9)

  
 

Balance June 30, 2005   122,192   30,346  $413.9  $ 1.2  $ 1,069.4  $ (164.2)  $ (337.9)  $ –  $ (154.6)
 
Comprehensive income:                                     

Net income (loss)           (19.5)           (19.5)           – 
Translation adjustment           3.8           –           3.8 

          
 
          

 
          

 
 

Total comprehensive income
(loss)           (15.7)           (19.5)           3.8 

Stock-based compensation
and benefits       (61)   0.4       (0.4)       0.8       – 

  
 

Balance September 30, 2005   122,192   30,285  $398.6  $ 1.2  $ 1,069.0  $ (183.7)  $ (337.1)  $ –  $ (150.8)
  

 

See Accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

Note A – Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Form 10-Q instructions and, in the opinion
of management, contain all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary to fairly present the financial position, results of operations and
cash flows for the periods presented. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results
could differ from these estimates. This report includes information condensed from the financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. These interim statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto
included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Operating results for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected in subsequent
quarters or for the year ending December 31, 2005.

Costs related to employee separation and plant phaseout, and environmental remediation at inactive sites in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations are presented separately. Employee separation and plant phaseout costs are discussed in Note H below. Environmental remediation at inactive sites
represents environmental remediation costs for manufacturing facilities that are no longer owned by PolyOne or that were closed in prior years.

PolyOne’s Specialty Resins and Engineered Films businesses qualified for accounting treatment as discontinued operations as of September 30, 2005. These
two businesses are expected to be sold in 2005 and, as a result, all historical financial information of these businesses (sales, costs and expenses, assets and
liabilities, and cash flows) is reported separately as “discontinued operations.” These businesses were previously included in PolyOne’s Performance Plastics
segment. The carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities of these businesses as of September 30, 2005 are reflected in “Discontinued
operations” in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The net carrying value of these businesses at September 30, 2005 was $50.7 million. Impairment
charges of $10.9 million and $3.9 million were recorded during the first quarter and third quarter of 2005, respectively, and are reflected in discontinued
operations to adjust the carrying value of the Engineered Films business to its net realizable value based upon current estimates. On September 27, 2005,
PolyOne announced that it had signed a letter of intent to sell its Engineered Films business unit. The sale is expected to close during the fourth quarter of
2005, subject to the completion of the required transaction financing, finalization of definitive agreements, completion of due diligence and other customary
closing conditions.

The Elastomers and Performance Additives business was sold in August 2004. Accordingly, all historical financial information of this business (sales, costs
and expenses, assets and liabilities, and cash flows) was reported separately as discontinued operations in 2004. Elastomers and Performance Additives was
previously reported as a separate segment.

Note B – Accounting Policies

Stock-Based Compensation – As provided under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation,” PolyOne has elected to account for stock-based compensation under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting
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for Stock Issued to Employees.” Compensation cost for stock options is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of PolyOne common stock
at the date of the grant over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. Compensation cost for stock appreciation rights (SARs) is recognized
upon vesting in the amount by which the quoted market value of the shares of PolyOne common stock covered by the grant exceeds the appreciation rights’
specified value. At September 30, 2005, approximately 1.5 million SARs were issued and outstanding, of which 0.6 million were vested and exercisable at
share prices ranging from $6.00 to $12.22. For the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005, a benefit of $0.3 million and $1.9 million,
respectively, was included in compensation expense in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations to reflect the impact of the decline in stock
prices during 2005.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and income per share if PolyOne had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to
stock-based employee compensation, using the fair value estimate as computed using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes option-
pricing model was developed to estimate the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option
valuation models use highly subjective assumptions, including expected share price volatility. Because PolyOne’s stock options have characteristics
significantly different from traded options, and because changes in the subjective assumptions used can materially affect the fair value estimate, in
management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a single reliable measure of the fair value of PolyOne stock options.
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
(In millions, except per share data)  2005  2004  2005  2004
Net income (loss), as reported  $(19.5)  $11.6  $25.2  $37.1 
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair

value-based method for all awards   0.4   0.6   1.0   1.9 
  

 

Pro forma net income (loss)  $(19.9)  $11.0  $24.2  $35.2 
  

 

                 
Net income (loss) per share:                 

Basic and diluted — as reported  $(0.21)  $0.13  $0.27  $0.40 
Basic and diluted — pro forma  $(0.22)  $0.12  $0.26  $0.38 

New Accounting Pronouncements – On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment,” a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” SFAS No. 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows.” The approach in SFAS No. 123(R) is generally similar
to the approach in SFAS No. 123. However, SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to
be recognized as an expense in the statement of operations based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure will no longer be an alternative.

SFAS No. 123(R) must be adopted no later than January 1, 2006. PolyOne expects to adopt SFAS No. 123(R) effective January 1, 2006 using the modified-
prospective method. The modified-prospective method requires recognition of compensation costs beginning with the effective date for all share-based
payments granted after the effective date and for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date that have not vested on the effective date.

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, PolyOne currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB Opinion No. 25’s intrinsic value method and,
as such, generally does not recognize compensation expense for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)’s fair
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value method will have an impact on PolyOne’s results of operations, although it will have no impact on PolyOne’s overall financial position. The impact of
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because it will depend upon levels of share-based payments granted in the future. However, had
PolyOne adopted SFAS No. 123(R) in prior periods, the impact of that standard would have approximated the impact of the fair value recognition provisions
of SFAS No. 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings per share shown previously in this Note B to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements. SFAS No. 123(R) also requires that the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation be reported as a
financing cash flow rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current accounting guidance. This requirement will reduce net operating cash
flows and increase net financing cash flows in the periods after adoption. However, because PolyOne is in a net operating loss carryforward position for
income taxes, there would be no impact on its cash flow statements for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005 and 2004.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs.” SFAS No. 151 amends Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory
Pricing,” to clarify accounting for unusually high amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted material. SFAS No. 151 requires these
items to be recognized as current-period charges and requires that allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of conversion be based on the normal
capacity of the production facilities. The adoption of SFAS No. 151 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. PolyOne has not yet
determined the impact of SFAS No. 151’s adoption on its consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Reclassification – Certain amounts for 2004 have been reclassified to conform to the 2005 presentation.

Note C – Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 by segment are as follows:
             
  Performance       
(In millions)  Plastics   Distribution  Total  
December 31, 2004  $ 319.4  $ 1.6  $ 321.0 
Acquisition of Star Color   1.0   –   1.0 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

September 30, 2005  $ 320.4  $ 1.6  $ 322.0 
  

 

  

 

  

 

 

PolyOne acquired the remaining 16% of Star Color, a Thailand-based color and additives business in the first quarter of 2005.

As of September 30, 2005, PolyOne had $322.0 million of goodwill that resulted from acquiring businesses. SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” requires an annual assessment for potential impairment of goodwill. PolyOne has elected July 1 as its annual assessment date.

During the third quarter of 2005, the required “phase one” goodwill impairment assessment was completed and it was determined that goodwill was not
impaired as of July 1, 2005. The combination of two valuation methodologies, a market approach and an income approach, were used to estimate the fair
value of PolyOne’s reporting units. The market approach estimates fair value by applying sales, earnings and cash flow multiples (derived from comparable
publicly-traded companies with similar investment characteristics of the reporting unit) to the reporting unit’s operating performance adjusted for non-
recurring items. The income approach is based on projected future debt-free cash flow that is discounted to present value using discount factors that consider
the timing and risk associated with the projected debt-free cash flow.
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Under SFAS No. 142, a detailed determination of a reporting unit’s fair value may be carried forward from one year to the next if certain criteria are met.
These criteria are: 1) the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit have not changed significantly since the last fair value determination, 2) the most recent fair
value determination resulted in an amount that exceeded the carrying value of the reporting unit by a substantial amount, and 3) based on events and
circumstances, the likelihood of a determination of fair value being less than the carrying value is remote. These three criteria were met for the Plastic
Compounds and Colors reporting unit and annual testing was deemed not necessary as of July 1, 2005.

As a result, only the Polymer Coating Systems reporting unit required testing under the provisions of SFAS No. 142 as of July 1, 2005. The average fair
values of the market approach and income approach exceeded the carrying value by 27% for the Polymer Coating Systems reporting unit. Using the lowest
fair value determined by these two methodologies would have resulted in a fair value that exceeded the carrying value by 22%.

While PolyOne determined that there was no additional goodwill impairment as of the July 1, 2005 annual assessment, the future occurrence of a potential
indicator of impairment, such as a significant adverse change in legal factors or business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator,
unanticipated competition, loss of key personnel or a more-likely-than-not expectation that a reporting unit or a significant portion of a reporting unit will be
sold or disposed of, would result in having to perform an interim assessment for some or all of the reporting units prior to the next required annual assessment
on July 1, 2006.

Information regarding PolyOne’s other intangible assets is as follows:
                 
  As of December 31, 2004:  
  Acquisition  Accumulated  Currency     
(In millions)  Cost   Amortization  Translation  Net  
Non-contractual customer relationships  $ 8.6  $ (4.4)  $ –  $ 4.2 
Sales contract   9.6   (7.7)   –   1.9 
Patents, technology and other   6.3   (1.1)   1.0   6.2 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total  $ 24.5  $ (13.2)  $ 1.0  $ 12.3 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
  As of September 30, 2005:  
  Acquisition  Accumulated  Currency     
(In millions)  Cost   Amortization  Translation  Net  
Non-contractual customer relationships  $ 9.6  $ (5.3)  $ –  $ 4.3 
Sales contract   9.6   (8.2)   –   1.4 
Patents, technology and other   7.3   (1.8)   0.9   6.4 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total  $ 26.5  $ (15.3)  $ 0.9  $ 12.1 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

Amortization of other intangible assets was $0.8 million for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 and $2.1 million and $2.8 million
for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The carrying values of intangible assets and other investments are adjusted to the present value of estimated net future cash flows based upon an evaluation
done each year-end, or more often when an indicator of impairment exists. For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2005, there were no indicators of
impairment for the intangible assets as recorded.
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Note D – Inventories

Components of inventories are as follows:
         
  September 30,  December 31, 
(In millions)  2005   2004  
Finished products and in-process inventories  $ 148.8  $ 140.6 
Raw materials and supplies   83.9   91.4 
  

 
  

 
 

   232.7   232.0 
LIFO reserve   (38.3)   (36.0)
  

 
  

 
 

Total inventories  $ 194.4  $ 196.0 
  

 

  

 

 

Note E – Income Taxes

For the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, a domestic tax provision was not applied against income before taxes as a
result of the deferred tax valuation allowance recorded in prior periods in accordance with SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” due to uncertainty
regarding full utilization of PolyOne’s deferred income taxes. PolyOne intends to maintain this valuation allowance until certain events occur, such as
generation of future sustainable taxable income, which would support reversal of all or a portion of the allowance. Tax expense of $1.5 million and
$6.4 million recorded in the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005, respectively, primarily represents foreign taxes.

Note F – Investment in Equity Affiliates

PolyOne owns 24% of Oxy Vinyls LP (OxyVinyls), a leading manufacturer and marketer of PVC resins in North America. Included in OxyVinyls’ third
quarter and year-to-date 2005 results was a charge related to the impairment of a previously idled chlor-alkali facility, of which PolyOne's share was $22.9
million. The following table presents OxyVinyls’ summarized financial results.
                 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
(In millions)  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Net sales  $ 629.1  $ 590.6  $ 1,866.0  $ 1,675.3 
Operating income   33.1   84.5   214.8   201.1 
Partnership income (loss) as reported by OxyVinyls   (74.9)   67.0   69.7   152.7 
PolyOne’s ownership of OxyVinyls   24%  24%  24%  24%
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

PolyOne’s proportionate share of OxyVinyls’ earnings (loss)   (18.0)   16.1   16.7   36.7 
Amortization of the difference between PolyOne’s investment and its

underlying share of OxyVinyls’ equity   0.1   0.1   0.4   0.4 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Earnings (loss) of equity affiliate recorded by PolyOne  $ (17.9)  $ 16.2  $ 17.1  $ 37.1 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

         
  September 30,  December 31, 
(In millions)  2005   2004  
Current assets  $ 405.7  $ 391.5 
Non-current assets   1,254.9   1,396.9 
  

 
  

 
 

Total assets   1,660.6   1,788.4 
  

 
  

 
 

 
Current liabilities   217.2   244.3 
Non-current liabilities   427.2   511.4 
  

 
  

 
 

Total liabilities   644.4   755.7 
  

 
  

 
 

Partnership capital  $ 1,016.2  $ 1,032.7 
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PolyOne’s Resin and Intermediates segment also includes the SunBelt Chlor-Alkali Partnership (SunBelt), which is 50% owned by PolyOne. The following
table presents SunBelt’s summarized financial results:
                 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
(In millions)  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Net sales  $ 39.3  $ 26.8  $ 120.8  $ 69.7 
Operating income   21.0   9.6   65.4   21.1 
Partnership income as reported by SunBelt   18.0   6.4   56.9   11.8 
PolyOne’s ownership of SunBelt   50%  50%  50%  50%
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Earnings of equity affiliate recorded by PolyOne  $ 9.0  $ 3.2  $ 28.5  $ 5.9 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

         
  September 30,  December 31, 
(In millions)  2005   2004  
Current assets  $ 40.1  $ 18.9 
Non-current assets   123.1   125.5 
  

 
  

 
 

Total assets   163.2   144.4 
  

 
  

 
 

         
Current liabilities   20.1   18.0 
Non-current liabilities   146.2   146.3 
  

 
  

 
 

Total liabilities   166.3   164.3 
  

 
  

 
 

Partnership capital (deficit)  $ (3.1)  $ (19.9)
  

 

  

 

 

The Performance Plastics segment includes DH Compounding Company (owned 50%), BayOne Urethane Systems, L.L.C. (owned 50%) and Geon/Polimeros
Andinos (owned 50%) equity affiliates. Combined summarized financial information for these equity affiliates is presented below.
                 
  Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
  September 30,  September 30,
(In millions)  2005  2004  2005  2004
Net sales  $ 30.6  $ 28.8  $ 94.6  $ 86.3 
Operating income  $ 3.5  $ 2.7  $ 11.0  $ 9.2 
Net income  $ 3.3  $ 2.5  $ 10.2  $ 8.4 

Note G – Earnings Per Share Computation

Weighted average shares outstanding are computed as follows:
                 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
(In millions)  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Weighted average shares – basic:                 

Weighted average shares outstanding   91.9   91.5   91.8   91.5 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Weighted average shares – diluted:                 

Weighted average shares outstanding – basic   91.9   91.5   91.8   91.5 
Plus unearned portion of restricted stock awards included in outstanding shares

plus dilutive impact of stock options and stock awards   –   0.3   0.3   0.2 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

   91.9   91.8   92.1   91.7 
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Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed as net income (loss) available to common shareholders divided by weighted average basic shares
outstanding. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is computed as net income (loss) available to common shareholders divided by weighted average
diluted shares outstanding.

For the third quarter 2005, PolyOne excluded all outstanding options from the calculation of diluted loss per share because they would have had an anti-
dilutive effect due to the net loss. For all periods presented, outstanding stock options with exercise prices greater than the average price of the common
shares have not been included in the computation of dilutive earnings per share.

Note H – Employee Separation and Plant Phaseout

Since PolyOne was formed in 2000, management has undertaken several restructuring initiatives to improve profitability and, as a result, PolyOne has
incurred various employee separation and plant phaseout costs. For more information about these initiatives, please refer to Note F to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in PolyOne’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.

2005 Charges – Operating income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005 includes charges of $1.9 million and $2.5 million,
respectively, related to employee separation and plant phaseout costs as a result of adjusting remaining reserves associated with restructuring initiatives
announced in prior years to reflect current expectations.

All employees who were affected by restructuring initiatives that were announced in prior years were terminated as of December 31, 2004. The remaining
employee separation costs accrued at September 30, 2005 totaling $0.3 million are expected to be paid in the fourth quarter of 2005. The remaining plant
phaseout cash closing costs accrued at September 30, 2005 totaling $0.5 million are expected to be paid out through the first quarter of 2007. For information
about 2004 activity, please refer to Note F to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in PolyOne’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

PolyOne will retain the liabilities for employee separation and plant phaseout costs for the businesses reported as discontinued operations upon the sale of
these businesses and, as a result, they are included in this discussion.

The following tables summarize the provisions, payments and remaining reserves associated with these initiatives remaining to be completed from
December 31, 2004 through September 30, 2005:
                 
  Plant Phaseout Costs  
  Employee   Cash   Asset Write-    
(In millions)  Separation Costs  Closure   Downs   Total  
Closure and exit of Engineered Films manufacturing plants                 
Balance at December 31, 2004  $ 1.0  $ 0.8  $ –  $ 1.8 

Discontinued operations benefit   (0.2)   –   –   (0.2)
Utilized   (0.8)   (0.8)   –   (1.6)

  
 

Balance at September 30, 2005  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ – 
  

 

                 
  Plant Phaseout Costs  
  Employee   Cash   Asset Write-    
(In millions)  Separation Costs  Closure   Downs   Total  
Mexico & North America administrative staff reductions                 
Balance at December 31, 2004  $ 0.8  $ 0.7  $ –  $ 1.5 

Continuing operations charge   –   –   2.5   2.5 
Utilized   (0.5)   (0.2)   (2.5)   (3.2)

  
 

Balance at September 30, 2005  $ 0.3  $ 0.5  $ –  $ 0.8 
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  Plant Phaseout Costs  
  Employee   Cash   Asset Write-    
(In millions)  Separation Costs  Closure   Downs   Total  
Total                 
Balance at December 31, 2004  $ 1.8  $ 1.5  $ –  $ 3.3 

Continuing operations charge   –   –   2.5   2.5 
Discontinued operations benefit   (0.2)   –   –   (0.2)
Utilized   (1.3)   (1.0)   (2.5)   (4.8)

  
 

Balance at September 30, 2005  $ 0.3  $ 0.5  $ –  $ 0.8 
  

 

Note I – Employee Benefit Plans

Components of defined benefit pension plan costs are as follows:
                 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
(In millions)  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Service cost  $ 0.7  $ –  $ 1.1  $ 0.6 
Interest cost   7.8   6.5   22.0   21.5 
Expected return on plan assets   (8.1)   (5.2)   (23.6)   (19.0)
Amortization of unrecognized losses, transition obligation and prior service cost   3.7   0.2   10.5   8.0 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 4.1  $ 1.5  $ 10.0  $ 11.1 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

No minimum pension funding payment is expected to be required in 2005 as a result of the $65.0 million voluntary payment made in 2004.

Components of post-retirement health care plan benefit costs are as follows:
                 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
(In millions)  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Service cost  $ –  $ –  $ 0.3  $ 0.4 
Interest cost   1.1   0.9   4.2   6.1 
Expected return on plan assets   –   –   –   – 
Amortization of unrecognized losses, transition obligation and prior service cost   (1.2)   (1.2)   (2.5)   (0.6)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ (0.1)  $ (0.3)  $ 2.0  $ 5.9 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

Note J – Financing Arrangements

PolyOne is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates on debt obligations and from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Information related
to these risks and management of exposure is included in Item 7A “Qualitative and Quantitative Information about Market Risk” in PolyOne’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. PolyOne periodically enters into interest rate swap agreements that convert fixed-rate obligations to
floating rates. PolyOne maintained interest rate swap agreements on seven of its fixed-rate obligations in the aggregate amount of $120.0 million at January 1,
2004. These exchange agreements are “perfectly effective” as defined by SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” During September 2004, PolyOne terminated one of the seven interest rate swap agreements at a cash cost of $0.3 million. At September 30,
2005, the six remaining agreements totaling $100.0 million had a net fair value obligation of negative $5.5 million. The weighted-average interest rate for
these six agreements was 7.6%. There

13



Table of Contents

have been no material changes in the market risk faced by PolyOne from December 31, 2004 to September 30, 2005.

Note K – Sale of Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of the following:
         
  September 30,  December 31, 
(In millions)  2005   2004  
Trade accounts receivable  $ 167.8  $ 158.5 
Retained interest in securitized accounts receivable   176.6   158.7 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (7.5)   (7.5)
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 336.9  $ 309.7 
  

 

  

 

 

Under the terms of its receivables sale facility, PolyOne sells its accounts receivable to PolyOne Funding Corporation (PFC), a wholly owned, bankruptcy-
remote subsidiary. At September 30, 2005, accounts receivable totaling $196.6 million were sold by PolyOne to PFC and, as a result, are reflected as a
reduction of accounts receivable on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. PFC in turn sells an undivided interest in these accounts receivable to
certain investors and may realize proceeds of up to $175 million. The maximum amount of proceeds that PFC may receive under the facility is limited to 85%
of the then-current amount of the accounts receivable sold to PFC. At September 30, 2005, PFC had sold $20.0 million of its undivided interests in accounts
receivable. PolyOne retains an interest in the $176.6 million difference between the amount of trade receivables sold by PolyOne to PFC and the undivided
interests sold by PFC. As a result, this interest retained by PolyOne is included in accounts receivable on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet at
September 30, 2005.

The receivables sale facility also makes up to $40 million available for the issuance of standby letters of credit as a sub-limit within the $175 million facility.
Continued availability of the securitization program depends upon compliance with covenants related primarily to operating performance as set forth in the
related agreements. As of September 30, 2005, PolyOne was in compliance with all such covenants.

On July 26, 2005, PolyOne amended its receivables sale facility to extend the expiration date to July 2010, reduce the cost of utilizing the facility and modify
a financial covenant. The receivables sale facility, as amended, requires PolyOne to maintain a minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, as defined in the
amendment agreement, of at least 1 to 1 when unused drawing availability under the facility is $40 million or less.

Note L – Segment Information

PolyOne operates in three segments: Performance Plastics, Distribution, and Resin and Intermediates. The Elastomers and Performance Additives business
that was sold in August 2004 was previously reported as a separate segment and the Specialty Resins and Engineered Films businesses, now included in
discontinued operations, were previously included in the Performance Plastics segment. The accounting policies of each segment are consistent with those
described in the “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” included in Note C to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in PolyOne’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. Segment assets consist primarily of customer receivables, inventories, net property and
goodwill. Intersegment sales are accounted for at prices that generally approximate those for similar transactions with unaffiliated customers. The Other
segment includes intersegment sales eliminations, certain unallocated corporate expenses, including corporate expenses previously allocated to discontinued
operations, cash, sales of accounts receivable,
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retained assets and liabilities of discontinued operations, and certain other unallocated corporate assets and liabilities.

Performance Plastics – PolyOne’s Performance Plastics segment manufactures polymer-related products in the following product groups:

 •  Vinyl Compounds
 

 •  Colors and Additives
 

 •  Engineered Materials
 

 •  Polymer Coating Systems (formerly referred to as Formulators)

Distribution – The Company’s Distribution segment is a distributor to the North American market of approximately 3,500 grades of engineering materials
and commodity grade resins, plastic compounds and color masterbatches, including vinyl compounds and engineered materials produced by the Performance
Plastics segment.

Resin and Intermediates – The Resin and Intermediates segment consists of two joint ventures that are accounted for and reported on the equity basis as well
as certain retained corporate costs associated with heritage PVC resin operations. OxyVinyls is a 24% owned producer of PVC resin, vinyl chloride monomer
(VCM), chlorine and caustic soda. SunBelt is a 50% owned producer of chlorine and caustic soda. OxyVinyls is PolyOne’s principal supplier of PVC resin.
Included in OxyVinyls’ third quarter and year-to-date 2005 results was a $22.9 million charge related to the impairment of a previously-idled chlor-alkali
facility.
                     
      Performance      Resin and     
Nine months ended September 30, 2005 (in millions)  Total   Plastics   Distribution  Intermediates  Other  
Sales to external customers  $ 1,739.1  $ 1,237.7  $ 501.4  $ –  $ – 
Intersegment eliminations   –   110.0   5.1   –   (115.1)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 1,739.1  $ 1,347.7  $ 506.5  $ –  $ (115.1)
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 
Operating income (loss)  $ 79.8  $ 36.7  $ 13.5  $ 38.8  $ (9.2)
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 
Expenses included in operating income (loss):                     

Employee separation and plant phaseout costs  $ 2.5  $ 1.2  $ –  $ –  $ 1.3 
Environmental remediation costs at inactive sites   2.9   –   –   2.9   – 

 
Depreciation and amortization  $ 38.3  $ 35.1  $ 1.0  $ 0.2  $ 2.0 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 
Total assets  $ 1,758.9  $ 931.7  $ 175.0  $ 110.1  $ 542.1 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 
Capital expenditures  $ 23.4  $ 18.4  $ 0.4  $ –  $ 4.6 
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      Performance      Resin and     
Nine months ended September 30, 2004 (in millions)  Total   Plastics   Distribution  Intermediates  Other  
Sales to external customers  $ 1,645.6  $ 1,195.7  $ 449.9  $ –  $ – 
Intersegment eliminations   –   99.1   4.4   –   (103.5)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 1,645.6  $ 1,294.8  $ 454.3  $ –  $ (103.5)
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Operating income (loss)  $ 103.4  $ 74.2  $ 14.0  $ 33.8  $ (18.6)
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Expenses (benefits) included in operating income (loss):                     

Employee separation and plant phaseout costs  $ (1.5)  $ (1.4)  $ –  $ –  $ (0.1)
Environmental remediation costs at inactive sites   8.7   –   –   4.5   4.2 
Loss on sale of assets   5.9   5.9   –   –   – 

                     
Depreciation and amortization  $ 38.6  $ 35.9  $ 1.0  $ 0.2  $ 1.5 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Total assets  $ 1,902.9  $ 969.1  $ 167.3  $ 111.2  $ 655.3 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Capital expenditures  $ 13.0  $ 12.6  $ –  $ –  $ 0.4 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
      Performance      Resin and     
Three months ended September 30, 2005 (in millions)  Total   Plastics   Distribution  Intermediates  Other  
Sales to external customers  $ 579.0  $ 411.4  $ 167.6  $ –  $ – 
Intersegment eliminations   –   38.5   1.2   –   (39.7)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 579.0  $ 449.9  $ 168.8  $ –  $ (39.7)
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Operating income (loss)  $ (1.4)  $ 9.8  $ 4.2  $ (12.6)  $ (2.8)
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Expenses included in operating income (loss):                     

Employee separation and plant phaseout costs  $ 1.9  $ 1.2  $ –  $ –  $ 0.7 
Environmental remediation costs at inactive sites   2.9   –   –   2.9   – 

                     
Depreciation and amortization  $ 13.4  $ 11.9  $ 0.3  $ 0.1  $ 1.1 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Capital expenditures  $ 5.9  $ 5.2  $ 0.2  $ –  $ 0.5 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
      Performance      Resin and     
Three months ended September 30, 2004 (in millions)  Total   Plastics   Distribution  Intermediates  Other  
Sales to external customers  $ 552.2  $ 399.0  $ 153.2  $ –  $ – 
Intersegment eliminations   –   27.9   1.5   –   (29.4)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 552.2  $ 426.9  $ 154.7  $    $ (29.4)
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Operating income (loss)  $ 37.8  $ 28.5  $ 4.5  $ 14.9  $ (10.1)
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Expenses (benefits) included in operating income (loss):                     

Employee separation and plant phaseout costs  $ (0.3)  $ (0.3)  $ –  $ –  $ – 
Environmental remediation costs at inactive sites   7.4   –   –   3.2   4.2 
Loss on sale of assets   0.2   0.2   –   –   – 

                     
Depreciation and amortization  $ 11.5  $ 10.6  $ 0.3  $ 0.1  $ 0.5 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Capital expenditures  $ 3.7  $ 3.5  $ –  $ –  $ 0.2 
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A breakdown of the Performance Plastics segment’s sales for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005 and changes versus the
same periods in 2004, by product group, is as follows:
                 
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,
  2005  2005  2005  2005
  Sales $  Sales $  Sales $  Sales $
  % of  % Change  % of  % Change
  Total  vs. 2004  Total  vs. 2004
  

 
 

 

Vinyl Compounds   44%   10%   42%   5%
North American Colors and Additives   14%   7%   14%   10%
North American Engineered Materials   6%   (10)%   7%   (2)%
International Colors and Engineered Materials   26%   3%   27%   2%
Polymer Coating Systems   10%   1%   10%   3%
  

 
 

 

Total Performance Plastics   100%   6%   100%   4%
  

 

 

 

Note M – Commitments and Contingencies

Environmental – PolyOne has been notified by federal and state environmental agencies and by private parties that it may be a potentially responsible party
(PRP) in connection with several environmental sites. While government agencies frequently claim PRPs are jointly and severally liable at these sites, in
PolyOne’s experience interim and final allocations of liability costs are generally made based on the relative contribution of waste. PolyOne believes that its
potential continuing liability with respect to such sites will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or
cash flows. In addition, PolyOne initiates corrective and preventive environmental projects of its own to ensure safe and lawful activities at its operations.
PolyOne believes that compliance with current governmental regulations at all levels will not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition. Based
on estimates prepared by its environmental engineers and consultants, PolyOne had accruals totaling $56.3 million at September 30, 2005 to cover probable
future environmental expenditures relating to previously contaminated sites. This accrual includes a charge of $2.9 million for environmental remediation at
inactive sites that was accrued in the third quarter of 2005. The accrual balance represents PolyOne’s best estimate, net of estimated insurance recoveries, for
the remaining probable remediation costs, based upon information and technology currently available and PolyOne’s view of the most likely remedy.
Depending upon the results of future testing, the ultimate remediation alternatives undertaken, changes in regulations, new information, newly discovered
conditions and other factors, it is reasonably possible that PolyOne could incur additional costs in excess of the amount accrued at September 30, 2005.
However, such additional costs, if any, cannot be currently estimated. PolyOne’s estimate of the liability may be revised as new regulations or technologies
are developed or additional information is obtained. Additional information related to environmental liabilities is included in Note O to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in PolyOne’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Guarantees – PolyOne guarantees $79.2 million of SunBelt’s outstanding senior secured notes in connection with the construction of a chlor-alkali facility in
Macintosh, Alabama. This debt and the related guarantee mature in 2017.

Note N – Subsequent Events

On October 7, PolyOne announced that Thomas A. Waltermire resigned as president and chief executive officer and as a director. William F. Patient, who had
been non-executive chairman of the board, will serve as chairman, president and chief executive officer until a successor is named. The Company also
announced that the search for a successor would begin immediately, with completion anticipated by early 2006.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

PolyOne is an international polymer services company with continuing operations in thermoplastic compounds, polymer coating systems, color and additives
systems, and thermoplastic resin distribution. Headquartered in Avon Lake, Ohio, we have employees at manufacturing sites in North America, Europe and
Asia, and joint ventures in North America and South America. We provide value to our customers through our ability to link polymer technology and
formulations with our manufacturing and supply chain processes.

Discontinued Operations – As of September 30, 2005, our Specialty Resins and Engineered Films businesses qualified for accounting treatment as
discontinued operations. We expect to sell these business operations in 2005. As a result, all historical financial information of these businesses (sales, costs
and expenses, assets and liabilities, and cash flows) has been reported separately as discontinued operations. Our Elastomers and Performance Additives
business was sold in August 2004 and was previously reported as a separate segment. Specialty Resins and Engineered Films were previously included in our
Performance Plastics segment. The following table summarizes the results for the businesses reported as discontinued operations:
                 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
(In millions)  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Sales:                 

Elastomers and Performance Additives  $ –  $ 30.3  $ –  $ 220.2 
Specialty Resins and Engineered Films   63.4   55.1   196.5   175.7 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total sales  $ 63.4  $ 85.4  $ 196.5  $ 395.9 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Pre-tax income (loss) from operations:                 

Elastomers and Performance Additives  $ –  $ (2.6)  $ –  $ 11.6 
Specialty Resins and Engineered Films   6.1   7.9   20.8   12.4 

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

   6.1   5.3   20.8   24.0 
                 
Pre-tax loss on disposal of business:                 

Elastomers and Performance Additives   –   –   (0.7)   (9.9)
Specialty Resins and Engineered Films   (3.9)   (5.4)   (14.8)   (5.4)

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

   (3.9)   (5.4)   (15.5)   (15.3)
                 
Income tax benefit (expense) (net of valuation allowance)   0.1   (0.1)   –   (1.0)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations  $ 2.3  $ (0.2)  $ 5.3  $ 7.7 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

Outlook – Fourth quarter shipment volumes are typically seasonally lower than the third quarter, due to reduced construction-related demand and customer
shutdowns during the year-end holiday period. It appears likely that the two recent hurricanes will further dampen this demand trend. Raw material shortages
and supply allocations have affected September and October demand. Nevertheless, it is important to note that since about 25% of our sales are related to
domestic building and construction applications, the need for construction materials to rebuild hurricane-affected regions should add to normal demand. It is
anticipated that most of this additional demand will be realized in 2006.

We are operating in an environment marked by rapidly escalating energy and energy-related raw material costs. Every PolyOne supplier that either
experienced hurricane-related production disruptions or derives
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its products from natural gas or other energy-based source for hydrocarbons has or is currently attempting to raise prices, including our suppliers of PVC
resin. In order to restore our product spreads (selling price less raw material costs) in reaction to this cost inflation, we are in the process of raising prices
within our Performance Plastics and Distribution segments. Each of our North American businesses have announced price increases as we strive to restore
spreads to acceptable levels as we enter 2006. Due to cost increases experienced within the Performance Plastics segment at the beginning of the quarter,
however, we anticipate fourth quarter average product spreads to decline sequentially compared to the third quarter.

The Distribution segment is expected to maintain the majority of its product spreads through aggressive price increases, as it has throughout the year.
Nevertheless, we anticipate a slight decline in operating income due to lower demand.

In the Resin and Intermediates segment, OxyVinyls is attempting to raise PVC resin prices in the face of escalating ethylene and natural gas costs. Most
OxyVinyls operations experienced about a week of Hurricane Rita related production disruptions. Because of plant evacuations in advance of Hurricane Rita
and because of supply disruptions due to ethylene and / or natural gas supply limitations, OxyVinyls put PVC resin customers, including PolyOne, on a
supply allocation in early October. While substantially improved, OxyVinyls is not yet operating at full capacity. PVC resin prices are forecasted to increase
significantly in October with a further increase announced to be effective November 1. These increases are necessary for OxyVinyls to restore PVC resin
product spreads and profitability in the fourth quarter.

SunBelt should benefit in the fourth quarter from stable chlorine prices and from announced caustic soda market price increases. SunBelt did not operate at
full capacity rates during early October so it could match production disruptions experienced by its customer base, including OxyVinyls. When combined, the
factors affecting OxyVinyls and SunBelt performance are expected to result in Resin and Intermediates fourth quarter segment earnings approximately in line
with the third quarter.

PolyOne anticipates positive cash flow from operations in the fourth quarter. Cash receipts from equity affiliates are anticipated to be lower, consistent with
lower earnings expectations. Capital expenditures, depreciation and cash taxes paid should approximate third-quarter 2005 levels. Cash interest paid,
consistent with scheduled payments, will be substantially greater than paid in the third quarter of 2005. Debt reduction is planned to remain the primary use
for positive operating cash flows and any proceeds from divestments.
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Results of Operations

Consolidated Results
                 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
(In millions)  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Sales:                 
Performance Plastics segment  $ 449.9  $ 426.9  $ 1,347.7  $ 1,294.8 
Distribution segment   168.8   154.7   506.5   454.3 
Intersegment eliminations   (39.7)   (29.4)   (115.1)   (103.5)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Total sales  $ 579.0  $ 552.2  $ 1,739.1  $ 1,645.6 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Net income (loss):                 
Performance Plastics segment  $ 9.8  $ 28.5  $ 36.7  $ 74.2 
Distribution segment   4.2   4.5   13.5   14.0 
Resin and Intermediates segment   (12.6)   14.9   38.8   33.8 
Other segment   (2.8)   (10.1)   (9.2)   (18.6)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Operating income (loss)   (1.4)   37.8   79.8   103.4 
Interest expense   (17.0)   (18.1)   (51.2)   (54.8)
Interest income   0.5   0.4   1.4   1.0 
Other expense, net   (2.4)   (6.1)   (3.7)   (12.7)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Income (loss) before income taxes and discontinued operations   (20.3)   14.0   26.3   36.9 
Income tax expense   (1.5)   (2.2)   (6.4)   (7.5)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Income (loss) from continuing operations   (21.8)   11.8   19.9   29.4 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes   2.3   (0.2)   5.3   7.7 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

Net income (loss)  $ (19.5)  $ 11.6  $ 25.2  $ 37.1 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

Period to period changes in sales and operating income (loss) are discussed within the “Business Segment Information” section that follows.

Interest expense – Interest expense was lower in the third quarter and year to date 2005 than the same periods in 2004 primarily due to a lower level of
borrowings. Long-term debt was reduced from $717.4 million at September 30, 2004 to $668.4 million at September 30, 2005.

Other expense, net – Other expense, net, includes finance costs associated with the receivables sale facility, foreign currency gains and losses, and other
miscellaneous expenses. The following table summarizes the major components of Other expense, net for 2005 and 2004.
                 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
(In millions)  2005   2004   2005   2004  
Currency exchange gain (loss), net of foreign exchange contracts  $ (1.1)  $ (1.1)  $ 1.5  $ (2.7)
Discount on sale of trade receivables   (1.3)   (1.1)   (4.8)   (4.6)
Retained post-employment benefit cost related to previously discontinued

business operations   (0.3)   (0.5)   (0.9)   (2.2)
Other income (expense), net   0.3   (3.4)   0.5   (3.2)
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ (2.4)  $ (6.1)  $ (3.7)  $ (12.7)
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Income taxes – A tax provision was not applied to income before taxes for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 for
domestic taxes as a result of the deferred tax valuation allowance recorded in previous periods in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes,” due to uncertainty regarding full utilization of the deferred income tax assets. Tax expense recorded for the three-month and nine-month periods
ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 primarily represents foreign income taxes.

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes – Included in income (loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 were
impairment charges of $10.9 million in the first quarter and $3.9 million in the third quarter to adjust the carrying value of the Engineered Films business to
its net realizable value.

Segment Information

2005 Compared with 2004:
                                 
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,
(In millions)  2005  2004  $ Change  % Change  2005  2004  $ Change  % Change
  

 
 

 

Sales:                                 
Performance Plastics segment  $449.9  $426.9  $ 23.0   5%  $1,347.7  $1,294.8  $ 52.9   4%
Distribution segment   168.8   154.7   14.1   9%   506.5   454.3   52.2   11%
Intersegment eliminations   (39.7)   (29.4)   (10.3)   35%   (115.1)   (103.5)   (11.6)   11%

  
 

     
 

    

  $579.0  $552.2  $ 26.8   5%  $1,739.1  $1,645.6  $ 93.5   6%
  

 

     

 

    

Operating income (loss):                                 
Performance Plastics segment  $ 9.8  $ 28.5  $(18.7)   (66)%  $ 36.7  $ 74.2  $(37.5)   (51)%
Distribution segment   4.2   4.5   (0.3)   (7)%   13.5   14.0   (0.5)   (4)%
Resin and Intermediates segment   (12.6)   14.9   (27.5)   (185)%   38.8   33.8   5.0   15%
Other segment   (2.8)   (10.1)   7.3   72%   (9.2)   (18.6)   9.4   (51)%

  
 

     
 

    

  $ (1.4)  $ 37.8  $(39.2)   (104)%  $ 79.8  $ 103.4  $(23.6)   (23)%
  

 

     

 

    

Performance Plastics’ sales were up 5% in the third quarter of 2005 and 4% for the year to date 2005 compared with the same periods last year. A breakdown
of third quarter and year-to-date 2005 Performance Plastics segment sales and changes in sales and shipment volumes by product group is as follows:
                         
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,
  2005  2005  2005  2005  2005  2005
  Sales $  Sales $  Shipment Lbs. Sales $  Sales $  Shipment Lbs.
  % of  % Change  % Change  % of  % Change  % Change
  Total  vs. 2004  vs. 2004  Total  vs. 2004  vs. 2004
  

 
 

 

Vinyl Compounds   44%   10%   0%   42%   5%   (6)%
North American Colors and Additives   14%   7%   (1)%   14%   10%   3%
North American Engineered Materials   6%   (10)%   (7)%   7%   (2)%   (10)%
International Colors and Engineered Materials   26%   3%   (5)%   27%   2%   (15)%
Polymer Coating Systems   10%   1%   (8)%   10%   3%   (5)%
  

 
     

 
    

Total Performance Plastics   100%   6%   (2)%   100%   4%   (7)%
  

 

     

 

    

Vinyl Compounds’ volume was flat in the third quarter of 2005 and declined 6% for the year to date 2005 compared with the same periods in 2004. Shipment
volume for virtually all markets was down from the prior year due to softer overall market conditions, as well as from customers with in-house compounding
capability that chose to more fully utilize their internal capacity. These declines were mostly offset by
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new business obtained in custom extrusion and wire & cable applications during the third quarter of 2005. Higher average selling prices, from efforts to
recapture increases in the cost of resin and non-resin raw materials, resulted in sales increases of 10% in the third quarter of 2005 and 5% for the year to date
2005 compared with the same periods in 2004.

North American Colors and Additives’ volume declined by 1% in the third quarter of 2005 and improved by 3% for the year to date 2005 compared with the
same periods in 2004. New business obtained in profile extrusion applications for construction materials and for contract tolling (compounding using
customer-supplied materials) was largely offset by reduced demand in the packaging, automotive and wire & cable markets. Higher average selling prices
from efforts to recapture raw material cost increases, combined with new business captured in 2005, drove sales increases of 7% in the third quarter of 2005
and 10% for the year to date 2005 compared with the same periods in 2004.

North American Engineered Materials’ volume fell 7% in the third quarter of 2005 and 10% for the year to date 2005 compared with the same periods in
2004. The decline was primarily from lower demand in the first half of 2005 for certain general-purpose automotive applications and general slowing in
automotive production levels that began early in the third quarter of 2005. Higher average selling prices from efforts to recapture raw material cost increases
helped to hold the 2005 year-to-date sales decline to 2% compared with the same period in 2004. In the third quarter of 2005, however, the impact of higher
average selling prices from recapturing raw material cost increases was offset by a shift in mix to a greater proportion of lower-priced products, resulting in a
sales decline of 10% compared with the same period in 2004.

International Colors and Engineered Materials’ volume declined 5% in the third quarter of 2005 and 15% for the year-to-date 2005 compared with the same
periods in 2004. The May 31, 2004 sale of the Melos rubber granules business accounted for 11 percentage points of the year-over-year volume decline. The
decrease in third quarter 2005 volume and the remaining year-to-date volume decline compared with the same periods in 2004 was primarily the result of
weakness in certain engineered materials applications and general weakness in European plastics markets that was partially offset by increased volume in
Asia from our new manufacturing facility in Shenzhen, China that began operations in the second quarter of 2005. This plant manufactures engineered
material compounds, color compounds and plastisol inks. Higher average selling prices from efforts to recapture raw material cost increases, combined with
favorable Euro to U.S. dollar currency exchange rates, contributed to a sales increase of 3% in the third quarter of 2005 and 2% for the year to date 2005
compared with the same periods in 2004. The May 31, 2004 sale of the Melos rubber granules business negatively affected year-over-year revenue by three
percentage points.

Polymer Coating Systems’ volume declined 8% for the third quarter of 2005 and 5% for the year to date 2005 compared with the same periods in 2004 due to
general softening across most markets, but in particular from a decline in automotive demand caused primarily by reduced production schedules and platform
build-outs. Higher average selling prices from efforts to recapture raw material cost increases contributed to sales increases of 1% in the third quarter of 2005
and 3% for the year to date 2005 compared with the same periods in 2004.

Performance Plastics’ operating income, as a percentage of sales, declined to 2.2% in the third quarter of 2005 from 6.7% in the third quarter of 2004, and to
2.7% for year to date 2005 from 5.7% in the same period of 2004. The main drivers were lower volumes, increased raw material costs and increased energy
costs across virtually all product lines. Selling price increases have only partially offset the impact of rising raw material costs. Continuing selling and
administrative expense reduction efforts have helped to partially offset the negative impact of rising raw material costs. Also included in 2004 year-to-date
operating income was a $5.7 million loss on the sale of assets during the second quarter.
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Distribution’s sales increased by 9% in the third quarter of 2005 and 11% for the year to date 2005 compared with the same periods in 2004. Volume,
however, declined by 2% in both the third quarter of 2005 and for the year to date 2005 from the same periods in 2004 consistent with the general softening
across the North American plastics industry experienced by our Performance Plastics segment. Selling price increases passed through from the supplier base
drove the sales increase.

Distribution’s operating income as a percentage of sales decreased in the third quarter of 2005 to 2.5% from 2.9% in the third quarter of 2004, and for the year
to date to 2.7% in 2005 from 3.1% in 2004 due to the decline in volume combined with increased delivery costs that were driven by fuel surcharges.

Resin and Intermediates’ operating income declined $27.5 million in the third quarter of 2005 but increased $5.0 million for the year to date 2005 compared
to the same periods in 2004. OxyVinyls’ equity earnings contribution declined by $34.1 million in the third quarter of 2005 and $20.0 million for the year to
date 2005 from the same periods in 2004. Included in OxyVinyls’ third quarter and year to date 2005 results was a $22.9 million charge related to the
impairment of a previously idled chlor-alkali facility. During the first half of 2005, OxyVinyls benefited from higher industry average PVC resin and vinyl
chloride monomer (VCM) product spreads that resulted from favorable supply/demand dynamics and improved chlor-alkali profitability as compared to the
first half of 2004. However, third quarter 2005 results were adversely impacted by a combination of hurricane-related production interruptions and significant
increases in raw material and energy costs. SunBelt’s equity earnings contribution increased by $5.8 million in the third quarter of 2005 and $22.5 million for
the year to date 2005 from the same periods in 2004 largely from significantly higher combined selling prices for chlorine and caustic soda driven by
favorable supply and demand dynamics.

“Other” consists primarily of corporate general and administrative costs not allocated to business segments and inter-segment sales and profit eliminations.
The loss, or net expense, for the third quarter of 2005 was $7.3 million less than the same period in 2004. Included in the third quarter of 2005 was a
$2.7 million benefit resulting from the settlement of legal issues and associated reserves, while the third quarter of 2004 included a $4.2 million charge for
environmental remediation at inactive sites. Net expense for 2005 year to date was $9.4 million lower than the same period in 2004. Included in the first nine
months of 2005 was a $7.7 million benefit resulting from the settlement of legal issues and associated reserves, while the first nine months of 2004 included a
$4.2 million charge for environmental remediation at inactive sites and a $1.9 million benefit from the receipt of life insurance proceeds.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions in certain circumstances that affect amounts reported in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements. Management evaluates accounting policies and estimates used to prepare financial statements on an ongoing basis. Management bases its
estimates on historical experience and assumptions believed to be reasonable under certain facts and circumstances. In preparing these financial statements,
management has made its best estimates and judgments of certain amounts included in the financial statements related to the accounting policies and
estimates described in the text that follows. The application of these critical accounting policies involves the exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as
to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these estimates. A description of critical accounting policies is set forth in Item 7
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004. For additional information regarding our accounting policies, see Note C to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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Asbestos-Related Claims – We have been named in various lawsuits involving multiple claimants and defendants for alleged asbestos exposure in the past by,
among others, workers and contractors and their families at plants owned by us or our predecessors or on board ships owned or operated by us or our
predecessors. We have reserves totaling approximately $0.5 million as of September 30, 2005 for asbestos-related claims that are probable and estimable. We
believe the probability is remote that losses in excess of the amounts we have accrued could be material to our financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows. This belief is based upon our ongoing assessment of the strengths and weaknesses of the specific claims and our defenses and insurance coverages
available with respect to these claims, as well as the probability and expected magnitude of reasonably anticipated future asbestos-related claims. Our
assessment includes: whether the pleadings allege exposure to asbestos, asbestos-containing products or premises exposure; the severity of the plaintiffs’
alleged injuries from exposure to asbestos or asbestos-containing products and the length and certainty of exposure on our premises, to the extent disclosed in
the pleadings or identified through discovery; whether the named defendant related to us manufactured or sold asbestos-containing products; the outcomes of
cases recently resolved; and the historical pattern of the number of claims. If the underlying facts and circumstances change in the future, we will modify our
reserves, as appropriate.

Goodwill – As of September 30, 2005, we had $322.0 million of goodwill resulting from the acquisition of businesses. SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” requires an annual assessment for potential impairment of goodwill, or more often than annually if an event or circumstance indicates that
an impairment, or decline in value, may have occurred. In making these impairment assessments, we compare the fair value of each of our reporting units
with that reporting unit’s carrying value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill is not considered to be impaired. If the
carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is measured and recognized. We have selected July 1 as our annual impairment
testing date.

We determined that goodwill was not impaired as of the annual assessment performed as of July 1, 2005. Please refer to Note C of these Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion. No potential indicator of impairment exists as of September 30, 2005. We will perform our 2006
annual assessment during the third quarter of 2006.

Cash Flows

Individual line items that comprise cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities are set forth in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows. The discussion below focuses on material changes in cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities from the end of the preceding
fiscal year (December 31, 2004) to the date of the most recent interim balance sheet (September 30, 2005).

Operating activities – Cash provided by operating activities in the first nine months of 2005 was $12.4 million. Income from continuing operations of
$19.9 million included $38.3 million of non-cash depreciation and amortization expense, $2.5 million of non-cash employee separation and plant phaseout
charges, $2.9 million of non-cash charges for environmental remediation at inactive sites and $50.5 million of non-cash income from equity affiliates.
Dividends and distributions received from equity affiliates totaled $46.8 million. Cash payments for environmental remediation that had previously been
accrued for inactive sites totaled $11.3 million, while cash payments for previously accrued employee separation and plant phaseout costs totaled
$2.3 million. Accounts receivable increased $53.9 million due to the impact of higher seasonal sales levels at the end of the third quarter, partially offset by
improved average collection periods. Accounts receivable sold to PolyOne Funding Corporation increased $20.1 million. FIFO inventories increased $2.4
million. The effect of higher seasonal sales and production levels at the end of the third quarter was nearly offset by improved inventory turnover efficiencies.
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Accounts payable increased $19.5 million primarily due to higher seasonal production and purchasing levels. Accrued expenses and other declined
$18.2 million primarily from the payment of employee incentive plan bonuses that had been accrued at December 31, 2004.

Investing activities – Cash used for investing activities in the first nine months of 2005 was $10.7 million. Capital expenditures of $23.4 million, primarily in
support of manufacturing operations, were partially offset by proceeds totaling $15.4 million, primarily from the sale of previously closed facilities. We also
acquired the remaining 16% of Star Color, a Thailand-based color and additives business, for $1.6 million in the first quarter of 2005, and certain assets of
Novatec Plastics Corporation during the second quarter of 2005 for $1.1 million. Star Color is now 100% owned and is included in the International Color
and Engineered Materials product group.

Financing activities – Cash used by financing activities in the first nine months of 2005 totaling $15.4 million consisted of $20.0 million of long-term debt
repayments, partially offset by short-term bank borrowings of $4.2 million and $0.4 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Discontinued operations – Cash provided by discontinued operations in the first nine months of 2005 was $23.1 million, primarily driven by earnings. Year-
to-date earnings included impairment charges of $10.9 million in the first quarter of 2005 and $3.9 million in the third quarter of 2005 to adjust the carrying
value of the Engineered Films business to its net realizable value based upon current estimates.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

As of September 30, 2005, we had existing facilities (receivables sale facility, secured revolving credit facility, uncommitted short-term credit lines and senior
unsecured notes and debentures) to access available capital resources totaling $839.2 million. As of September 30, 2005, we had utilized $695.0 million of
these facilities and $144.2 million was available to be drawn. The following table summarizes available and outstanding facilities at September 30, 2005:
         
(In millions)  Outstanding  Available  
Long-term debt  $ 668.4  $ – 
Revolving credit facility   –   12.2 
Receivables sale facility   20.0   132.0 
Short-term bank debt   6.6   – 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 695.0  $ 144.2 
  

 

  

 

 

Total funds available at September 30, 2005 were $151.2 million, including $7.0 million of additional borrowing capacity on a short-term investment held for
repayment of borrowings under the receivables sale facility that matured on October 19, 2005.

Long-term Debt – At September 30, 2005, we had long-term debt totaling $668.4 million, with maturities ranging from 2005 to 2015. Current maturities of
long-term debt (due within the next twelve months) at September 30, 2005 were $29.6 million.

Revolving Credit Facility – On July 26, 2005, we amended our revolving credit facility to modify the financial covenants. The revolving credit facility has a
three-year term expiring May 2006 and provides up to $30.0 million in borrowings and for the issuance of standby letters of credit. In anticipation of the
maturity of this facility, we expect that we will begin negotiations in the near future to either restructure or extend the maturity date of this facility.
Obligations under the revolving credit facility are secured by substantially all of our domestic intellectual property and inventory, and some of our domestic
real
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property. As of September 30, 2005, we had not drawn on the revolving credit facility, although the facility served as a back-up facility for $8.8 million of
outstanding letters of credit and for $4.0 million of loan guarantees.

Our revolving credit facility requires us to maintain certain Interest Coverage and Borrowed Debt-to-Adjusted EBITDA ratios, which are defined in the
agreement governing the facility. Further, the revolving credit facility limits payments for purposes such as capital expenditures, acquisitions and dividends.
As of September 30, 2005, our Interest Coverage Ratio was 2.83 and our Borrowed Debt-to-Adjusted EBITDA Ratio was 3.68. For the third quarter of 2005,
the minimum Interest Coverage Ratio is 2.00 and the maximum Borrowed Debt-to-Adjusted EBITDA Ratio is 4.75. For the fourth quarter of 2005, the
minimum Interest Coverage Ratio is 2.00 and the maximum Borrowed Debt-to-Adjusted EBITDA Ratio is 4.65.

Based upon projected operating results and current economic trends, we expect to be in compliance with the amended Interest Coverage and Borrowed Debt-
to-Adjusted EBITDA Ratios throughout the remainder of 2005.

Receivables Sale Facility – On July 26, 2005, we amended our receivables sale facility to extend the expiration date to July 2010, reduce the cost of utilizing
the facility and modify a financial covenant. Under the terms of our receivables sale facility, we are allowed to sell accounts receivable and realize proceeds
of up to $175.0 million. The maximum amount of proceeds that may be received is limited to 85% of eligible domestic accounts receivable sold. The
receivables sale facility also makes up to $40.0 million available for issuance of standby letters of credit, of which $13.0 million was used at September 30,
2005.

The receivables sale facility, as amended, requires us to maintain a minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, which is defined as Adjusted EBITDA less
capital expenditures divided by interest expense and scheduled debt repayments for the next four quarters, of at least 1 to 1 when availability under the facility
is $40 million or less. As of September 30, 2005, the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio was 1.6 to 1 and availability under the facility was $132.0 million.

The amount of eligible receivables available to be sold under the receivables sale facility will be affected upon divestment of any of the businesses currently
held for sale because each of these businesses currently sells its accounts receivable under the facility. The average amount of receivables through
September 30, 2005 for businesses currently held for sale was $34.0 million, split approximately 49% and 51% between Specialty Resins and Engineered
Films.

Of the capital resource facilities available to us as of September 30, 2005, the portion of the receivables sale facility that was actually sold provided security
in connection with the transfer of ownership of these receivables. Each indenture governing our senior unsecured notes and debentures and our guarantee of
the SunBelt notes allows for a specific level of secured debt, above which security must be provided on each such indenture and the guarantee of the SunBelt
notes. The receivables sale facility does not constitute debt under the covenants associated with the senior unsecured notes and debentures and the guarantee
of the SunBelt notes. As of September 30, 2005, we had sold accounts receivable of $20.0 million and had guaranteed unconsolidated equity affiliate debt of
$79.2 million of SunBelt.

Profitable operations in 2005 are expected to enable us to maintain the existing levels of available capital resources. Expected sources of cash in 2005 include
net income, working capital, borrowings under existing loan agreements and proceeds from the expected sale of the discontinued operations. Expected uses of
cash in 2005 include the repayment of approximately $29.6 million of long-term debt that matures during the year, interest expense and discounts on the sale
of accounts receivable, cash taxes, spending for
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previously announced restructuring initiatives and capital expenditures. Capital expenditures for 2005 are currently estimated between $30 and $35 million
primarily for equipment to support current manufacturing operations.

Based on current projections, we believe that we should be able to continue to manage and control working capital, discretionary spending and capital
expenditures and that cash flow generated from operations, along with available borrowing capacity under the revolving credit facility and receivables sale
facility, should be adequate to fund operations and meet debt service and minimum pension funding requirements for the next twelve months.

Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

In this report on Form 10-Q, statements that are not reported financial results or other historical information are “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future events, and
are not guarantees of future performance. They are based upon management’s expectations that involve a number of business risks and uncertainties, any of
which could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by the forward-looking statements. You can identify these statements
by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historic or current facts. They use words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,”
“believe,” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance. In particular, these
include statements relating to future actions, prospective changes in raw material costs or product pricing or product demand, future performance, including,
without limitation, meeting cash flow goals, receiving expected cash distributions from equity affiliates and achieving working capital targets; results of
current and anticipated market conditions and market strategies, sales efforts, expenses, the outcome of contingencies such as legal proceedings, and financial
results. Among the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially are the following:

 •  the effect on foreign operations of currency fluctuations, tariffs, nationalization, exchange controls, limitations on foreign investment in local
businesses and other political, economic and regulatory risks;

 

 •  changes in U.S., regional or world polymer consumption growth rates affecting PolyOne’s markets;
 

 •  changes in global industry capacity or in the rate at which anticipated changes in industry capacity come online in the polyvinyl chloride (PVC),
chlor-alkali, vinyl chloride monomer (VCM) or other industries in which PolyOne participates;

 

 •  fluctuations in raw material prices, quality and supply and in energy prices and supply, in particular fluctuations outside the normal range of industry
cycles, including those fluctuations related to the effects of Hurricane Katrina and Hurricane Rita;

 

 •  production outages or material costs associated with scheduled or unscheduled maintenance programs;
 

 •  costs or difficulties and delays related to the operation of joint venture entities;
 

 •  lack of day-to-day operating control, including procurement of raw materials, of equity or joint venture affiliates;
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 •  partial control over investment decisions and dividend distribution policy of the OxyVinyls partnership and other minority equity holdings of
PolyOne;

 

 •  an inability to launch new products and/or services within PolyOne’s various businesses;
 

 •  the possibility of further goodwill impairment;
 

 •  an inability to maintain any required licenses or permits;
 

 •  an inability to comply with any environmental laws and regulations;
 

 •  the cost of compliance with environmental laws and regulations, including any increased cost of complying with new or revised laws and
regulations;

 

 •  unanticipated developments that could occur with respect to contingencies such as litigation and environmental matters, including any developments
that would require any increase in our costs and/or reserves for such contingencies;

 

 •  an inability to achieve or delays in achieving or achievement of less than the anticipated financial benefit from initiatives related to cost reductions
and employee productivity goals;

 

 •  a delay or inability to achieve targeted debt level reductions through divestitures and/or other means;
 

 •  an inability to access the revolving credit facility and/or the receivables sale facility as a result of breaching covenants due to not achieving
anticipated earnings performance or for any other reason;

 

 •  any poor performance of our pension plan assets and any obligation on our part to fund PolyOne’s pension plan;
 

 •  any delay and/or inability to bring the North American Colors and Additives Masterbatch and the Engineered Materials product platforms to
profitability;

 

 •  an inability to raise prices or sustain price increases for products;
 

 •  adverse changes in our relations with customers;
 

 •  the ability to maintain appropriate relations with unions and employees in certain locations in order to avoid disruptions of business;
 

 •  an inability or delay beyond December 31, 2005 in finding buyers of discontinued operations or other non-core assets for reasonable and acceptable
terms;

 

 •  an inability to achieve anticipated earnings performance due to the divestment of a non-core business;
 

 •  an inability to complete the sale of discontinued businesses due to problems or delays associated with legal proceedings, regulatory approvals and/or
buyers receiving financing for the transaction or any other reasons; and

 

 •  other factors affecting our business beyond our control, including, without limitations, changes in the general economy, changes in interest rates and
changes in the rate of inflation.
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We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we believe we have been prudent in our plans and assumptions.
Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties and inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or
should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected. Investors should bear this
in mind as they consider forward-looking statements.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. You are
advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects in our reports on Form 10-Q, 8-K and 10-K to the Securities and Exchange
Commission. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all risk factors. Consequently, you should not consider any such list to be a
complete set of all potential risks or uncertainties.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

PolyOne is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates on debt obligations and from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Information related
to these risks and our management of the exposure is included in Item 7A “Qualitative and Quantitative Information about Market Risk” in PolyOne’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. PolyOne periodically enters into interest rate swap agreements that convert fixed-rate
obligations to floating rates. PolyOne maintained interest rate swap agreements on seven of its fixed-rate obligations in the aggregate amount of
$120.0 million at January 1, 2004. These exchange agreements are “perfectly effective” as defined by SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Financial
Instruments and Hedging Activities.” During September 2004, PolyOne terminated one of the seven interest rate swap agreements at a cash cost of
$0.3 million. At September 30, 2005, the six remaining agreements totaling $100.0 million had a net fair value obligation of a negative $5.5 million. The
weighted-average interest rate for these six agreements was 7.6%. There have been no material changes in the market risk faced by the Company from
December 31, 2004 to September 30, 2005. We have updated the disclosure concerning our financing arrangements, which is included in Note J to the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this quarterly report.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision of and with the participation of our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, we
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report. Based upon that evaluation, the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report, PolyOne’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective in alerting
them in a timely manner to the material information relating to PolyOne (or PolyOne’s consolidated subsidiaries) required to be included in PolyOne’s
periodic SEC filings.

On August 1, 2005, PolyOne’s Distribution segment’s information system was converted onto the SAP ERP platform in a planned and controlled
environment. The SAP system features strong process integration, real-time process integrity, independent transaction and security authorizations, and is
controlled centrally by PolyOne’s Information Technology function. The conversion of the Distribution Business onto SAP improves PolyOne’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Except as described above, there were no changes made in PolyOne’s internal control over financial reporting during the third quarter of 2005 that have
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, PolyOne’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Certification of W. David Wilson, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Certification of William F. Patient, President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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 32.2 

 
Certification of W. David Wilson, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
     
October 27, 2005 POLYONE CORPORATION

  

 /s/ W. David Wilson   
 W. David Wilson  

 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Authorized
Officer and Principal Financial Officer)  

 
     
   
 /s/ Michael J. Meier   
 Michael J. Meier  

 Corporate Controller
(Authorized Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)  
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Exhibit 10.1

EXECUTION COPY

AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

Dated as of July 26, 2005

          AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) among POLYONE CORPORATION, an
Ohio corporation (the “Borrower”), the banks, financial institutions and other institutional lenders parties to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
referred to below (collectively, the “Lenders”) and CITICORP USA, INC., as administrative agent (the “Agent”) for the Lenders.

          PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

          (1) The Borrower, the Lenders and the Agent have entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of May 6, 2003, as amended by
Amendment No. 1 dated as of August 27, 2003, Amendment No. 2 dated as of September 25, 2003 and Amendment No. 3 and Waiver dated as of August 5,
2004 (such Agreement, as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”; terms defined in
the Credit Agreement are used herein as therein defined).

          (2) The Borrower has requested, and the Required Lenders have agreed, that the Credit Agreement be amended as hereinafter set forth.

     SECTION 1. Amendment to Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement is, effective as of the date hereof and subject to the satisfaction of the conditions
precedent set forth in Section 2, hereby amended as follows:

     (1) Section 5.03(a) is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

     (a) Interest Coverage Ratio. Maintain an Interest Coverage Ratio during each fiscal quarter set forth below of not less than the ratio set opposite such
fiscal period:

   
Period  Ratio

July 1, 2005 and thereafter  2.00:1

     (2) Section 5.03(b) is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

     (b) Borrowed Debt/Adjusted EBITDA Ratio. Maintain a Borrowed Debt/Adjusted EBITDA Ratio during each fiscal quarter set forth below of not
more than the ratio set opposite such fiscal period:

   
Period  Ratio

July 1, 2005 through September 30, 2005  4.75:1
   
October 1, 2005 through December 31, 2005  4.65:1
   
January 1, 2006 and thereafter  4.50:1

 



 

     SECTION 2. Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective as of the date first above written when, and only when the Agent shall
have received (i) counterparts of this Amendment executed by the Borrower and the Required Lenders and (ii) certified copies of the resolutions of the Board
of Directors of the Borrower approving this Amendment. This Amendment is subject to the provisions of Section 8.01 of the Credit Agreement.

     SECTION 3. Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants as follows:

          (a) The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, and the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby, are within the Borrower’s corporate powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, and do not
(i) contravene the Borrower’s charter or code of regulations, (ii) violate any applicable law, rule, regulation, order, writ judgment, injunction, decree,
determination or award, or (iii) breach or result in a default under, or result in the acceleration of (or entitle any party to accelerate) the maturity of any
obligation of the Borrower under, or result in or require the creation of any Lien upon any property of the Borrower pursuant to the terms of any agreement or
instrument binding on or affecting the Borrower or any of its properties other than in favor of the Collateral Trustee for the benefit of the Secured Parties.

          (b) No authorization or approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any governmental authority or regulatory body or any other third
party is required for the due execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby.

          (c) This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by the Borrower. This Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, are the
legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and to general equitable principles.

          (d) The representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents are correct on and as of the date of this Amendment, as though made on and as
of such date, except to the extent that any such representation and warranty relates to a specific date in which case such representation and warranty shall be
true and correct as of such earlier date.

     SECTION 4. Reference to and Effect on the Credit Agreement.

          (a) On and after the effectiveness of this Amendment, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof” or words of
like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in each of the other Loan Documents to “the Credit Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or
words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.

          (b) The Credit Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents, as specifically amended by this Amendment, is and shall continue to be in full force
and effect and is hereby in all respects ratified and confirmed. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Collateral
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Documents and the Collateral described therein do and shall continue to secure the payment of all Obligations of the Loan Parties under the Loan Documents,
in each case as amended by this Amendment.

          (c) The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, operate as a waiver of any right, power
or remedy of any Lender or the Agent under the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit
Agreement.

     SECTION 5. Costs and Expenses. The Borrower agrees to pay on demand all costs and expenses of the Agent in connection with the preparation,
execution, delivery and administration, modification and amendment of this Amendment and the other instruments and documents to be delivered hereunder
(including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel for the Agent) in accordance with the terms of Section 8.04 of the Credit
Agreement

     SECTION 6. Execution in Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate
counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute but one and the same
agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by telecopier shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed
counterpart of this Amendment.

     SECTION 7. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the
date first above written.
     
 POLYONE CORPORATION

  

 By  /s/ John Rastetter   
  Title: Treasurer  
    
 
     
 CITICORP USA, INC.,

as Agent and as Lender
 

 

 By  /s/ Joronne Jeter   
  Title: Managing Director  
    
 
     
 NATIONAL CITY BANK,

as Issuing Bank and as Lender
 

 

 By  /s/ Victor Rivera   
  Title: Chief Credit Officer  
    
 
     
 NATIONAL CITY BUSINESS CREDIT, INC.,

as Lender
 

 

 By  /s/ Michael Fine   
  Title: Director  
    
 
     
 KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

as Lender
 

 

 By  /s/ Francis W. Lutz, Jr.   
  Title: Vice President  
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AMENDED AND RESTATED RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT

     This AMENDED AND RESTATED RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of July 26, 2005 (this “Agreement”), among POLYONE
FUNDING CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the “Seller”), POLYONE CORPORATION, an Ohio corporation (“PolyOne”), as the Servicer (as
hereinafter defined), the banks and other financial institutions listed on the signature pages hereof, as the Initial Purchasers (the “Initial Purchasers”),
CITICORP USA, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Citicorp”), as administrative agent (the “Agent”) for the Purchasers and the other Owners (as hereinafter
defined), CITIBANK, N.A., a national association (“CNA”), and National City Bank, as issuing banks (the “Issuing Banks”), and NATIONAL CITY
BUSINESS CREDIT, INC., an Ohio corporation (“NCBC”), as the syndication agent (the “Syndication Agent”) amends in certain respects and restates in its
entirety, the Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2003, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of September 25, 2003, and Amendment
No. 2, dated as of August 5, 2004 (the “Original Agreement”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

     (1) It is the intent of the parties hereto that this Agreement not constitute a novation of any of the obligations or liabilities under the Original Agreement
nor constitute a discharge thereof, that this Agreement amend and restate in its entirety the Original Agreement and that, from and after the Amendment and
Restatement Effective Date, the Original Agreement be of no further force and effect except to evidence the obligations of the parties thereto prior to the
Amendment and Restatement Effective Date and the representations and warranties made thereunder.

     (2) The Seller will from time to time purchase or otherwise acquire from the Originators Pool Receivables in which the Seller intends to sell interests
referred to herein as Receivable Interests.

     (3) The Purchasers may at any time and from time to time purchase Receivable Interests from the Seller.

     (4) In consideration of the reinvestment in Pool Receivables of daily Collections (other than with regard to accrued Yield and any fees) attributable to a
Receivable Interest, the Seller will sell to each Owner of such Receivable Interest additional interests in the Pool Receivables as part of such Receivable
Interest until such reinvestment is terminated.

     (5) PolyOne has been requested and is willing to act as the Servicer.

     (6) Citicorp has been requested and is willing to act as the Agent.

     (7) The Issuing Banks have been requested and are willing to make available to the Seller a letter of credit sub-facility upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth herein.

     (8) NCBC has been requested and is willing to act as the Syndication Agent.

     (9) Certain terms which are capitalized and used throughout this Agreement (in addition to those defined above) are defined in Article I of this Agreement.

     NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the parties hereto agree as follows:

 



 

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

     Section 1.01. Certain Defined Terms.

     As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings (such meanings to be equally applicable to both the singular and plural
forms of the terms defined):

     “Adjusted EBITDA” means, with respect to any Person, EBITDA of such Person and its Subsidiaries plus any net cash received from Equity Affiliates,
minus any net cash paid to Equity Affiliates, minus any income from Equity Affiliates plus any income to Equity Affiliates.

     “Adjusted LIBO Rate” means, with respect to any Yield Period for any Capital Investment, an interest rate per annum equal to the rate per annum obtained
by dividing (a) the LIBO Rate by (b) a percentage equal to (i) 100% minus (ii) the reserve percentage applicable 2 Business Days before the first day of such
Yield Period under regulations issued from time to time by the Federal Reserve Board for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including any
emergency, supplemental or other marginal reserve requirement) for a member bank of the Federal Reserve System in New York City with respect to
liabilities or assets consisting of or including Eurocurrency Liabilities (or with respect to any other category of liabilities that includes deposits by reference to
which the LIBO Rate is determined) having a term equal to such Yield Period.

     “Adverse Claim” means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, charge, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or
other), security interest or preference, priority or other security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever intended to assure
payment of any Debt or the performance of any other obligation, including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, the interest of a lessor under
a capital lease and any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing, and the filing of any financing statement under
the UCC or comparable law of any jurisdiction naming the owner of the asset to which such Adverse Claim relates as debtor.

     “Affiliate” means as to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly, is in control of, is controlled by or is under common control with such
Person. The term “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a
Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise.

     “Agent’s Account” means the Deposit Account of the Agent (account number 30537802, ABA 021000089, Reference: CUSA f/a/o PolyOne
Concentration) maintained with CNA at its office at 399 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10043, Attention: Hien Nugent, or such other account as the
Agent shall specify in writing to the Seller, the Servicer and the Purchasers.

     “Agent’s Fee” means those agency fees set forth in the Amended and Restated Fee Letter,

     “Alternate Base Rate” means, for any period, a fluctuating interest rate per annum as shall be in effect from time to time, which rate per annum shall be
equal at all times to the highest of the following:

     (a) the rate of interest announced publicly by CNA in New York, New York, from time to time, as CNA’s base rate (or equivalent rate otherwise
named);
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     (b) the sum (adjusted to the nearest 0.25% or, if there is no nearest 0.25%, to the next higher 0.25%) of (i) 0.5% per annum, (ii) the rate per annum
obtained by dividing (A) the latest three-week moving average of secondary market morning offering rates in the United States for three-month
certificates of deposit of major United States money market banks, such three-week moving average being determined weekly on each Monday (or, if
any such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day) for the three-week period ending on the previous Friday by CNA on the basis
of such rates reported by certificate of deposit dealers to and published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or, if such publication shall be
suspended or terminated, on the basis of quotations for such rates received by CNA from 3 New York certificate of deposit dealers of recognized
standing selected by CNA, by (B) a percentage equal to 100% minus the average of the daily percentages specified during such three-week period by the
Federal Reserve Board for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including any emergency, supplemental or other marginal reserve
requirement) for CNA in respect of liabilities consisting of or including (among other liabilities) three-month U.S. dollar nonpersonal time deposits in the
United States and (iii) the average during such three-week period of the maximum annual assessment rates estimated by CNA for determining the then
current annual assessment payable by CNA to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (or any successor) for insuring Dollar deposits in the United
States; and

     (c) 0.5% per annum plus the Federal Funds Rate.

     “Amendment and Restatement Effective Date” means July 26, 2005.

     “Amended and Restated Commitment Termination Date” means the fifth anniversary of the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date.

     “Amended and Restated Consent and Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Consent and Agreement, dated as of the Amendment and
Restatement Effective Date, in substantially the form of Exhibit E hereto, with respect to the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, duly
executed by the Seller and each Originator.

     “Amended and Restated Fee Letter” means the Amended and Restated Fee Letter agreement, dated July 26, 2005, among the Seller, Citicorp and
Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as the same may from time to time be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified.

     “Amended and Restated Letter of Credit Agreement” means a letter of credit reimbursement agreement between Seller and each Originator in form and
substance acceptable to Agent.

     “Amended and Restated Parent Undertaking” means the Amended and Restated Undertaking Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit K hereto,
dated as of July 26, 2005, by PolyOne in favor of the Agent, the Issuing Banks, the Syndication Agent, the Purchasers and the other Owners, as the same may
from time to time be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified with the prior written consent of the Agent.

     “Amended and Restated Projections” means those financial projections, dated June 23, 2005, covering the Fiscal Years ending in December 2005 through
December 2010 inclusive, to be delivered to the Purchasers by PolyOne.

     “Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2005, in
substantially the form of Exhibit D hereto, among each Originator, the Seller and PolyOne as the Buyer’s Servicer thereunder, as the same may from
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time to time be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified with the prior written consent of the Required Purchasers.

     “Amended and Restated Subordinated Note” has the meaning specified in the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement.

     “Applicable L/C Margin” means (a) for an initial period commencing on the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date and ending on the first day of
the month immediately following the month in which the Servicer delivers PolyOne’s financial statements for the Fiscal Period ending September 30, 2005,
1.50% per annum and (b) thereafter, as of any date of determination, a per annum rate equal to the rate set forth below opposite the then applicable Average
Monthly Excess Availability (determined on the last day of the most recently concluded calendar month):
     

Average Monthly Excess Availability  Applicable L/C Margin
Greater than $120,000,000   1.25%
     
Less than or equal to $120,000,000 and greater than $60,000,000   1.50%
     
Less than or equal to $60,000,000   1.75%

provided, however, that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Termination, the “Applicable L/C Margin” shall be the sum of the
highest rate set forth in the table above plus 2.00% per annum. Changes in the Applicable L/C Margin resulting from a change in the Average Monthly Excess
Availability for any month shall become effective as to all Issuances on the first day of the next consecutive calendar month.

     “Applicable Margin” means (a) for an initial period commencing on the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date and ending on the first day of the
month immediately following the month in which the Servicer delivers PolyOne’s financial statements for the Fiscal Period ending September 30, 2005, (i) in
the case of Capital Investments having a Yield determined with reference to the Alternate Base Rate 0.75% per annum and, (ii) in the case of Capital
Investments having a Yield determined with reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate, 1.75% per annum and (b) thereafter, as of any date of determination, a per
annum rate equal to the rate set forth below opposite the then applicable Average Monthly Excess Availability (determined on the last day of the most
recently concluded calendar month):
         

Average Monthly Excess Availability  Alternate Base Rate  Adjusted LIBO Rate
Greater than $120,000,000   0.50%   1.50%
         
Less than or equal to $120,000,000 and greater than $60,000,000   0.75%   1.75%
         
Less than or equal to $60,000,000   1.00%   2.00%
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provided, however, that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Termination, the “Applicable Margin” shall be the sum of the highest
rate set forth in the table above (as may be converted pursuant to Section 2.16) plus 2.00% per annum. Changes in the Applicable Margin resulting from a
change in the Average Monthly Excess Availability for any month shall become effective as to all Capital Investments on the first day of the next consecutive
calendar month.

     “Applicable Reserve” means, at any date, an amount equal to (NRPB x RP) plus such reserves as mutually agreed upon, with adjustments effective upon at
least three Business Days’ notice by the Agent, where:

NRPB = the Net Receivables Pool Balance at the close of business of the Servicer on such date.

RP = the Reserve Percentage at the close of business of the Servicer on such date.

     “Approved Electronic Communications” means each notice, demand, communication, information, document and other material that the Seller or Servicer
is obligated to, or otherwise chooses to, provide to the Agent pursuant to any Transaction Document or the transactions contemplated therein, including any
financial statement, financial and other report, notice, request, certificate and other information material; provided, however, that “Approved Electronic
Communication” shall exclude (x) any Notice of Purchase, Letter of Credit Request, Swing Purchase Request, Notice of Conversion or Continuation, and any
other notice, demand, communication, information, document and other material relating to a request for a new, or a conversion of an existing, Purchase,
(ii) any notice relating to the payment due under any Transaction Document prior to the scheduled date therefor, (iii) any notice of any Potential Event of
Termination or Event of Termination and (iv) any notice, demand, communication, information, document and other material required to be delivered to
satisfy any of the conditions set forth in Article III or Section 2.04(a) or any other condition to any Purchase or extension of credit hereunder or any condition
precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement.

     “Approved Electronic Platform” has the meaning specified in Section 8.06.

     “Assignee” means in the case of any assignment of any rights and obligations pursuant to Section 9.01, any Eligible Assignee as the assignee of such
rights and obligations.

     “Assignment and Acceptance” means an assignment and acceptance, in substantially the form of Exhibit A hereto, entered into by any Purchaser and an
Assignee pursuant to Section 9.01.

     “Available Capital” means, at any time, (a) the lesser of (i) the then effective Total Commitments and (ii) (x) the Net Receivables Pool Balance at such
time minus (y) any Applicable Reserve in effect at such time, minus (b) the sum of (i) the Capital at such time and (ii) the Letter of Credit Undrawn Amounts.

     “Average Monthly Excess Availability” means, for any calendar month, the average daily Receivables Excess Availability for such calendar month.

     “Business Day” means any day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which (i) banks are not authorized or required to close in New York, New York or the
State of Ohio and (ii) if the term “Business Day” is used in connection with the Adjusted LIBO Rate, dealings in United States dollars are carried on in the
London interbank market.

     “Capital” means, at any time, the sum of all Capital Investments outstanding at such time.
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     “Capital Expenditures” means, with respect to any Person, expenditures (whether paid in cash or other consideration or accrued as a liability) for fixed or
capital assets (excluding any capitalized interest and any such asset acquired in connection with normal replacement and maintenance programs to the extent
properly charged to current operations and excluding any replacement assets to the extent acquired with the proceeds of insurance) made by such Person, all
as determined in accordance with GAAP.

     “Capital Investment” means (a) in respect of any Receivable Interest, the original amount paid to the Seller for such Receivable Interest at the time of its
acquisition by the Purchasers, or the Swing Purchaser, as the case may be, pursuant to Sections 2.01, 2.02, 2.03 or 2.04, reduced from time to time by
Collections received and distributed on account of such Capital pursuant to Section 2.07 or 2.08; provided, however, that if such Capital Investment of such
Receivable Interest shall have been reduced by any distribution of any portion of Collections and thereafter such distribution is rescinded or must otherwise
be returned for any reason, such Capital Investment of such Receivable Interest shall be increased by the amount of such distribution, all as though such
distribution had not been made; and (b) any Reimbursement Obligation (solely to the extent not included in clause (a) of this definition).

     “Cash Management Obligation” means, as applied to the Seller, any direct or indirect liability, contingent or otherwise, of the Seller in respect of cash
management services (including treasury, depository, overdraft, credit or debit card, electronic funds transfer and other cash management arrangements)
provided after the date hereof (regardless of whether these or similar services were provided prior to the date hereof by the Administrative Agent, any
Purchaser or any Affiliate or any of them) by the Administrative Agent in connection with this Agreement or any Transaction Document, including
obligations for the payment of fees, interest, charges, expenses, reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements in connection therewith.

     “Change of Control” means the occurrence of any of the following: (a) any Person or 2 or more Persons acting in concert, other than a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of PolyOne or a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by PolyOne or by the stockholders of
PolyOne in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of PolyOne (e.g., a holding company reorganization), shall have acquired beneficial
ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), directly or indirectly,
of Voting Interests of PolyOne (or other securities convertible into such Voting Interests of PolyOne) representing 25% or more of the combined voting power
of all Voting Interests of PolyOne; or (b) any Person or 2 or more Persons acting in concert shall have acquired by contract or otherwise, or shall have entered
into a contract or arrangement that, upon consummation, will result in its or their acquisition of the power to exercise, directly or indirectly, a controlling
influence over the management or policies of PolyOne; or (c) PolyOne, or a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of PolyOne in
substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of PolyOne, shall cease to own, directly or indirectly, 100% of the Equity Interests in the Seller,
PolyOne or any other Originator unless, in the case of such other Originator, such Originator is, upon at least 5 Business Days’ prior written notice to the
Agent, sold by PolyOne and thereupon ceases to be an Originator hereunder without causing an Event of Termination or a Potential Event of Termination to
occur, or (d) any “Change of Control” under and as defined in the Senior Note Indenture or any “Event of Default” pursuant to Section 6.01(h) of the
Revolving Credit Agreement.

     “Citicorp” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recital of parties hereto.

     “Citicorp Base Rate” for any period for any Capital Investment, an interest rate per annum equal to the sum of (a) the Alternate Base Rate in effect from
time to time plus (b) the Applicable Margin.
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     “Citicorp LIBO Rate” for any Yield Period for any Capital Investment, an interest rate per annum equal to the sum of (a) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such
Yield Period plus (b) the Applicable Margin.

     “Citicorp Rate” means (a) for any Capital Investment (other than Swing Purchases and Reimbursement Obligations), at the Seller’s election upon written
notice to the Agent, given not later than 11:00 A.M. (New York City time) on the third Business Day prior to such Capital Investment (in the case of the
Citicorp LIBO Rate) or the Business Day prior to such Capital Investment (in the case of the Citicorp Base Rate), either the Citicorp LIBO Rate or the
Citicorp Base Rate, as applicable, and (b) for any Capital Investment that is a Swing Purchase, for any Reimbursement Obligation, and for each other
obligation hereunder, the Citicorp Base Rate.

     “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

     “Collections” means, with respect to any Pool Receivable, all cash collections and other cash proceeds of such Pool Receivable, including, without
limitation, (i) all cash proceeds of the Related Security with respect to such Pool Receivable and (ii) any Collections of such Pool Receivable deemed to have
been received, and actually paid, pursuant to Section 2.09(a).

     “Commitment” means from and after the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date, in respect of each Purchaser party to this Agreement on the
Amendment and Restatement Effective Date after giving effect to this Agreement, the commitment of such Purchaser to make Purchases and acquire other
Capital Investments in the aggregate principal amount set forth as the “Commitment” of such Purchaser on Schedule VII and in respect of each other
Purchaser that became a Purchaser by entering into an Assignment and Acceptance from and after the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date, the
amount set forth as the “Commitment” for such Purchaser in the Register maintained by the Agent pursuant to Section 9.01(c); in the case of clauses (i) and
(ii), as each such amount may be reduced from time to time as the result of any assignment of any Commitment or any portion thereof pursuant to
Section 9.01 or as such amount may be reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.05.

     “Consolidated” means, with respect to any Person, the consolidation of accounts of such Person and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP.

     “Consolidated Interest Expense” means, with respect to any Person for any period, (a) cash interest expense of such Person and its Subsidiaries determined
on a Consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP (including, in the case of PolyOne, the cash interest expense (including, but not limited to, Yield payable
hereunder) of the Seller determined in accordance with GAAP), in each case, including interest capitalized during such period and net costs under all interest
rate swap, cap, collar or similar agreements and interest rate insurance for such period minus (b) Consolidated net gains of such Person and its Subsidiaries
(including, in the case of PolyOne, the Seller) under all interest rate swap, cap, collar or similar agreements and interest rate insurance for such period and
minus (c) the Consolidated interest income of such Person its and its Subsidiaries (including, in the case of PolyOne, the Seller) for such period.

     “Consolidated Net Income” means, for any Person for any period, the net income (or loss) of such Person and its Subsidiaries for such period, determined
on a Consolidated basis in conformity with GAAP.

     “Contract” means an agreement between any Originator and an Obligor in any written form acceptable to such Originator, or in the case of any open
account agreement as evidenced by one of the forms of invoices set forth in Schedule IV hereto or otherwise approved by the Agent from time to time (which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld), pursuant to or under which such Obligor shall be obligated to pay for goods or services from time to time.
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     “Credit and Collection Policy” means those credit and collection policies and practices in effect on the date hereof relating to Contracts and Receivables
and described in Schedule II hereto, as modified from time to time in compliance with Section 5.03(c).

     “Debt” means, without duplication, (i) indebtedness for borrowed money, (ii) obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar
instruments, (iii) obligations to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services other than accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business
that are not outstanding for more than 60 days after first becoming due, (iv) obligations as lessee under leases which shall have been or should be, in
accordance with GAAP, recorded as capital leases, (v) indebtedness of others secured by liens, and (vi) obligations under direct or indirect guaranties in
respect of, and obligations (contingent or otherwise) to purchase or otherwise acquire, or otherwise to assure a creditor against loss in respect of, indebtedness
or obligations of others of the kinds referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) above.

     “Deposit Account” has the meaning set forth in Article 9 of the UCC.

     “Designated Obligor” means, at any time, each Obligor; provided, however, that any Obligor shall cease to be a Designated Obligor upon 3 Business
Days’ notice by the Agent to the Seller given in accordance with the Agent’s then current credit guidelines and with the consent or at the request of the
Required Purchasers.

     “Documentary Letter of Credit” means any Letter of Credit that is drawable upon presentation of documents evidencing the sale or shipment of goods
purchased by an Originator in the ordinary course of its business.

     “EBITDA” means, with respect to any Person for any period, an amount equal to (a) Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such period plus (b) the
sum of, in each case to the extent included as a deduction in the calculation of such Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such period in accordance
with GAAP, but without duplication, (i) any provision for income taxes, (ii) Consolidated Interest Expense, (iii) loss from extraordinary items, (iv)
depreciation, depletion and amortization of intangibles or financing or acquisition costs, and (iv) all other non-cash charges and non-cash losses for such
period, including the amount of any compensation deduction as the result of any grant of Stock or Stock Equivalents to employees, officers, directors or
consultants, other than charges representing accruals of future cash expenses minus (c) the sum of, in each case to the extent included in the calculation of
Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such period in accordance with GAAP, but without duplication, (i) any credit for income tax, (ii) gains from
extraordinary items for such period, (iii) any aggregate net gain (but not any aggregate net loss) from the sale, exchange or other disposition of capital assets
by such Person, (iv) cash payments for previously reserved charges and (v) any other non-cash gains which have been added in determining Consolidated Net
Income, including any reversal of a charge referred to in clause (b)(iv) above by reason of a decrease in the value of any Stock or Stock Equivalent.

     “Eligible Assignee” means (i) each Initial Purchaser or any of its Affiliates, and (ii) any commercial bank, finance company, insurance company or other
financial institution or any other Person, in each case approved by the Agent and the Seller (which approval shall not (x) be unreasonably withheld or delayed
or (y) required following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Termination); provided, however, that neither an Originator nor the Seller
nor any of their respective Affiliates may be an Eligible Assignee.

     “Eligible Receivable” means each Pool Receivable arising out of the sale of merchandise, goods or services in the ordinary course of business by an
Originator to a Person that is not an Affiliate of any
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Originator; provided, however, that a Pool Receivable shall not be an “Eligible Receivable” if any of the following shall be true:

     (a) any warranty contained in this Agreement or any other Transaction Document with respect to such specific Receivable is not true and correct with
respect to such Receivable; or

     (b) the Obligor on such Receivable has disputed liability or made any claim with respect to such Receivable or any other Receivable due from such
Obligor to the Seller or any Originator but only to the extent of such dispute or claim; or

     (c) the Obligor in respect of such Receivable or any of its Affiliates is also a supplier to or creditor of the Seller or any Originator unless such supplier
or creditor has executed a no-offset letter satisfactory to the Agent, in its sole discretion; provided, however, in the event no such no-offset letter has been
executed, such Receivable shall be ineligible pursuant to this clause (c) only to the extent of an amount equal to 150% of the aggregate amount of
accounts payable or other Debt owing by the Originators to such Obligor or any of its Affiliates as at such date; or

     (d) the sale represented by such Receivable is to an Obligor located outside the United States, unless the sale is on letter of credit or acceptance terms
acceptable to the Agent, in its sole discretion; provided, however, if the Obligor is located in Canada, this clause (d) shall not apply provided the
inventory giving rise to the Receivable was shipped from the United States; or

     (e) the sale to such Obligor on such Receivable is on a bill-and-hold, guaranteed sale, sale-and-return, sale-on-approval or consignment basis; or

     (f) such Receivable is subject to an Adverse Claim in favor of any Person other than the Agent; or

     (g) such Receivable is subject to any deduction, offset, counterclaim, return privilege or other conditions other than volume sales discounts given in
the ordinary course of the Originators’ business; provided, however, such Receivable shall be ineligible pursuant to this clause (g) only to the extent of
such deduction, offset, counterclaim, return privilege or other condition; or

     (h) the Obligor on such Receivable is located in any State of the United States requiring the holder of such Receivable, as a precondition to
commencing or maintaining any action in the courts of such State either to (i) receive a certificate of authorization to do business in such State or be in
good standing in such State or (ii) file a Notice of Business Activities Report with the appropriate office or agency of such State, in each case unless the
holder of such Receivable has received such a certificate of authority to do business, is in good standing or, as the case may be, has duly filed such a
notice in such State; or

     (i) the Obligor on such Receivable is a Governmental Authority, unless the applicable Originator and the Seller have each assigned its rights to
payment of such Receivable to the Agent pursuant to the Assignment of Claims Act of 1940, as amended, in the case of a federal Governmental
Authority, and pursuant to applicable law, if any, in the case of any other Governmental Authority, and such assignment has been accepted and
acknowledged by the appropriate government officers; or
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     (j) 50% or more of the outstanding Receivables of the Obligor are not, or have been determined by the Agent, in accordance with the provisions
hereof, not to be, Eligible Receivables; or

     (k) the payment obligation represented by such Receivable is denominated in a currency other than U.S. Dollars; or

     (l) such Receivable is not evidenced by an invoice or other writing in form acceptable to the Agent, in its sole discretion; or

     (m) any Originator, the Seller or any other Person, in order to be entitled to collect such Receivable, is required to deliver any additional goods or
merchandise to, perform any additional service for, or perform or incur any additional obligation to, the Person to whom or to which it was made; or

     (n) the total Receivables of such Obligor to the Originators (taken as a whole) represent more than 15% (or such lesser percentage with respect to
certain Obligors as the Agent may determine in its sole discretion in accordance with its customary criteria) of the Eligible Receivables of the Originators
(taken as a whole) at such time, but only to the extent of such excess; or

     (o) such Receivable is more than (i) 60 days past due according to the original terms of sale, or (ii) 91 days past the original invoice date thereof;
provided, however, that a Receivable with extended original terms not in excess of 90 days which are acceptable to the Agent, in accordance with its
customary criteria, may be an “Eligible Receivable” provided such Receivable is not more than 120 days past the original invoice date thereof; or

     (p) the Obligor on such Receivable has (i) filed a petition for bankruptcy or any other relief under the Bankruptcy Code or any other law relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or relief of debtors, (ii) made an assignment for the benefit of creditors, (iii) had filed against it any petition or
other application for relief under the Bankruptcy Code or any such other law, (iv) failed, suspended business operations, become insolvent, called a
meeting of its creditors for the purpose of obtaining any financial concession or accommodation or (v) had or suffered a receiver or a trustee to be
appointed for all or a significant portion of its assets or affairs; or

     (q) consistent with the Credit and Collection Policy, such Receivable should be written off the Seller’s or any Originator’s books as uncollectible; or

     (r) such Receivable shall not be payable into a Lock-Box Account which is the subject of a Lock-Box Agreement; or

     (s) such Receivable shall not arise under a Contract which has been duly authorized and which, together with such Receivable, is in full force and
effect and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Obligor of such Receivable enforceable against such Obligor in accordance with its
terms; or

     (t) such Receivable, together with the Contract related thereto, shall contravene in any material respect any laws, rules or regulations applicable
thereto (including, without limitation, laws, rules and regulations relating to usury, consumer protection, truth in lending, fair credit billing, fair credit
reporting, equal credit opportunity, fair debt collection practices and
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privacy) or with respect to which any party to the Contract related thereto is in violation of any such law, rule or regulation in any material respect; or

     (u) such Receivable shall not (i) satisfy all applicable requirements of the Credit and Collection Policy or (ii) comply with such other reasonable
criteria and requirements (other than those relating to the collectibility of such Receivable) as the Agent may from time to time specify to the Seller upon
30 days’ notice; or

     (v) such Receivable shall not constitute an “account” within the meaning of Section 9-102(a)(2) of the UCC of the jurisdiction the law of which
governs the perfection of the interest created by a Receivable Interest; or

     (w) the Agent, in accordance with its customary criteria, determines, in its sole discretion, that such Receivable might not be paid or is otherwise
ineligible.

For the avoidance of doubt, it is acknowledged and agreed that any calculation of ineligibility made pursuant to more than one clause above shall be made
without duplication.

     “Equity Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other business entity of which an aggregate
of less than 50% of the Voting Interests is, at the time, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by such Person or one or more Subsidiaries or Equity
Affiliates of such Person and which such Person accounts for in its consolidated financial statements on an equity basis pursuant to GAAP.

     “Equity Interest” means, with respect to any Person, shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, warrants, options or
other rights for the purchase or other acquisition from such Person of shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person,
securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person or warrants, rights or options
for the purchase or other acquisition from such Person of such shares (or such other interests), and other ownership or profit interests in such Person
(including, without limitation, partnership, member or trust interests therein), whether voting or nonvoting, and whether or not such shares, warrants, options,
rights or other interests are authorized or otherwise existing on any date of determination.

     “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated and rulings
issued thereunder.

     “ERISA Affiliate” means any Person that for purposes of Title IV of ERISA is a member of the Seller’s controlled group, or under common control with
the Seller, within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code.

     “Eurocurrency Liabilities” has the meaning assigned to that term in Regulation D of the Federal Reserve Board.

     “Events of Termination” has the meaning specified in Section 7.01.

     “Fair Market Value” means (a) with respect to any asset or group of assets (other than a marketable security) at any date, the value of the consideration
obtainable in a sale of such asset at such date assuming a sale by a willing seller to a willing purchaser dealing at arm’s length and arranged in an orderly
manner over a reasonable period of time having regard to the nature and characteristics of such asset, and, with respect to the sale of assets with a book value
in excess of $25,000,000, as such sale is
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reasonably approved by the Board of Directors of PolyOne or, if such asset shall have been the subject of a relatively contemporaneous appraisal by an
independent third party appraiser, the basic assumptions underlying which have not materially changed since its date, the value set forth in such appraisal and
(b) with respect to any marketable security at any date, the closing sale price of such security on the Business Day next preceding such date, as appearing in
any published list of any national securities exchange or the NASDAQ Stock Market or, if there is no such closing sale price of such Security, the final price
for the purchase of such security at face value quoted on such Business Day by a financial institution of recognized standing regularly dealing in securities of
such type and selected by the Agent.

     “Federal Funds Rate” means, for any period, a fluctuating interest rate per annum equal for each day during such period to the weighted average of the
rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published for such day (or,
if such day is not a Business Day, for the next preceding Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for any
day that is a Business Day, the average of the quotations for such day on such transactions received by the Agent from three Federal funds brokers of
recognized standing selected by it.

     “Fiscal Period” means a calendar month, a fiscal quarter or a Fiscal Year.

     “Fiscal Year” means each twelve-month period ending on December 31.

     “Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” means, at any date of determination, the ratio of (i) Adjusted EBITDA of PolyOne less Consolidated Capital Expenditures
of PolyOne and its Subsidiaries to (ii) Consolidated Interest Expense of PolyOne and its Subsidiaries plus scheduled repayments of principal on Debt to be
made by PolyOne or its Subsidiaries during the immediately succeeding four fiscal quarter period plus Restricted Payments, plus net cash payment of taxes to
the extent included in the calculation of EBITDA, in each case (other than in the case of scheduled repayments of principal on Debt) for the four fiscal quarter
period ending on such date or, if such date is not the last day of a fiscal quarter, for the immediately preceding four fiscal quarter period.

     “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States consistently applied, in effect from time to time.

     “Geon Notes” means the 6.875% Medium Term Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $75,000,000 due December 15, 2005, issued by The Geon
Company.

     “Governmental Authority” means any nation, sovereign or government, any state or other political subdivision thereof and any entity exercising executive,
legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government, including any central bank.

     “Indemnified Amounts” has the meaning specified in Section 10.01.

     “Indemnified Party” means any or all of the Purchasers, the Assignees, each of the Issuing Banks and the Agent and their respective Affiliates and
successors and assigns and their respective officers, directors, managers, managing members, partners and employees.

     “Intercreditor Agreement” means the intercreditor agreement, dated May 6, 2003, between the Agent, Citicorp USA, Inc, as agent for the lenders under the
Revolving Credit Agreement, U.S. Bank Trust National Association, not in its individual capacity but solely as corporate trustee (the “Corporate Trustee”)
and Angelita Pena, as individual collateral trustee for the lenders under the Revolving Credit Agreement and the other secured holders.
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     “Investment” in any Person means any loan or advance to such Person, any purchase or other acquisition of any capital stock or other ownership or profit
interest, warrants, rights, options, obligations or other securities of such Person, any capital contribution to such Person or any other investment in such
Person.

     “Issue” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, to issue, extend the expiry of, renew or increase the maximum face amount (including by deleting or
reducing any scheduled decrease in such maximum face amount) of, such Letter of Credit. The terms “Issued” and “Issuance” shall have a corresponding
meaning.

     “L/C Fee” has the meaning specified in Section 2.11.

     “L/C Issuance Fee” has the meaning specified in Section 2.11.

     “L/C Issuance Fee Rate” means 0.25% per annum.

     “Letter of Credit” means any letter of credit Issued or deemed Issued pursuant to Section 2.04.

     “Letter of Credit Obligations” means, at any time, the aggregate of all liabilities at such time of the Seller to the Issuing Banks with respect to Letters of
Credit, whether or not any such liability is contingent.

     “Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement” has the meaning specified in Section 2.04.

     “Letter of Credit Request” has the meaning specified in Section 2.04.

     “Letter of Credit Sublimit” means the lesser of (i) $40,000,000 or (ii) the maximum amount, that when added to all other applicable indebtedness of
PolyOne and its Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, any Indebtedness as defined in the Indenture(s) governing the Geon Notes), would not require
PolyOne or any of its Subsidiaries to provide collateral to secure any existing or future indebtedness of PolyOne or such Subsidiary.

     “Letter of Credit Undrawn Amounts” means, at any time, the aggregate undrawn face amount of all Letters of Credit outstanding at such time.

     “LIBO Rate” means, with respect to any Yield Period for any Capital Investment made at the Citicorp LIBO Rate, the rate determined by the Agent to be
the offered rate for deposits in Dollars for the applicable Yield Period appearing on the MoneyLine Telerate Page 3750 as of 11:00 a.m., London time, on the
second full Business Day next preceding the first day of each Yield Period. In the event that such rate does not appear on the MoneyLine Telerate Page 3750
(or otherwise on the MoneyLine screen), the LIBO Rate for the purposes of this definition shall be determined by reference to such other comparable publicly
available service for displaying eurodollar rates as may be selected by the Agent, or, in the absence of such availability the LIBO Rate shall be the rate of
interest determined by the Agent to be the rate per annum at which deposits in Dollars are offered by the principal office of CNA in London to major banks in
the London interbank market at 11:00 a.m. (London time) 2 Business Days before the first day of such Yield Period in an amount substantially equal to the
Capital Investment of CNA for a period equal to such Yield Period.

     “Liquidation Cost” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12.
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     “Liquidation Day” means, for any Receivable Interest, each day which occurs on or after the Termination Date.

     “Lock-Box Account” means a Deposit Account (including, without limitation, any concentration account) maintained at a Lock-Box Bank for the purpose
of receiving Collections and subject to a valid Lock-Box Agreement.

     “Lock-Box Agreement” means an agreement, in substantially the form of Exhibit C hereto (with such modifications thereto as consented to by the Agent),
between any Originator or the Seller, as the case may be, the Agent, and a Lock-Box Bank.

     “Lock-Box Bank” means any of the banks specified on Schedule I hereof and any other bank specified as a “Lock-Box Bank” in accordance with this
Agreement, in each case holding one or more Lock-Box Accounts.

     “MA Hanna Notes” means, collectively, the following:

     (i) the 7.70% Medium Term Notes due June 26, 2006, issued by M.A. Hanna Company; and

     (ii) the 6.740% Medium Term Notes due September 22, 2005, issued by M.A. Hanna Company.

     “Material Adverse Change” means a material adverse change in any of (a) the condition (financial or otherwise), business, performance, prospects,
operations, contingent liabilities, material obligations, or properties of the Seller, PolyOne, any Originator, or PolyOne and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole,
(b) the collectibility of the Pool Receivables, or the ability of the Servicer (if PolyOne or any of its Affiliates) to collect Pool Receivables, (c) the legality,
validity or enforceability of any Transaction Document, (d) the ability of the Seller, the Servicer, PolyOne or any Subsidiaries of PolyOne to perform their
respective obligations under the Transaction Documents or (e) the rights and remedies of the Seller, Agent, the Purchasers or the Issuing Banks under the
Transaction Documents.

     “Material Adverse Effect” means an effect that results in or causes, or could reasonably be expected to result in or cause, a Material Adverse Change.

     “Multiemployer Plan” means a multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA, to which the Seller or any ERISA Affiliate is making or
accruing an obligation to make contributions, or has within any of the preceding five plan years made or accrued an obligation to make contributions.

     “Multiple Employer Plan” means a single employer plan, as defined in Section 4001(a)(15) of ERISA, that (a) is maintained for employees of the Seller or
any ERISA Affiliate and at least one Person other than the Seller and the ERISA Affiliates or (b) was so maintained and in respect of which the Seller or any
ERISA Affiliate could have liability under Section 4064 or 4069 of ERISA in the event such plan has been or were to be terminated.

     “Net Receivables Pool Balance” means at any time the Outstanding Balance of the Eligible Receivables in the Receivables Pool as at such time reduced by
Unapplied Cash and Credits, volume rebates, credits in past due, offsets and other dilution and such other reductions as the Agent in its sole discretion deems
appropriate.

     “Notice of Conversion or Continuation” has the meaning specified in Section 2.16(a).
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     “Notice of Purchase” has the meaning specified in Section 2.02(a).

     “Obligor” means a Person obligated to make payments pursuant to a Contract.

     “Original Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recital of parties hereto.

     “Original Receivables Sale Agreement” means that certain Receivables Sale Agreement, dated as of May 26, 2003 (as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified prior to the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date), among each Originator, the Seller and PolyOne as the Buyer’s Servicer
thereunder.

     “Originator” means PolyOne, PEFI, and such other of PolyOne’s wholly owned Subsidiaries as determined from time to time by PolyOne and consented
to in writing by the Agent; provided, however, that any Originator shall cease to be an Originator upon (i) the occurrence of any event set forth in
Section 7.01(f) as to such Originator, (ii) PolyOne, one or more direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiaries of PolyOne, or a corporation owned directly or
indirectly by the stockholders of PolyOne in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of PolyOne ceasing to own, directly or indirectly,
100% of the Equity Interests of such Originator, or (iii) 3 Business Days’ notice to such effect by the Agent (with the consent or at the request of the Required
Purchasers) to the Seller following the occurrence of any Event of Termination as to such Originator; provided, however, that such Originator shall continue
to be an Originator for purposes of all Pool Receivables existing, and in which interests have been created hereunder, prior to the occurrence of any event set
forth in clauses (i) through (iii) in the preceding proviso (and all terms and conditions of all Transaction Documents to which such Originator is a party shall
remain binding on such Originator generally and specifically with respect to such Pool Receivables until no such Pool Receivables remain outstanding and
such Originator shall have satisfied in full all of its obligations under the Transaction Documents).

     “Other Taxes” has the meaning specified in Section 2.14(b).

     “Outstanding Balance” of any Receivable at any time means the then outstanding principal balance thereof.

     “Owner” means, in respect of each Receivable Interest, upon its purchase by any of the Purchasers or the Swing Purchaser, as the case may be, the
purchaser thereof; provided, however, that, upon any assignment thereof pursuant to Article IX, the Assignee thereof shall be an Owner thereof.

     “PEFI” means PolyOne Engineered Films, Inc., a Virginia corporation and a wholly owned Subsidiary of PolyOne.

     “Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation (including a business trust), limited liability company, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated
association, joint venture or other entity, or a government or any political subdivision or agency thereof.

     “Plan” means a Single Employer Plan or a Multiple Employer Plan.

     “Pool Receivable” means a Receivable in the Receivables Pool.

     “Potential Event of Termination” means any event that, with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would constitute an Event of Termination.
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     “Purchase” means a purchase by the Purchasers or the Swing Purchaser of a Receivable Interest from the Seller pursuant to Article II.

     “Purchasers” means the Initial Purchasers and each Assignee that shall become a party hereto pursuant to Section 9.01.

     “Receivable” means the indebtedness (whether constituting accounts or general intangibles or chattel paper or otherwise) of any Obligor under a Contract,
and includes the right to payment of any interest or finance charges and other obligations of such Obligor with respect thereto.

     “Receivable Interest” means, at any time, an undivided percentage ownership interest at such time in (a) all then outstanding Pool Receivables arising prior
to the time of the most recent computation or recomputation of such undivided percentage interest pursuant to Section 2.06, (b) all Related Security with
respect to such Pool Receivables and (c) all Collections with respect to, and other proceeds of, such Pool Receivables. Such undivided percentage interest for
such Receivable Interest shall be computed as:

C + AR
NRPB

where:

C = the outstanding Capital Investment made in connection with such Receivable Interest at the time of such computation;

AR = the aggregate Applicable Reserve at the time of such computation;

NRPB = the Net Receivables Pool Balance at the time of such computation;

provided, however, that upon the occurrence of any Termination Date that results from the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Termination pursuant to
Section 7.01 (such Termination Date being the “Special Termination Date”), the Receivable Interests then outstanding under this Agreement, if more than one
Receivable Interest, shall be combined into one Receivable Interest hereunder (such one Receivable Interest, whether the one Receivable Interest then
outstanding or the one Receivable Interest resulting from such combination of Receivable Interests, being the “Special Receivable Interest”) and such Special
Receivable Interest shall then be recomputed to be, and shall be fixed at all times thereafter at, an undivided percentage ownership interest of one hundred
percent (100%) in (i) all then outstanding Pool Receivables arising prior to the Special Termination Date, (ii) all Related Security with respect to such Pool
Receivables and (iii) all Collections with respect to, and other proceeds of, such Pool Receivables.

Each Receivable Interest shall be determined from time to time pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.06.

     “Receivables Excess Availability” means Available Capital plus cash proceeds of Pool Receivables in a Deposit Account in the Agent’s name.

     “Receivables Pool” means at any time the aggregation of each then outstanding Receivable in respect of which the Obligor is a Designated Obligor or, as
to any Receivable in existence on such date, was a Designated Obligor on the date of the initial creation of an interest in such Receivable under this
Agreement.

     “Receivables Report” means a report, in substantially the form of Exhibit B-2 hereto, furnished by the Servicer to the Agent for the Owners pursuant to
Section 2.09.
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     “Records” means, with respect to any Receivable, all Contracts and other documents, books, records and other information (including, without limitation,
computer programs, tapes, disks, punch cards, data processing software and related property and rights) relating to such Receivable and the related Obligor.

     “Register” has the meaning specified in Section 9.01(c).

     “Reimbursement Date” has the meaning specified in Section 2.04(h).

     “Reimbursement Obligations” means all matured reimbursement or repayment obligations of the Seller to the Issuing Banks with respect to amounts
drawn under Letters of Credit.

     “Related Security” means with respect to any Receivable:

     (i) all of the Seller’s interest in the goods (including returned goods), if any, relating to the sale which gave rise to such Receivable;

     (ii) all other security interests or liens and property subject thereto from time to time purporting to secure payment of such Receivable, whether
pursuant to the Contract related to such Receivable or otherwise, together with all financing statements signed by an Obligor describing any collateral
securing such Receivable;

     (iii) all letter of credit rights, guarantees, insurance and other agreements or arrangements of whatever character from time to time supporting or
securing payment of such Receivable, whether pursuant to the Contract related to such Receivable or otherwise;

     (iv) all Records relating to such Receivable;

     (v) all of the Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the following: the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, including, without
limitation, (i) all rights to receive moneys due and to become due under or pursuant to the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, (ii) all
rights to receive proceeds of any indemnity, warranty or guaranty with respect to the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, (iii) claims for
damages arising out of or for breach of or default under the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, and (iv) the right to perform under the
Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement and to compel performance and otherwise exercise all remedies thereunder; and

     (vi) all proceeds of any and all of the foregoing (including, without limitation, proceeds which constitute property of the types described in clause
(v) above).

     “Required Net Receivables Pool Balance” means, at any time, the sum of (i) the aggregate outstanding Capital at such time plus (ii) the Letter of Credit
Undrawn Amounts at such time plus (iii) the aggregate Applicable Reserve at such time.

     “Required Purchasers” means at any time Purchasers holding more than 50% of the aggregate Commitments of the Purchasers.

     “Requirement of Law” means, with respect to any Person, the common law and all federal, state, local and foreign laws, rules and regulations, orders,
judgments, decrees and other determinations of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator, applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its property or
to which such Person or any of its property is subject.
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     “Reserve Percentage” means 15%, provided that the Reserve Percentage may, upon at least one Business Day’s notice by the Agent to the Seller and the
Servicer, be increased or decreased by the Agent at any time and in its discretion in accordance with its then current credit guidelines and provided, further,
that the Reserve Percentage may not be decreased to less than 15% by the Agent at any time except with the written consent or at the written request of all of
the Purchasers in accordance with Section 11.01.

     “Responsible Officer” means, with respect to any Person, the chief executive officer, the president, the chief financial officer, vice president, corporate
controller, treasurer, assistant treasurer, secretary, assistant secretary, managing members or general partners of such Person but, in any event, with respect to
financial matters, the chief financial officer, treasurer or controller of such Person.

     “Restricted Payment” means, with respect to the Servicer, (a) any dividend, distribution or any other payment whether direct or indirect, on account of any
Stock or Stock Equivalent of the Servicer now or hereafter outstanding (other than dividends or distributions payable solely in common Stock of the Servicer)
and (b) any redemption, retirement, sinking fund or similar payment, purchase or other acquisition for value, direct or indirect, of any Stock or Stock
Equivalent of the Servicer now or hereafter outstanding.

     “Revolving Credit Agreement” means the amended and restated credit agreement, dated May 6, 2003, between PolyOne Corporation and Citicorp USA
Inc., as administrative agent and the financial institutions party thereto as lenders and under which the aggregate commitments of the lenders do not exceed
$50,000,000 and the maturity date is not earlier than May 6, 2006, as such agreement may be amended, restated or otherwise modified with the prior written
consent of the Agent (except for modifications that do not materially adversely affect the interests of the Purchasers under the Transaction Documents or in
the Receivables with respect to which no written consent shall be required).

     “Seller Report” means a report, in substantially the form of Exhibit B-1 hereto, furnished by the Servicer to the Agent for each Owner pursuant to
Section 2.09.

     “Seller’s Account” means the Deposit Account of the Seller (account number 104-9893) maintained with Mellon Financial Corporation at its office at 500
Ross Street, Room 154-0490, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15262-0001, Attention: Tim Friday.

     “Senior Note Indenture” means the Indenture, dated as of May 6, 2003, between PolyOne Corporation and The Bank of New York, as Trustee governing
the 10 5/8% Senior Notes, as such indenture may be amended, restated or otherwise modified with the prior written consent of the Agent (except for
modifications that do not materially adversely affect the interests of the Purchasers under the Transaction Documents or in the Receivables with respect to
which no written consent shall be required).

     “Servicer” has the meaning specified in Section 6.01.

     “Servicer Fee” has the meaning specified in Section 2.11.

     “Single Employer Plan” means a single employer plan, as defined in Section 4001(a) (15) of ERISA, that (a) is maintained for employees of the Seller or
any ERISA Affiliate and no Person other than the Seller and the ERISA Affiliates or (b) was so maintained and in respect of which the Seller or any ERISA
Affiliate could have liability under Section 4069 of ERISA in the event such plan has been or were to be terminated.

     “Solvent” means, with respect to any Person as of any date of determination, that, as of such date, (a) the value of the assets of such Person (both at fair
value and present fair saleable value) is greater than

18



 

the total amount of liabilities (including contingent and unliquidated liabilities) of such Person, (b) such Person is able to pay all liabilities of such Person as
such liabilities mature and (c) such Person does not have unreasonably small capital. In computing the amount of contingent or unliquidated liabilities at any
time, such liabilities shall be computed at the amount that, in light of all the facts and circumstances existing at such time, represents the amount that can
reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured liability.

     “Special Receivable Interest” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Receivable Interest” contained in this Section 1.01.

     “Special Termination Date” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Receivable Interest” contained in this Section 1.01.

     “Standby Letter of Credit” means any Letter of Credit that is not a Documentary Letter of Credit.

     “Stock” means shares of capital stock (whether denominated as common stock or preferred stock), beneficial, partnership or membership interests,
participations or other equivalents (regardless of how designated) of or in a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or equivalent entity, whether
voting or non-voting.

     “Stock Equivalents” means all securities convertible into or exchangeable for Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to purchase or subscribe for
any Stock, whether or not presently convertible, exchangeable or exercisable.

     “Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other business entity of which an aggregate of
more than 50% of the Voting Interests is, at the time, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by such Person or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person.

     “Super-Majority Purchasers” means at any time Purchasers holding at least 80% of the aggregate Commitments of the Purchasers.

     “Swing Purchase” has the meaning specified in Section 2.03.

     “Swing Purchase Request” has the meaning specified in Section 2.03(b).

     “Swing Purchase Sublimit” means $25,000,000.

     “Swing Purchaser” means Citicorp or any other Purchaser that becomes the Agent or agrees, with the approval of the Agent and the Seller, to act as the
Swing Purchaser hereunder, in each case in its capacity as the Swing Purchaser hereunder.

     “Taxes” has the meaning specified in Section 2.14(a).

     “10 5/8% Senior Notes” means the 10 5/8% Senior Notes due May 6, 2010 issued by PolyOne.

     “Termination Date” means the earlier of (i) the Amended and Restated Commitment Termination Date, and (ii) the date of termination in whole of the
aggregate Commitments pursuant to Section 2.05 or 7.01.
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     “Total Commitment” means $175,000,000 as such amount may be reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.05.

     “Total Excess Availability” means the sum of (i) Receivables Excess Availability plus (ii) the total amount actually available to be borrowed by PolyOne
and its Subsidiaries, or any of them, under the Revolving Credit Agreement, and after the Revolving Credit Agreement has been terminated and all
obligations thereunder paid and satisfied in full, any refinancing, replacement or substitution for the working capital facility under the Revolving Credit
Agreement, whether entered into at or after termination thereof.

     “Transaction Documents” means this Agreement, the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, the Amended and Restated Subordinated
Notes, the Amended and Restated Parent Undertaking, the Lock-Box Agreements, the Amended and Restated Consent and Agreement, the Amended and
Restated Fee Letter, the Intercreditor Agreement, and each certificate, agreement or document executed by the Seller, the Servicer, or an Originator and
delivered to the Agent or any Purchaser in connection with or pursuant to any of the foregoing.

     “UCC” means, at any time, the Uniform Commercial Code as from time to time in effect in the State of New York at such time; provided, however, that in
the event that, by reason of mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the interests of the Agent or the Purchasers under any Transaction Document is
governed by the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in a jurisdiction other than the State of New York, the term “UCC” shall mean the Uniform
Commercial Code as in effect in such other jurisdiction for purposes of the provisions hereof relating to such attachment, perfection or priority and for
purposes of definitions related to such provisions, regardless of whether the same would be so shown.

     “Unapplied Cash and Credits” means, at any time, the aggregate amount of Collections or other cash or credits then held by or for the account of the
Servicer, any Originator or the Seller in respect of the payment of Pool Receivables, but not yet applied or reinvested pursuant to Section 2.07 or applied
pursuant to Section 2.08.

     “United States” and “U.S.” each means United States of America.

     “Unused Commitment” means, with respect to any Purchaser at any time, (a) such Purchaser’s Commitment at such time minus (b) that aggregate
outstanding Capital of Receivable Interests paid by such Purchaser pursuant to Section 2.02 and not reduced by Collections received and distributed to such
Purchaser on account of such Capital pursuant to Section 2.07 or 2.08.

     “Unused Commitment Fee” has the meaning specified in Section 2.11.

     “Unused Commitment Fee Rate” means(i) for an initial period commencing on the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date and ending on the first day
of the month immediately following the month in which the Servicer delivers PolyOne’s financial statements for the Fiscal Period ending September 30,
2005, 0.375% per annum, and (ii) thereafter, as of any date of determination, a per annum rate equal to the rate set forth below opposite the then applicable
Average Monthly Excess Availability (determined on the last day of the most recently concluded calendar month for which financial statements have been
delivered):
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Average Monthly Excess Availability  Unused Commitment Fee Rate
Greater than $120,000,000   0.500%
Less than or equal to $120,000,00 and greater than $60,000,000   0.375%
Less than or equal to $60,000,000   0.250%

provided, however, that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Termination, the “Unused Commitment Fee Rate” shall be the highest
rate set forth in the table above. Changes in the Unused Commitment Fee Rate resulting from a change in the Average Monthly Excess Availability for any
month shall become effective on the first day of the next consecutive calendar month.

     “U.S. Dollars” and “$” each means the lawful currency of the United States.

     “Voting Interests” means shares of capital stock issued by a corporation, or equivalent Equity Interests in any other Person, the holders of which are
ordinarily, in the absence of contingencies, entitled to vote for the election of directors (or persons performing similar functions) of such Person, even if the
right so to vote has been suspended by the happening of such a contingency.

     “Welfare Plan” means a welfare plan, as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA.

     “Yield” means (a) for each Capital Investment made at the Citicorp LIBO Rate, for any Yield Period:
         
  CR x C x ED  + LC
   360     

     where:
       
  CR = the Citicorp LIBO Rate for such Capital Investment for such Yield Period;
       
  C  = the amount of such Capital Investment;
       
  ED = the actual number of days elapsed during such Yield Period; and
       
  LC = all Liquidation Costs, if any, for such Receivable Interest for such Yield Period; and
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     (b) for each Capital Investment made at the Citicorp Base Rate for any period of time:
     
  CR x C x ED
   360 

     where:
       
  CR = the Citicorp Base Rate from time to time;
       
  C  = the amount of such Capital Investment; and
       
  ED = the actual number of days elapsed;

provided, that no provision of this Agreement shall require the payment or permit the collection of Yield in excess of the maximum permitted by applicable
law; provided, further, that Yield for any Capital Investment shall not be considered paid by any distribution to the extent that at any time all or a portion of
such distribution is rescinded or must otherwise be returned for any reason.

     “Yield Payment Date” means, (a) in respect of Capital Investments made at the Citicorp Base Rate (including but not limited to the Swing Purchases)
(i) the first Business Day of each calendar month, commencing on the first such day following the making of such Capital Investment and (ii) if not
previously paid in full, on the Termination Date, (b) in respect of Capital Investments made at the Citicorp LIBO Rate, (i) the last day of each Yield Period
applicable to such Capital Investment and, if such Yield Period has a duration of more than one month, on each day during such Yield Period occurring every
month from the first day of such Yield Period, (ii) upon the payment or prepayment thereof in full or in part and (iii) if not previously paid in full, on the
Termination Date, (c) in respect of the Unused Commitment Fee and the L/C Fees, (i) the first Business Day of each calendar month and (ii) if not previously
paid in full, on the Termination Date, and (d) with respect to all other obligations of the Seller hereunder, on demand by the Agent from and after the time
such obligation becomes due and payable (whether by acceleration or otherwise).

     “Yield Period” means, in the case of any Capital Investment made at the Adjusted LIBO Rate, (a) initially, the period commencing on the date such Capital
Investment is made or on the date of conversion of a Capital Investment made at the Alternate Base Rate to a Capital Investment made at the Adjusted LIBO
Rate and ending one, two, or three months thereafter, as selected by the Seller in its Notice of Purchase and (b) thereafter, if such Capital Investment is
continued, in whole or in part, as a Capital Investment made at the Adjusted LIBO Rate, a period commencing on the last day of the immediately preceding
Yield Period therefor and ending one, two, or three months thereafter, as selected by the Seller in its Notice of Conversion or Continuation given to the Agent;
provided, however, that all of the foregoing provisions relating to Yield Periods in respect of Capital Investment made at the Adjusted LIBO Rates are subject
to the following:

     (i) if any Yield Period would otherwise end on a day that is not a Business Day, such Yield Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business
Day, unless the result of such extension would be to extend such Yield Period into another calendar month, in which event such Yield Period shall end on
the immediately preceding Business Day;

     (ii) any Yield Period that begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the
calendar month at the end of such Yield Period) shall end on the last Business Day of a calendar month;
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     (iii) the Seller may not select any Yield Period that ends after the Amended and Restated Commitment Termination Date; and

     (iv) there shall be outstanding at any one time no more than 7 Yield Periods in the aggregate.

     Section 1.02. Other Terms.

     All accounting terms not specifically defined herein shall be construed in accordance with GAAP. All terms used in Article 9 of the UCC in the State of
New York and not specifically defined herein are used herein as defined in such Article 9.

     Section 1.03. Computation of Time Periods.

     Unless otherwise stated in this Agreement, in the computation of a period of time from a specified date to a later specified date, the word “from” means
“from and including” and the words “to” and “until” each means “to but excluding”.

ARTICLE II

AMOUNTS AND TERMS OF THE PURCHASES

     Section 2.01. Commitment.

     (a) On the terms and conditions herein set forth, each Purchaser severally agrees to make Purchases (i) on the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date
and from time to time thereafter on any Business Day during the period from the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date to the Termination Date and
(ii) in an aggregate amount for such Purchaser not to exceed at any time outstanding such Purchaser’s Commitment; provided, however, that no Purchaser
shall be obligated to make any Purchase if, after giving effect to such Purchase, (A) the sum of (x) the Capital then outstanding plus (y) the Letter of Credit
Undrawn Amounts, would exceed (B) the lesser of (x) the Total Commitment and (y)(i) the Net Receivables Pool Balance minus (ii) the Applicable Reserve.
Purchases shall be made by the Purchasers simultaneously and ratably in accordance with their respective Commitments.

     (b) On the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the Agent on behalf of the Owners of each Receivable Interest shall, at the request of the Seller, have
the Collections attributable to such Receivable Interest reinvested pursuant to Section 2.07 in additional undivided percentage interests in the Pool
Receivables by making an appropriate adjustment of such Receivable Interest.

     Section 2.02. Making Purchases.

     (a) Each Purchase of a Receivable Interest by the Purchasers shall be made on notice from the Seller to the Agent, given not later than 11:00 a.m. (New
York City time) (i) on the third Business Day before the date of such Purchase in the case of the Purchase of any Receivable Interest initially bearing Yield at
the Citicorp LIBO Rate and (ii) on the Business Day before the date of such Purchase in the case of the Purchase of any Receivable Interest initially bearing
Yield at the Citicorp Base Rate. Each such notice of a proposed Purchase of a Receivable Interest (a “Notice of Purchase”) shall be by telephone (confirmed
promptly thereafter in writing) or facsimile, in substantially the form of Exhibit F hereto, and shall specify the requested aggregate amount of such Purchase
to be paid to the Seller and the requested Business Day of such Purchase. Each Purchase of any Receivable Interest initially bearing Yield at the Citicorp
LIBO Rate shall be in an aggregate amount of not less than $10,000,000 or an
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integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof and each Purchase of any Receivable Interest initially bearing Yield at the Citicorp Base Rate shall be in an
aggregate amount of not less than $1,000,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof.

     (b) The Agent shall give each Purchaser prompt notice of such notice of such proposed Purchase, the date of such Purchase, and the amount of Capital to
be paid by such Purchaser in connection with such Purchase, by telephone or telefax. On the date of such Purchase, each Purchaser shall, upon satisfaction of
the applicable conditions set forth in Article III, make available to the Agent its ratable share of the aggregate amount of such Purchase by deposit of such
ratable share in same day funds to the Agent’s Account, and, after receipt by the Agent of such funds, the Agent shall cause such funds to be made
immediately available to the Seller at the Seller’s Account.

     (c) Each Notice of Purchase delivered pursuant to Section 2.02(a) shall be irrevocable and binding on the Seller. The Seller shall indemnify each Purchaser
against any actual loss or expense incurred by such Purchaser as a result of any failure to fulfill on or before the date of any proposed Purchase (as to which a
Notice of Purchase has been given pursuant to Section 2.02(a)) the applicable conditions set forth in Article III, including, without limitation, any actual loss
or expense incurred by reason of the liquidation or reemployment of deposits or other funds acquired by such Purchaser to fund its ratable portion of such
proposed Purchase when such Purchase, as a result of such failure, is not made on such date.

     (d) Unless the Agent shall have received notice from a Purchaser prior to the date of any Purchase that such Purchaser will not make available to the Agent
such Purchaser’s ratable portion of such Purchase, the Agent may assume that such Purchaser has made such portion available to the Agent on the date of
such Purchase in accordance with Section 2.02(b), and the Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to the Seller on such date a
corresponding amount. However, if the Agent has received such notice from such Purchaser, the Agent may not make such assumption and may not make
available to the Seller on such date such corresponding amount. If and to the extent that such Purchaser (other than a Purchaser that has delivered to the Agent
a notice of the type described in the two immediately preceding sentences) shall not have made such ratable portion available to the Agent and the Agent has
made such ratable portion available to the Seller, such Purchaser and the Seller severally agree to pay (to the extent not repaid by the Seller or such Purchaser,
respectively) to the Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount together with interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount is made
available to the Seller until the date such amount is repaid to the Agent, at (i) in the case of the Seller, the Yield applicable to such amount and (ii) in the case
of such Purchaser, the Federal Funds Rate. If such Purchaser shall repay to the Agent such corresponding amount, such amount so repaid shall constitute such
Purchaser’s ratable portion of such Purchase for purposes of this Agreement.

     (e) The failure of any Purchaser to make available such Purchaser’s ratable portion of any Purchase shall not relieve any other Purchaser of its obligation,
if any, hereunder to make available such other Purchaser’s ratable portion of such Purchase on the date of such Purchase, but no Purchaser shall be
responsible for the failure of any other Purchaser to make available such other Purchaser’s ratable portion of such Purchase on the date of any Purchase.
Nothing herein shall prejudice any rights that the Seller may have against any Purchaser as a result of any default by such Purchaser hereunder.

     Section 2.03. Swing Purchases

     (a) On the terms and subject to the conditions contained in this Agreement, the Swing Purchaser may, in its sole discretion, make, in U.S. Dollars,
Purchases (each a “Swing Purchase”) otherwise committed to the Seller hereunder from time to time on any Business Day during the period from the date
hereof until the Termination Date in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding
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(together with the aggregate outstanding principal amount of any other Purchase made by the Swing Purchaser hereunder in its capacity as the Swing
Purchaser) not to exceed the Swing Purchase Sublimit; provided, however, that at no time shall the Swing Purchaser make any Swing Purchase to the extent
that, after giving effect to such Swing Purchase, (A) the sum of (x) the Capital then outstanding plus (y) the Letter of Credit Undrawn Amounts, would exceed
(B) the lesser of (x) the Total Commitment and (y)(i) the Net Receivables Pool Balance minus (ii) the Applicable Reserve.

     (b) In order to request a Swing Purchase, the Seller shall telecopy (or forward by electronic mail or similar means) to the Agent a duly completed request
in substantially the form of Exhibit G, setting forth the requested amount and date of such Swing Purchase (a “Swing Purchase Request”), to be received by
the Agent not later than 12:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the day of the proposed purchase. The Agent shall promptly notify the Swing Purchaser of the
details of the requested Swing Purchase. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Swing Purchaser may make the Capital Investment in connection with
such Swing Purchase available to the Agent and, in turn, the Agent shall make such amounts available to the Seller on the date of the relevant Swing Purchase
Request. The Swing Purchaser shall not make any Swing Purchase in the period commencing on the first Business Day after it receives written notice from
the Agent or any Purchaser that one or more of the conditions precedent contained in Section 3.02 shall not on such date be satisfied, and ending when such
conditions are satisfied. The Swing Purchaser shall not otherwise be required to determine that, or take notice whether, the conditions precedent set forth in
Section 3.02 have been satisfied in connection with the making of any Swing Purchase. Each Swing Purchase shall be in an aggregate amount of not less than
$100,000.

     (c) The Swing Purchaser shall notify the Agent in writing (which writing may be a telecopy or electronic mail) weekly, by no later than 10:00 a.m. (New
York City time) on the first Business Day of each week, of the aggregate principal amount of its Capital Investment in connection with Swing Purchases.

     (d) The Swing Purchaser may demand at any time that each Purchaser pay to the Agent, for the account of the Swing Purchaser, in the manner provided in
clause (e) below, such Purchaser’s ratable portion of all or a portion of the Swing Purchaser’s Capital outstanding in connection with Swing Purchases, which
demand shall be made through the Agent, shall be in writing and shall specify the outstanding principal amount of the Capital demanded to be so reduced.

     (e) The Agent shall forward each notice referred to in clause (c) above and each demand referred to in clause (d) above to each Purchaser on the day such
notice or such demand is received by the Agent (except that any such notice or demand received by the Agent after 2:00 p.m. (New York City time) on any
Business Day or any such demand received on a day that is not a Business Day shall not be required to be forwarded to the Purchasers by the Agent until the
next succeeding Business Day), together with a statement prepared by the Agent specifying the amount of each Purchaser’s ratable portion of the aggregate
principal amount of the Capital in connection with Swing Purchases stated to be outstanding in such notice or demanded to be paid pursuant to such demand,
and, notwithstanding whether or not the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.02 and 2.01 shall have been satisfied (which conditions precedent the
Purchasers hereby irrevocably waive), each Purchaser shall, before 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the Business Day next succeeding the date of such
Purchaser’s receipt of such notice or demand, make available to the Agent, in immediately available funds, for the account of the Swing Purchaser, the
amount specified in such statement; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, no Purchaser shall be obligated to
purchase a ratable portion of, or otherwise pay any sum in respect of, a Swing Purchase if the purchase by such Purchaser of a ratable portion of, or payment
of other sum in respect of, such Swing Purchase would cause such Purchaser’s aggregate Capital Investment to exceed its Commitment. Upon such purchase
by a Purchaser, such Purchaser shall, except as provided in clause (f), be deemed to have made a Purchase with a Capital
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Investment equal to the amount actually paid by such Purchaser. The Agent shall use such funds to reduce the Swing Purchaser’s Capital in respect of Swing
Purchases.

     (f) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Termination under Section 7.01(f), each Purchaser shall acquire, without recourse or warranty, an undivided
participation in each Swing Purchase otherwise required to be repaid by such Purchaser pursuant to clause (e) above, which participation shall be in a
principal amount equal to such Purchaser’s Receivable Interest in such Swing Purchase, by paying to the Swing Purchaser on the date on which such
Purchaser would otherwise have been required to make a payment in respect of such Swing Purchase pursuant to clause (e) above, in immediately available
funds, an amount equal to such Purchaser’s Receivable Interest of such Swing Purchase. If all or part of such amount is not in fact made available by such
Purchaser to the Swing Purchaser on such date, the Swing Purchaser shall be entitled to recover any such unpaid amount on demand from such Purchaser
together with interest accrued from such date at the Federal Funds Rate for the first Business Day after such payment was due and thereafter at the Citicorp
Base Rate.

     (g) From and after the date on which any Purchaser (i) is deemed to have made a Purchase pursuant to clause (e) above with respect to any Swing Purchase
or (ii) purchases an undivided participation interest in a Swing Purchase pursuant to clause (f) above, the Swing Purchaser shall promptly distribute to such
Purchaser such Purchaser’s Receivable Interest of all payments of principal of and interest received by the Swing Purchaser on account of such Swing
Purchase other than those received from a Purchaser pursuant to clause (e) or (f) above.

     Section 2.04. Letters of Credit

     (a) On the terms and subject to the conditions contained in this Agreement, each Issuing Bank agrees to Issue, at the request of the Seller, and in favor of
the beneficiaries requested by the Seller, one or more Letters of Credit from time to time on any Business Day during the period from the Amendment and
Restatement Effective Date and to and including the earlier of the Termination Date and 30 days prior to the Amended and Restated Commitment
Termination Date; provided, however, that no Issuing Bank shall be under any obligation to Issue any Letter of Credit upon the occurrence of any of the
following:

     (i) any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator shall purport by its terms to enjoin or restrain such Issuing Bank from
Issuing such Letter of Credit or any Requirement of Law applicable to such Issuing Bank or any request or directive (whether or not having the force of
law) from any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over such Issuing Bank shall prohibit, or request that such Issuing Bank refrains from, the
Issuance of letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall impose upon such Issuing Bank with respect to such Letter of Credit
any restriction or reserve or capital requirement (for which such Issuing Bank is not otherwise compensated) not in effect on the date of this Agreement
or result in any unreimbursed loss, cost or expense that was not applicable, in effect or known to such Issuing Bank as of the date of this Agreement and
that such Issuing Bank in good faith deems material to it;

     (ii) such Issuing Bank shall have received any written notice of the type described in clause (d) below;

     (iii) after giving effect to the Issuance of such Letter of Credit, the aggregate Capital plus the aggregate Letter of Credit Undrawn Amounts at such
time would exceed the lesser of (a) the Total Commitment and (b)(i) the Net Receivables Pool Balance minus (ii) the Applicable Reserve;
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     (iv) after giving effect to the Issuance of such Letter of Credit, the sum of (i) the Letter of Credit Undrawn Amounts at such time and (ii) the
Reimbursement Obligations at such time would exceed the Letter of Credit Sublimit;

     (v) any fees due in connection with a requested Issuance have not been paid;

     (vi) such Letter of Credit is requested to be Issued in a form that is not acceptable to such Issuing Bank; or

     (vii) such Letter of Credit is requested to be denominated in any currency other than U.S. Dollars.

None of the Purchasers (other than each Issuing Bank in its capacity as such) shall have any obligation to Issue any Letter of Credit.

     (b) In no event shall the expiration date of any Letter of Credit be more than one year after the date of issuance thereof; provided, however, that any Letter
of Credit with a one-year term may provide for the renewal thereof for additional one-year periods.

     (c) In connection with the Issuance of each Letter of Credit, the Seller shall give the applicable Issuing Bank and the Agent at least 3 Business Days’ prior
written notice, in substantially the form of Exhibit H (or in such other written or electronic form as is acceptable to the applicable Issuing Bank), of the
requested Issuance of such Letter of Credit (a “Letter of Credit Request”). Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the face amount of the Letter of
Credit requested, the date of Issuance of such requested Letter of Credit, the date on which such Letter of Credit is to expire (which date shall be a Business
Day) and the Person for whose benefit the requested Letter of Credit is to be issued. Such notice, to be effective, must be received by the applicable Issuing
Bank and the Agent not later than 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the third Business Day prior to the requested Issuance of such Letter of Credit.

     (d) Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in this Section 2.04, the applicable Issuing Bank shall, on the requested date, Issue a Letter of
Credit on behalf of the Seller (or any Affiliate of the Seller acceptable to the Agent in its sole discretion) in accordance with such Issuing Bank’s usual and
customary business practices. No Issuing Bank shall Issue any Letter of Credit in the period commencing on the first Business Day after it receives written
notice from any Purchaser that one or more of the conditions precedent contained in Section 3.02 shall not on such date be satisfied or duly waived and
ending when such conditions are satisfied or duly waived. The Issuing Banks shall not otherwise be required to determine that, or take notice whether, the
conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.02 have been satisfied in connection with the Issuance of any Letter of Credit.

     (e) If requested by the applicable Issuing Bank, prior to the issuance of each Letter of Credit by such Issuing Bank and as a condition of such Issuance and
of the participation of each Purchaser in the Letter of Credit Obligations arising with respect thereto, the Seller shall have delivered to the applicable Issuing
Bank a letter of credit reimbursement agreement, in such form as such Issuing Bank may employ in its ordinary course of business for its own account (a
“Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement”), signed by the Seller, and such other documents or items as may be required pursuant to the terms thereof. In
the event of any conflict between the terms of any Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement and this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall govern.

     (f) Each Issuing Bank shall:
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     (i) give the Agent written notice (or telephonic notice confirmed promptly thereafter in writing), which writing may be a telecopy or electronic mail,
of the Issuance or renewal of a Letter of Credit issued by it, of all drawings under a Letter of Credit issued by it and the payment (or the failure to pay
when due) by the Seller of any Reimbursement Obligation when due (each such notice the Agent shall promptly transmit by telecopy, electronic mail or
similar transmission to each Purchaser);

     (ii) upon the request of any Purchaser, furnish to such Purchaser copies of any Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement to which such Issuing
Bank is a party and such other documentation as may reasonably be requested by such Purchaser; and

     (iii) no later than 10 Business Days following the last day of each calendar month, provide to the Agent (and the Agent shall provide a copy to each
Purchaser requesting the same), a schedule for Letters of Credit issued by it, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, setting forth the
aggregate Letter of Credit Obligations outstanding at the end of each month and any information requested by the Seller or the Agent relating thereto.

     (g) Immediately upon the issuance by an Issuing Bank of a Letter of Credit in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, such Issuing
Bank shall be deemed to have sold and transferred to each Purchaser, and each Purchaser shall be deemed irrevocably and unconditionally to have purchased
and received from such Issuing Bank, without recourse or warranty, an undivided interest and participation, to the extent of such Purchaser’s ratable portion,
in such Letter of Credit and the obligations of the Seller with respect thereto (including all Letter of Credit Obligations with respect thereto) and any security
therefor and guaranty pertaining thereto.

     (h) If, and to the extent, any Reimbursement Obligations have not been repaid pursuant to Section 2.07 or 2.08, the Seller agrees to pay to the applicable
Issuing Bank the amount of all Reimbursement Obligations owing to such Issuing Bank under any Letter of Credit issued for its account or at its direction no
later than the date that is the next succeeding Business Day after the Seller receives written notice from such Issuing Bank that payment has been made under
such Letter of Credit (the “Reimbursement Date”), irrespective of any claim, set-off, defense or other right that the Seller may have at any time against such
Issuing Bank or any other Person. In the event that an Issuing Bank makes any payment under any Letter of Credit and the Seller shall not have repaid such
amount to such Issuing Bank pursuant to this Section 2.04(h) or any such payment by the Seller is rescinded or set aside for any reason, such Reimbursement
Obligation shall be payable on demand with interest thereon computed (i) from the date on which such Reimbursement Obligation arose to the
Reimbursement Date, at the rate of interest applicable during such period, with respect to past due Capital initially bearing Yield based on the Alternate Base
Rate and (ii) from the Reimbursement Date until the date of repayment in full, at the rate of interest applicable during such period, with respect to past due
Capital initially bearing Yield based on the Adjusted LIBO Rate, and the applicable Issuing Bank shall promptly notify the Agent, which shall promptly
notify each Purchaser of such failure, and each Purchaser shall promptly and unconditionally pay to the Agent for the account of such Issuing Bank the
amount of such Purchaser’s ratable share of such payment in immediately available funds. If the Agent so notifies such Purchaser prior to 11:00 a.m. (New
York City time) on any Business Day, such Purchaser shall make available to the Agent for the account of the applicable Issuing Bank its ratable share of the
amount of such payment on such Business Day in immediately available funds. Upon such payment by a Purchaser, such Purchaser shall, except during the
continuance of an Event of Termination under Section 7.01(f) and notwithstanding whether or not the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.02 shall have
been satisfied (which conditions precedent the Purchasers hereby irrevocably waive), be deemed to have made a Purchase, and the Seller shall be deemed to
have received a Collection, in respect of a Receivable Interest in the principal amount of such payment and the Capital of such Receivable Interest shall be
increased by the amount of such
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payment. Whenever an Issuing Bank receives from the Seller a payment of a Reimbursement Obligation as to which the Agent has received for the account of
such Issuing Bank any payment from a Purchaser pursuant to this Section 2.04(h), the applicable Issuing Bank shall pay to the Agent and the Agent shall
promptly pay to each Purchaser in immediately available funds, an amount equal to such Purchaser’s ratable share of the amount of such payment adjusted, if
necessary, to reflect the respective amounts the Purchasers have paid in respect of such Reimbursement Obligation.

     (i) If and to the extent such Purchaser shall not have so made its ratable portion of the amount of the payment required by Section 2.04(h) above available
to the Agent for the account of the applicable Issuing Bank, such Purchaser agrees to pay to the Agent for the account of such Issuing Bank forthwith on
demand any such unpaid amount together with interest thereon, for the first Business Day after payment was first due at the Federal Funds Rate and,
thereafter until such amount is repaid to the Agent for the account of such Issuing Bank, at the rate per annum applicable to Capital initially bearing Yield
based on the Alternate Base Rate.

     (j) The Seller’s obligation to pay each Reimbursement Obligation and the obligations of the Purchasers to make payments to the Agent for the account of
the applicable Issuing Bank with respect to Letters of Credit shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable and shall be performed strictly in accordance
with the terms of this Agreement, under any and all circumstances whatsoever, including the occurrence of any Event of Termination, and irrespective of any
of the following:

     (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter of Credit or any Transaction Document, or any term or provision therein;

     (ii) any amendment or waiver of or any consent to departure from all or any of the provisions of any Letter of Credit or any Transaction Document;

     (iii) the existence of any claim, set off, defense or other right that the Seller, any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof or any other Person may at any
time have against the beneficiary under any Letter of Credit, such Issuing Bank, the Agent or any Purchaser or any other Person, whether in connection
with this Agreement, any other Transaction Document or any other related or unrelated agreement or transaction;

     (iv) any draft or other document presented under a Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any
statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect;

     (v) payment by such Issuing Bank under a Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply with the terms of
such Letter of Credit; and

     (vi) any other act or omission to act or delay of any kind of such Issuing Bank, the Purchasers, the Agent or any other Person or any other event or
circumstance whatsoever, whether or not similar to any of the foregoing, that might, but for the provisions of this Section 2.04, constitute a legal or
equitable discharge of the Seller’s obligations hereunder.

Any action taken or omitted to be taken by an Issuing Bank under or in connection with any Letter of Credit, if taken or omitted in the absence of gross
negligence or willful misconduct, shall not put such Issuing Bank under any resulting liability to the Seller or any Purchaser. In determining whether drafts
and other documents presented under a Letter of Credit comply with the terms thereof, the applicable Issuing Bank may accept documents that appear on their
face to be in order, without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or information to the contrary and, in making any payment
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under any Letter of Credit, such Issuing Bank may rely exclusively on the documents presented to it under such Letter of Credit as to any and all matters set
forth therein, including reliance on the amount of any draft presented under such Letter of Credit, whether or not the amount due to the beneficiary thereunder
equals the amount of such draft and whether or not any document presented pursuant to such Letter of Credit proves to be insufficient in any respect, if such
document on its face appears to be in order, and whether or not any other statement or any other document presented pursuant to such Letter of Credit proves
to be forged or invalid or any statement therein proves to be inaccurate or untrue in any respect whatsoever, and any noncompliance in any immaterial respect
of the documents presented under such Letter of Credit with the terms thereof shall, in each case, be deemed not to constitute willful misconduct or gross
negligence of such Issuing Bank.

     Section 2.05. Termination or Reduction of the Commitments.

     The Seller may, upon at least 5 Business Days’ notice to the Agent, and so long as, after giving effect to a proposed reduction, no Event of Termination or
Potential Event of Termination, including, without limitation, by reference to Section 5.07(b), would exist, terminate in whole or reduce in part, the unused
portions of the Commitments of the Purchasers; provided, however, that for purposes of this Section 2.05, the unused portions of the Commitments of the
Purchasers shall be computed as the excess of (i) the aggregate of the Commitments of the Purchasers immediately prior to giving effect to such termination
or reduction over (ii) the sum of (a) the aggregate Capital of Receivable Interests outstanding at the time of such computation and (b) the Letter of Credit
Undrawn Amounts at the time of such computation; provided, further, that each such partial reduction of the unused portions of the Commitments (i) shall be
in an amount equal to at least $5,000,000 and shall be an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof, (ii) shall be made ratably among the Purchasers in
accordance with their respective Commitments and (iii) shall reduce the Total Commitment in an amount equal to each such reduction.

     Section 2.06. Receivable Interest.

     Each Receivable Interest shall be initially computed as of the opening of business of the Servicer on the date of Purchase of such Receivable Interest.
Thereafter until the Termination Date, such Receivable Interest shall be automatically recomputed as of the close of business of the Servicer on each day
(other than a Liquidation Day). Such Receivable Interest shall remain constant from the time as of which any such computation or recomputation is made
until the time as of which the next such recomputation, if any, shall be made. Each Receivable Interest other than any Special Receivable Interest, as
computed as of the day immediately preceding the Termination Date, shall remain constant at all times on and after the Termination Date; and any Special
Receivable Interest, as computed as of any Special Termination Date, shall remain constant (at 100%) at all times on and after such Special Termination Date.
Such Receivable Interest shall become zero at such time as the Owners of such Receivable Interest shall have received the accrued Yield for such Receivable
Interest, shall have recovered the Capital Investment of such Receivable Interest, and shall have received payment of all other amounts payable by the Seller
to such Owners, and the Servicer shall have received the accrued Servicer Fee for such Receivable Interest.

     Section 2.07. Non-Liquidation Settlement Procedures.

     (a) On each day (other than a Liquidation Day) the Agent shall, out of Collections of Pool Receivables received on such day:

     (i) first, set aside and hold in trust for the Servicer, the Issuing Banks and the Owners of the Receivable Interests an amount in U.S. Dollars equal to
the sum of (A) the
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Servicer Fee accrued through such day and not so previously set aside, (B) the aggregate Yield, the Unused Commitment Fee, L/C Fees, L/C Issuance
Fees, the Agent’s Fee and any other fees accrued hereunder through such day and not so previously set aside, and (C) the aggregate of any other amounts
then accrued or owed hereunder by the Seller to such Owners and not so previously set aside;

     (ii) second, distribute an amount in U.S. Dollars equal to the aggregate Capital Investments made in respect of Swing Purchases to the Swing
Purchaser, to be applied to reduce the Capital of such Receivable Interests;

     (iii) third, if such day is the second Business Day of the week, distribute to the Owners an amount in U.S. Dollars equal to that amount, if any, which
would be required to reduce Capital so that the undivided percentage interest of all Receivable Interests would not, after giving effect to the Collections
of Pool Receivables and the addition of new Pool Receivables on such day and the resulting recomputation of such Receivable Interests pursuant to
Section 2.06 as of the end of such day, exceed 100%;

     (iv) fourth, distribute the remainder of such Collections in an amount not greater than the Capital then outstanding, on a pari passu basis, to the
Owners of each Receivable Interest to be applied to reduce the Capital Investment of such Receivable Interest, and to the applicable Issuing Bank an
amount in U.S. Dollars equal to the amount of all Reimbursement Obligations, if any, owing from the Seller to such Issuing Bank under any Letter of
Credit issued for its account or at its direction; and

     (v) fifth, to the extent of any further remaining Collections, return the remainder of such Collections to the Seller.

     (b) On each applicable Yield Payment Date, the Agent shall distribute the amounts set aside as described in clause (i) of Section 2.07(a) above (other than
the Agent’s Fee), first, to the Servicer in payment of the accrued Servicer Fee payable with respect to each Receivable Interest, to the Owners of each
Receivable Interest in payment of the accrued Yield, the Unused Commitment Fee and L/C Fee for such Receivable Interest, and to the applicable Issuing
Bank in payment of the L/C Issuance Fee, pari passu, and second, in payment of any other amounts then owed by the Seller hereunder (including, without
limitation, all fees payable hereunder and not paid above except for the Servicer Fee).

     (c) On each anniversary of the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date, the Agent shall distribute the amounts set aside as described in clause (i) of
Section 2.07(a) with respect to the Agent’s Fee to the Agent in payment of the Agent’s Fee for the twelve-month period then commencing.

     Section 2.08. Liquidation Settlement Procedures.

     (a) On each Liquidation Day (including, without limitation, the Special Termination Date), the Agent shall deposit to the Agent’s Account the Collections
of Pool Receivables received on such day and shall apply them as follows:

     (i) first, to pay obligations of the Seller to the Agent under any Transaction Document in respect of any expense reimbursements, Cash Management
Obligations or indemnities then due to the Agent;
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     (ii) second, to pay obligations of the Seller to the Owners and the Issuing Banks under any Transaction Document in respect of any expense
reimbursements or indemnities then due to such Persons;

     (iii) third, to the Servicer in payment of the accrued Servicer Fee payable with respect to such Receivable Interest, to the Owners in payment of the
accrued Yield, Unused Commitment Fees, L/C Fees and the aggregate of any other amounts then accrued or owed hereunder by the Seller to such
Owners, and to the Issuing Banks in payment of the L/C Issuance Fees;

     (iv) fourth, to the Owners in reduction (to zero) of the Capital of each Receivable Interest;

     (v) fifth, to the Agent’s Account to be set aside and held in trust for the Purchasers as security for repayment of all amounts with respect to undrawn
Letters of Credit, an amount equal to 105% of the Letter of Credit Undrawn Amount with respect to each Standby Letter of Credit and an amount equal
to 115% of each Letter of Credit Undrawn Amount with respect to each Documentary Letter of Credit;

     (vi) sixth, to the Owners in ratable payment of any other amounts owed by the Seller hereunder or under any Transaction Document (including,
without limitation, all fees payable hereunder and not paid above except for the Servicer Fee); and

     (vii) seventh, to the Seller;

provided, however, that if sufficient funds are not available to fund all payments to be made in respect of any obligation described in any of clauses first,
second, third, fourth, fifth and sixth above, the available funds being applied with respect to any such obligations (unless otherwise specified in such clause)
shall be allocated to the payment of the obligations referred to in such clause ratably, based on the proportion of the Servicer’s, the Agent’s, Issuing Banks’ or
the Owners’ interest in the aggregate outstanding obligations described in such clause.

     Section 2.09. General Settlement Procedures.

     (a) If on any day the Outstanding Balance of a Pool Receivable is either (i) reduced as a result of any defective, rejected or returned goods or services, any
discount, or any adjustment by the Seller or any Originator, or (ii) reduced or cancelled as a result of a setoff in respect of any claim by the Obligor thereof
against the Seller or any Originator (whether such claim arises out of the same or a related transaction or an unrelated transaction), the Seller shall be deemed
to have received on such day a Collection of such Receivable in the amount of such reduction or cancellation and shall make the payment required to be made
by it in connection with such Collection on the day required by, and otherwise pursuant to, Section 5.01(g). If on any day any of the representations or
warranties in Section 4.01(h) is no longer true with respect to any Pool Receivable, the Seller shall be deemed to have received on such day a Collection in
full of such Pool Receivable and shall make the payment required to be made by it in connection with such Collection on the day required by, and otherwise
pursuant to, Section 5.01(g). Except as stated in the preceding sentences of this Section 2.09(a) or as otherwise required by law or the underlying Contract, all
Collections received from an Obligor of any Receivable shall be applied to Receivables then outstanding of such Obligor in the order of the age of such
Receivables, starting with the oldest such Receivable, except if payment is designated by such Obligor for application to specific Receivables.
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     (b) On or prior to the tenth Business Day of each calendar month, the Servicer shall prepare and furnish to the Agent for each Owner:

     (i) a Seller Report relating to each Receivable Interest, as of the close of business of the Servicer on the last day of the immediately preceding
calendar month,

     (ii) a listing of the ten Obligors owing the greatest dollar amount of Pool Receivables, together with a report setting forth (A) the name of such
Obligor, (B) the balance of the Pool Receivables owing by such Obligor as of such date, and (C) a summary of credit terms applicable to such Pool
Receivables under the applicable Contract,

     (iii) a listing by Obligor of all Pool Receivables, together with an analysis as to the aging of such Receivables, as of such last day, and

     (iv) such other information as shall be reasonably requested from time to time by the Agent or by the Agent at the request of the Required Purchasers.

     (c) Within 10 days after the end of each calendar month (or more frequently if (x) requested by the Agent or (y) Excess Availability shall be less than
$50,000,000, but, in the case of clauses (x) and (y), in no event more frequently than once each Business Day) by no later than 12:00 noon (New York City
time), the Servicer shall prepare and furnish to the Agent for the Owners a Receivables Report relating to the Receivable Interests as at the end of the last
calendar day of the immediately preceding month (or such shorter period, not earlier than the immediately preceding Business Day, if requested by Agent)
stating (i) the aggregate amount of the Net Receivables Pool Balance as of the end of the immediately preceding reporting period, in such detail as shall be
satisfactory to the Agent, (ii) the aggregate amount of the Collections from the Pool Receivables received by or on behalf of the Servicer as of the end of the
immediately preceding reporting period, in such detail as shall be satisfactory to the Agent, (iii) the aggregate of sales and billings of each Originator as of the
end of the immediately preceding reporting period, and (iv) such other information as shall be specified from time to time by the Agent or by the Agent at the
request of the Required Purchasers.

     (d) The Servicer shall promptly notify the Agent in writing in the event that at any time the Servicer receives or otherwise gains knowledge that any of the
following is true: (i) the Net Receivables Pool Balance is less than 90% of the Net Receivables Pool Balance reflected in the most recent Receivables Report
delivered pursuant to Section 2.09(c) above, or (ii) the Net Receivables Pool Balance is less than 105% of the Required Net Receivables Pool Balance, or
(iii) the outstanding Capital exceeds the Net Receivables Pool Balance as a result of a decrease therein, in which case such notice shall also include the
amount of such excess.

     Section 2.10. Payments and Computations, Etc.

     (a) All amounts to be paid or deposited by the Seller or the Servicer hereunder shall be paid or deposited in accordance with the terms hereof no later than
12:00 noon (New York City time) on the day when due in U.S. Dollars in same day funds to the Agent’s Account. The Agent shall promptly thereafter cause
to be distributed (i) like funds relating to the payment out of Collections in respect of Capital, Yield, Servicer Fee or other amounts payable out of Collections,
to the Owners (ratably in accordance with their respective interests) and the Servicer in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.07 or 2.08, as applicable,
and (ii) like funds relating to the payment by the Seller of fees and other amounts payable by the Seller hereunder, to the parties hereto for whose benefit such
funds were paid (and if such funds are insufficient, such distribution shall be made, subject to Section 2.07 or 2.08, as applicable, ratably in accordance with
the respective amounts thereof). Upon the Agent’s acceptance of
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an Assignment and Acceptance and recording of the information contained therein in the Register pursuant to Section 9.01(c), from and after the effective
date specified in such Assignment and Acceptance, the Agent shall make all payments hereunder in respect of the interest assigned thereby to the Assignee
thereunder, and the parties to such Assignment and Acceptance shall make all appropriate adjustments in such payments for periods prior to such effective
date directly between themselves.

     (b) The Seller shall, to the extent permitted by law, pay to the Agent interest on all amounts not paid or deposited when due hereunder (except for those
amounts with respect to which Yield accrues) at 2.00% per annum above the Alternate Base Rate in effect from time to time, payable on demand, provided,
however, that such interest rate shall not at any time exceed the maximum rate permitted by applicable law. Such interest shall be for the account of, and
distributed by the Agent to, the applicable Owners ratably in accordance with their respective interests in such overdue amount.

     (c) All computations of interest and all computations of Yield, Unused Commitment Fee and other per annum fees hereunder shall be made on the basis of
a year of 360 days for the actual number of days (including the first but excluding the last day) elapsed.

     (d) The Seller hereby authorizes each Owner, if and to the extent payment owed by the Seller to such Owner is not made to the Agent when due hereunder,
to charge from time to time against any or all of the Seller’s accounts with such Owner any amount so due.

     (e) Unless the Agent shall have received notice from the Servicer or the Seller prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Owners hereunder that
the Servicer or the Seller, as the case may be, will not make such payment in full, the Agent may assume that the Servicer or the Seller, as the case may be,
has made such payment in full to the Agent on such date and the Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption, cause to be distributed to each Owner on such
due date an amount equal to the amount then due such Owner. If and to the extent the Servicer or the Seller, as the case may be, shall not have so made such
payment in full to the Agent, each Owner shall repay to the Agent forthwith on demand such amount distributed to such Owner together with interest thereon,
for each day from the date such amount is distributed to such Owner until the date such Owner repays such amount to the Agent, at the Federal Funds Rate.

     Section 2.11. Yield and Fees.

     (a) All Capital Investments and the outstanding amount of all other obligations hereunder shall bear a Yield, in the case of Capital Investments, on the
principal amount thereof from the date such Capital Investments are made and, in the case of such other obligations, from the date such other obligations are
due and payable until, in all cases, paid in full, at the Citicorp Rate.

     (b) The Seller shall pay to the Agent such fees as are set forth in the Amended and Restated Fee Letter.

     (c) The Seller shall pay to the Agent for remittance to the Servicer a fee (the “Servicer Fee”) of 1% per annum on the average daily amount of Capital of
each Receivable Interest, from the date of the initial Purchase hereunder until the later of the Termination Date or the date on which Capital is reduced to zero,
payable in arrears on the Yield Payment Date for each Yield Period for such Receivable Interest; provided, however, that, if at any time, the Servicer is not
PolyOne or an Affiliate of PolyOne, the Servicer shall be paid, as such fee, the lesser of (i) such amount and (ii) 120% of the costs and expenses referred to in
Section 6.02(c); and provided further that such fee shall be payable only from Collections pursuant to, and subject to the priority of payment set forth in,
Sections 2.07 and 2.08.
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     (d) The Seller shall pay to the Agent for the account of each Purchaser, an unused commitment fee (an “Unused Commitment Fee”) equal to the product of
(i) the Unused Commitment Fee Rate and (ii) the average daily Unused Commitment of such Purchaser. The Unused Commitment Fee will be payable
monthly in arrears and on the Termination Date.

     (e) The Seller shall pay to the Agent for the accounts of the Purchasers, a letter of credit fee (a “L/C Fee”) equal to the product of (i) the Applicable L/C
Margin and (ii) the average daily Letter of Credit Undrawn Amounts. The L/C Fee will be payable monthly in arrears and on the Termination Date.

     (f) The Seller shall pay to the applicable Issuing Bank, a letter of credit fee (the “L/C Issuance Fee”) equal to the product of (i) the L/C Issuance Fee Rate
and (ii) the average daily Letter of Credit Undrawn Amounts with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such Issuing Bank. The L/C Issuance Fee will be
payable monthly in arrears and on the Termination Date.

     Section 2.12. Special Provisions Governing Capital Investments at the Citicorp LIBO Rate.

     (a) Increased Costs. If, due to either (i) a change after the date hereof in Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (to the
extent any cost incurred pursuant to such regulation is not included in the calculation of Adjusted LIBO Rate), (ii) the introduction of or any change after the
date hereof in or in the interpretation of any law or regulation (other than any law or regulation relating to taxes, as to which Section 2.14 shall govern) or
(iii) the compliance with any guideline or request issued or made after the date hereof from any central bank or other governmental authority (whether or not
having the force of law), there shall be any increase in the cost to (or, in the case of Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System,
there shall be imposed a cost on) any Indemnified Party of agreeing to make or making any Purchase or purchasing or maintaining any Receivable Interest or
any interest therein hereunder, then the Seller shall from time to time, upon demand and delivery to the Seller of the certificate referred to in the last sentence
of this Section 2.12(a) by such Indemnified Party (or by the Agent for the account of such Indemnified Party) (with a copy of such demand and certificate to
the Agent), pay to the Agent for the account of such Indemnified Party additional amounts sufficient to compensate such Indemnified Party for such increased
or imposed cost. Each Indemnified Party hereto agrees to use reasonable efforts promptly to notify the Seller of any event referred to in clause (i), (ii) or
(iii) above, provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the rights of any Indemnified Party under this Section 2.12(a). Each Indemnified Party
agrees that it shall use reasonable efforts to designate another applicable office of such Indemnified Party to hold its interest in any Receivable Interest if the
amounts payable to it under this Section 2.12(a) would thereby be reduced and if the making, funding or maintenance of its interest in such Receivable
Interest through such other applicable office would not otherwise adversely affect such interest or such Indemnified Party. A certificate in reasonable detail as
to the basis for and the amount of such increased cost, submitted to the Seller and the Agent by such Indemnified Party (or by the Agent for the account of
such Indemnified Party) shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent manifest error.

     (b) Interest Rate Unascertainable, Inadequate or Unfair. In the event that (i) the Agent determines that adequate and fair means do not exist for ascertaining
the applicable interest rates by reference to which the Adjusted LIBO Rate then being determined is to be fixed or (ii) the Required Purchasers notify the
Agent that the Adjusted LIBO Rate for any Yield Period will not adequately reflect the cost to the Purchasers of making a Capital Investment or maintaining
such Capital Investment for such Yield Period, the Agent shall forthwith so notify the Seller and the Purchasers, whereupon the Citicorp Rate for such Capital
Investment shall automatically, on the last day of the current Yield Period for such Capital Investment, convert into the Citicorp Base Rate and the obligations
of the Purchasers to make a Capital Investment or maintain a Capital Investment at the Citicorp LIBO Rate shall be suspended until
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the Agent shall notify the Seller that the Required Purchasers have determined that the circumstances causing such suspension no longer exist.

     (c) Illegality. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if any Purchaser determines that the introduction of, or any change in or in the
interpretation of, any law, treaty or governmental rule, regulation or order after the date of this Agreement shall make it unlawful, or any central bank or other
Governmental Authority shall assert that it is unlawful, for any Purchaser to make a Capital Investment or maintain a Capital Investment at the Citicorp LIBO
Rate, then, on notice thereof and demand therefor by such Purchaser to the Seller through the Agent, (i) the obligation of such Purchaser to make a Capital
Investment or maintain a Capital Investment at the Citicorp LIBO Rate shall be suspended, and each such Purchaser shall make Capital Investments at the
Citicorp Base Rate and (ii) if the affected Capital Investments at the Citicorp LIBO Rate are then outstanding, the Seller shall immediately convert each such
Capital Investment into a Capital Investment at the Citicorp Base Rate. If, at any time after a Purchaser gives notice under this Section 2.12(c), such Purchaser
determines that it may lawfully make Capital Investments at the Citicorp LIBO Rate, such Purchaser shall promptly give notice of that determination to the
Seller and the Agent, and the Agent shall promptly transmit the notice to each other Purchaser. The Seller’s right to request, and such Purchaser’s obligation,
if any, to make Capital Investments at the Citicorp LIBO Rate shall thereupon be restored.

     (d) Liquidation Costs. In addition to all amounts required to be paid by the Seller hereunder, the Seller shall compensate each Purchaser, upon demand, for
all losses, expenses and liabilities (including any loss or expense incurred by reason of the liquidation or reemployment of deposits or other funds acquired by
such Purchaser to fund or maintain such Purchaser’s Capital Investments at the Citicorp LIBO Rate but excluding any loss of the Applicable Margin on the
relevant Capital Investments) (each, a “Liquidation Cost”) that such Purchaser may sustain (i) if for any reason a proposed Capital Investment, conversion
into or continuation of Capital Investments at the Citicorp LIBO Rate does not occur on a date specified therefor in a Notice of Purchase given by the Seller
or in a telephonic request by it for Purchase or a successive Yield Period does not commence after notice therefor is given hereunder, (ii) if for any reason any
Capital Investment at the Citicorp LIBO Rate is reduced (including mandatorily pursuant to Section 2.07) on a date that is not the last day of the applicable
Yield Period, (iii) as a consequence of a required conversion of a Capital Investment at the Citicorp LIBO Rate to Capital Investment at the Citicorp Base
Rate as a result of any of the events indicated in Section 2.12(c) above or (iv) as a consequence of any failure by the Seller to reduce Capital Investment at the
Citicorp LIBO Rate when required by the terms hereof. The Purchaser making demand for such compensation shall deliver to the Seller concurrently with
such demand a written statement as to such losses, expenses and liabilities, and this statement shall be conclusive as to the amount of compensation due to
such Purchaser, absent manifest error.

     Section 2.13. Increased Capital.

     If any Indemnified Party determines that either the introduction of or any change in or in the interpretation of any law or regulation after the date hereof or
the compliance with any guideline or request issued or made after the date hereof from any central bank or other governmental authority (whether or not
having the force of law) affects or would affect the amount of capital required or expected to be maintained by such Indemnified Party or any corporation
controlling such Indemnified Party and that the amount of such capital is increased by or based upon the existence of such Indemnified Party’s commitment,
if any, to purchase any Receivable Interest or any interest therein, or to maintain such Receivable Interest or interest hereunder, then, upon demand and
delivery to the Seller of the certificate referred to in the last sentence of this Section 2.13 by such Indemnified Party (or by the Agent for the account of such
Indemnified Party) (with a copy of such demand and certificate to the Agent) the Seller shall pay to the Agent for the account of such Indemnified Party from
time to time, as specified by such
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Indemnified Party, additional amounts sufficient to compensate such Indemnified Party or such corporation in the light of such circumstances, to the extent
that such Indemnified Party reasonably determines such increase in capital to be allocable to the existence of any such commitment. Each Indemnified Party
hereto agrees to use reasonable efforts promptly to notify the Seller of any event referred to in the first sentence of this Section 2.13, provided that the failure
to give such notice shall not affect the rights of any Indemnified Party under this Section 2.13. A certificate in reasonable detail as to the basis for, and the
amount of, such compensation submitted to the Seller and the Agent by such Indemnified Party (or by the Agent for the account of such Indemnified Party)
shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent manifest error.

     Section 2.14. Taxes.

     (a) Any and all payments by the Seller hereunder or deposits from Collections hereunder shall be made, in accordance with Section 2.10, free and clear of
and without deduction for any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto,
excluding, in the case of each Indemnified Party, (i) taxes that are imposed on its overall net income by the United States and (ii) taxes that are imposed on its
overall net income, assets or net worth (and franchise taxes imposed in lieu thereof) by the state or foreign jurisdiction under the laws of which such
Indemnified Party is organized or qualified to do business or in which such Indemnified Party holds any asset in connection with this Agreement or, in each
case, any political subdivision thereof (all such non-excluded taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings and liabilities in respect of payments
hereunder or deposits from Collections hereunder being hereinafter referred to as “Taxes”). If the Seller or the Servicer or the Agent shall be required by law
to deduct any Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder or deposit from Collections hereunder to any Indemnified Party, (i) the sum payable
shall be increased as may be necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this
Section 2.14) such Indemnified Party receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the Seller or the
Servicer or the Agent shall make such deductions and (iii) the Seller or the Servicer or the Agent shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation
authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law.

     (b) In addition, the Seller shall pay any present or future sales, stamp, documentary, excise, property or similar taxes, charges or levies that arise from any
payment made hereunder or deposit from Collections hereunder or from the execution, delivery or registration of, performing under, or otherwise with respect
to, this Agreement, the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, the Amended and Restated Consent and Agreement or the Amended and
Restated Fee Letter (hereinafter referred to as “Other Taxes”).

     (c) The Seller shall indemnify each Indemnified Party for and hold it harmless against the full amount of Taxes and Other Taxes (including, without
limitation, taxes of any kind imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 2.14) imposed on or paid by such Indemnified Party and any
liability (including penalties, additions to tax, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto whether or not such Taxes or Other Taxes were
correctly or legally asserted. This indemnification shall be made within 30 days from the date such Indemnified Party makes written demand therefor (with a
copy to the Agent).

     (d) Within 30 days after the date of any payment of Taxes, the Seller shall furnish to the Agent and each applicable Purchaser, at its address referred to in
Section 11.02, the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing such payment.
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     (e) Each Owner organized under the laws of a jurisdiction outside the United States shall, on or prior to the date of its execution and delivery of this
Agreement in the case of each Initial Purchaser, and on the date of the Assignment or the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which it became an Owner
in the case of each other Owner, and from time to time thereafter as requested in writing by the Seller (but only so long thereafter as such Owner remains
lawfully able to do so), provide each of the Agent and the Seller with 2 original Internal Revenue Service forms W-8ECI or W-8BEN, as appropriate, or any
successor or other form prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service, certifying that such Owner is exempt from or entitled to a reduced rate of United States
withholding tax on payments pursuant to this Agreement. If the forms provided by an Owner at the time such Owner first becomes a party to this Agreement
indicate a United States interest withholding tax rate in excess of zero, withholding tax at such rate shall be considered excluded from Taxes unless and until
such Owner provides the appropriate form certifying that a lesser rate applies, whereupon withholding tax at such lesser rate only shall be considered
excluded from Taxes for periods governed by such form; provided, however, that if, at the effective date of the Assignment or the Assignment and Acceptance
pursuant to which an Assignee becomes an Owner hereunder, the Owner assignor was entitled to payments under subsection (a) of this Section 2.14 in respect
of United States withholding tax with respect to amounts paid hereunder at such date, then, to such extent, the term Taxes shall include (in addition to
withholding taxes that may be imposed in the future or other amounts otherwise includable in Taxes) United States withholding tax, if any, applicable with
respect to such Assignee on such date. If any form or document referred to in this subsection (e) requires the disclosure of information, other than information
necessary to compute the tax payable and information required on the date hereof by Internal Revenue Service form W-8ECI or W-8BEN, that the Owner
reasonably considers to be confidential, the Owner shall give notice thereof to the Seller and shall not be obligated to include in such form or document such
confidential information.

     (f) For any period with respect to which an Owner has failed to provide the Seller with the appropriate form described in subsection (e) of this Section 2.14
(other than if such failure is due to a change in law occurring after the date on which a form originally was required to be provided or if such form otherwise
is not required under subsection (e) of this Section 2.14), such Owner shall not be entitled to indemnification under subsection (a) or (c) of this Section 2.14
with respect to Taxes imposed by the United States by reason of such failure; provided, however, that should an Owner become subject to Taxes because of its
failure to deliver a form required hereunder, the Seller shall take such steps as such Owner shall reasonably request to assist such Owner (at such Owner’s
expense) to recover such Taxes.

     Section 2.15. Sharing of Payments, Etc.

     If any Purchaser shall obtain any payment (whether voluntary, involuntary, through the exercise of any right of set-off or otherwise) on account of the
Purchases made by it (other than with respect to payments due to such Purchaser pursuant to Section 2.12, 2.13 or 2.14) in excess of its ratable share of
payments on account of the Purchases obtained by all the Purchasers, such Purchaser shall forthwith purchase from the other Purchasers such interests in the
Receivable Interests purchased by them as shall be necessary to cause such Purchaser to share the excess payment ratably with each of them; provided,
however, that if all or any portion of such excess payment is thereafter recovered from such Purchaser, such purchase from each other Purchaser shall be
rescinded and such other Purchaser shall repay to the Purchaser the purchase price to the extent of such recovery together with an amount equal to such other
Purchaser’s ratable share (according to the proportion of (i) the amount of such other Purchaser’s required repayment to (ii) the total amount so recovered
from the Purchaser) of any interest or other amount paid or payable by the Purchaser in respect of the total amount so recovered. The Seller agrees that any
Purchaser so purchasing an interest in Receivable Interests from another Purchaser pursuant to this Section 2.15 may, to the fullest extent permitted by law,
exercise all its rights of payment (including the right of set-off) with respect to such interest in Receivable Interests as fully as if such Purchaser were the
direct creditor of the Seller in the amount of such interest in Receivable Interests.
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     Section 2.16. Conversion/Continuation Option.

     (a) The Seller may elect (i) at any time on any Business Day, to convert Capital Investments bearing Yield at the Citicorp Base Rate (other than Swing
Purchases and Reimbursement Obligations) or any portion thereof to Capital Investments bearing Yield at the Citicorp LIBO Rate and (ii) at the end of any
applicable Yield Period, to convert Capital Investments bearing Yield at the Citicorp LIBO Rate or any portion thereof into Capital Investments bearing Yield
at the Citicorp Base Rate or to continue such Capital Investments bearing Yield at the Citicorp LIBO Rate or any portion thereof for an additional Yield
Period; provided, however, that the aggregate amount of the Capital Investments bearing Yield at the Citicorp LIBO Rate for each Yield Period must be in an
amount of at least $10,000,000 or an integral multiple of $2,500,000 in excess thereof. Each conversion or continuation shall be allocated among the Capital
Investments of each Purchaser in accordance with such Purchaser’s Receivable Interest. Each such election shall be in substantially the form of Exhibit I (a
“Notice of Conversion or Continuation”) and shall be made by giving the Agent at least 3 Business Days’ prior written notice specifying (A) the amount and
type of Capital Investment being converted or continued, (B) in the case of a conversion to or a continuation of Capital Investments bearing Yield at the
Citicorp LIBO Rate, the applicable Yield Period and (C) in the case of a conversion, the date of such conversion.

     (b) The Agent shall promptly notify each Purchaser of its receipt of a Notice of Conversion or Continuation and of the options selected therein.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no conversion in whole or in part of Capital Investments bearing Yield at the Citicorp Base Rate to Capital Investments
bearing Yield at the Citicorp LIBO Rate and no continuation in whole or in part of Capital Investments bearing Yield at the Citicorp LIBO Rate upon the
expiration of any applicable Yield Period shall be permitted at any time at which (i) a Potential Event of Termination or an Event of Termination shall have
occurred and be continuing or (ii) the continuation of, or conversion into, a Capital Investment bearing Yield at the Citicorp LIBO Rate would violate any
provision of Section 2.12. If, within the time period required under the terms of this Section 2.16, the Agent does not receive a Notice of Conversion or
Continuation from the Seller containing a permitted election to continue any Capital Investments bearing Yield at the Citicorp LIBO Rate for an additional
Yield Period or to convert any such Capital Investments, then, upon the expiration of the applicable Yield Period, such Capital Investments shall be
automatically converted to Capital Investments bearing Yield at the Citicorp Base Rate. Each Notice of Conversion or Continuation shall be irrevocable.

ARTICLE III

CONDITIONS OF PURCHASES

Section 3.01. Conditions Precedent to the Effectiveness of this Agreement.

     The effectiveness of this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:

     (a) The Agent and the Syndication Agent shall have received all fees and expenses (including, but not limited to, reasonable fees and expenses of counsel)
required to be paid on the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the Amended and Restated Fee Letter.

     (b) The Agent shall have received on or before the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date, the following, each (unless otherwise indicated) dated as
of the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent:
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     (i) This Agreement, duly executed and delivered by the Seller and the Servicer;

     (ii) The Amended and Restated Parent Undertaking, duly executed and delivered by PolyOne;

     (iii) The Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, duly executed by the Seller and each Originator, together with:

     (A) Proper financing statement terminations or releases, if any, necessary to release all security interests and other rights of any Person in the
Receivables, Related Security, Collections or Contracts previously granted by any Originator except in connection with the Original
Receivables Sale Agreement;

     (B) Completed requests for information, dated on or a date reasonably near to the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date listing all
effective financing statements which name each Originator (under its present name and any previous name used by such Person within the five
year period immediately preceding the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date) as debtor and which are filed in the jurisdictions set forth
in Schedule VI, together with copies of such financing statements (none of which, except those naming each Originator as debtor, the Seller as
secured party and Citicorp, as Agent, as assignee, and those subject to the termination and releases described in clause (iii)(A) above, shall
cover any Receivables, Related Security, Collections or Contracts);

     (C) The Amended and Restated Consent and Agreement, duly executed by the Seller and each Originator; and

     (D) The Amended and Restated Subordinated Notes, in substantially the form of Exhibit B to the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale
Agreement, payable to the order of the Originators, respectively, and duly executed by the Seller.

     (iv) The Amended and Restated Letter of Credit Agreement duly executed and delivered by the Seller and each Originator.

     (v) Certified copies, dated as of a recent date, of the charter, by-laws or code of regulations (as the case may be), as amended, of the Seller, the
Servicer and each Originator, respectively.

     (vi) Good standing certificates, dated as of a recent date, issued by the Secretary of State of the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Seller, the Servicer
and each Originator, with respect to the Seller and such Originator, respectively.

     (vii) Certified copies of the resolutions of the Board of Directors of each of the Seller, the Servicer and each Originator, approving the Transaction
Documents to be delivered by it hereunder and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
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     (viii) A certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of each of the Seller, the Servicer and each Originator, certifying the names and true
signatures of its officers authorized to sign the Transaction Documents and the other documents to be delivered by it hereunder.

     (ix) Proper financing statements naming the Seller as debtor and Citicorp, as Agent, as secured party, to be filed under the UCC of all jurisdictions
that the Agent may deem necessary or desirable in order to perfect the ownership interests created or purported to be created hereby.

     (x) Proper financing statement terminations or releases, if any, necessary to release all security interests and other rights of any Person in the
Receivables, Contracts, Related Security or Collections previously granted by the Seller (other than security interests granted to the Agent in connection
with the Original Agreement).

     (xi) Completed requests for information, dated on or a date reasonably near to the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date, listing all effective
financing statements filed in the jurisdictions referred to in subsection (b)(ix) above that name the Seller as debtor, together with copies of such other
financing statements (none of which, except those to be filed pursuant to subsection (b)(ix) above, those previously filed in connection with the Original
Agreement and those subject to the termination and releases described in subsection (x) above, shall cover any Receivables, Related Security, Collections
or Contracts).

     (xii) Favorable opinions of (A) Thompson Hine LLP, counsel to the Seller, the Servicer and each Originator, in substantially the form of Exhibit J-l
hereto and as to such other matters as the Agent may reasonably request and (B) Thompson Hine LLP, counsel to each Originator, the Servicer and the
Seller, in substantially the form of Exhibit J-2 and as to such other matters as the Agent may reasonably request, including without limitation (1) a “true
sale” opinion with respect to the sale of Receivable Assets under and as defined in the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement from each
Originator to the Seller, (2) an opinion with respect to the non-substantive consolidation of the Seller with each Originator or any of its Affiliates in a
case under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, and (3) an opinion relating to the enforceability of the Transaction Documents, compliance with all laws and
regulations (including Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System), the perfection of all ownership and other interests
purported to be granted under the Transaction Documents, and no conflicts with material agreements.

     (xiii) A favorable opinion of Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP, counsel to the Agent, as the Agent may reasonably request; and

     (xiv) A certificate of the chief financial officer, in the case of PolyOne, or the chief financial officer or treasurer, in the case of the Seller and each
other Originator, stating that the Seller and each Originator is Solvent after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereunder and under the other
Transaction Documents.

     (c) Each of the Seller, the Originators, the Servicer and its Subsidiaries shall have received all necessary governmental and third party consents and
approvals necessary in connection with the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated thereby (without the imposition of any conditions that
are not reasonably acceptable to the Purchasers) and shall remain in effect, and all applicable governmental filings shall have been made and all applicable
waiting periods shall have expired without in either case any action being taken by any competent authority; and no law or regulation shall be applicable in
the judgment of the Purchasers that restrains, prevents or imposes materially adverse conditions upon the Transaction Documents or the transactions
contemplated thereby.
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     (d) The Agent shall have received a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Seller and each Originator stating that, as of the Amendment and
Restatement Effective Date, the Intercreditor Agreement is in full force and effect and certifying that either (i) those consents (in writing) to the execution,
delivery and performance by the parties hereto of this Agreement which are required under the Intercreditor Agreement have been obtained or (ii) no such
consents are required under the Intercreditor Agreement.

     (e) The Agent shall have received the Amended and Restated Fee Letter, duly executed by the Seller.

     (f) A certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of each of the Seller and each Originator certifying that there exists no action, suit, investigation,
litigation or proceeding pending or, to its knowledge, threatened in any court or before any arbitrator or governmental instrumentality that (i) could reasonably
be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change or (ii) restrains, prevents or imposes or can reasonably be expected to impose materially adverse
conditions on the transactions contemplated hereunder.

     (g) The Servicer and the Seller shall have each delivered to the Purchasers a pro forma consolidated balance sheet for itself and its Subsidiaries, if any,
which shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and each Purchaser, and there shall not occur as a result of the funding hereunder, a default (or
any event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both would be a default) under any of the Seller’s, the Originators’ or their respective
Subsidiaries’ debt instruments and other material agreements.

     (h) The Revolving Credit Agreement shall be in full force and effect.

     (i) The Agent shall have received evidence that after giving effect to the Purchases occurring on the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date,
Receivables Excess Availability is not less than $60,000,000.

     Section 3.02. Conditions Precedent to All Purchases, Reinvestments and Letters of Credit.

     Each Purchase (including the initial Purchase by each Purchaser) hereunder, each Issuance of a Letter of Credit hereunder and the right of the Servicer to
reinvest in Pool Receivables those Collections attributable to a Receivable Interest pursuant to Section 2.07 shall be subject to the further conditions precedent
that:

     (a) with respect to any such Purchase, on or prior to the date of such Purchase, the Servicer shall have delivered to the Agent, in form and substance
satisfactory to the Agent:

     (i) a completed Seller Report, dated within 31 days prior to the date of such Purchase, together with a listing by Obligor of all Pool Receivables,

     (ii) a completed Receivables Report effective as of the end of the last Business Day of the then immediately preceding week, and

     (iii) such additional information as may be reasonably requested by the Agent; and

     (b) on the date of such Purchase, Issuance or reinvestment the following statements shall be true (and the acceptance by the Seller of the proceeds of such
Purchase or reinvestment, or the request by
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the Seller for an Issuance of a Letter of Credit, shall constitute a representation and warranty by the Seller that on the date of such Purchase, Issuance or
reinvestment such statements are true):

     (i) the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.01 of this Agreement and in Section 3.01 of the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale
Agreement are correct in all material respects on and as of the date of such Purchase, Issuance or reinvestment, before and after giving effect to such
Purchase, Issuance or reinvestment and to the application of the proceeds therefrom, as though made on and as of such date, other than any such
representations and warranties that, by their terms, refer to a specific date other than the date of said Purchase, Issuance or reinvestment, in which case as
of such dates;

     (ii) no event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from such Purchase, Issuance or reinvestment or from the application of the proceeds
therefrom, which constitutes an Event of Termination or a Potential Event of Termination;

     (iii) such Purchase, Issuance or reinvestment shall not violate any requirement of law and shall not be enjoined, temporarily, preliminarily or
permanently and will not result in the Letter of Credit Sublimit being exceeded; and

     (c) the Agent shall have received such other approvals, opinions or documents as the Agent may reasonably request.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

     Section 4.01. Representations and Warranties of the Seller.

     The Seller represents and warrants, as of the date hereof and as of the date of each Purchase and Issuance, before and after giving effect to such Purchase
or Issuance and to the application of the proceeds therefrom, as though made on and as of such date, other than any such representations and warranties that,
by their terms, refer to a specific date other than the date of said Purchase or Issuance, in which case as of such dates, as follows:

     (a) The Seller is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction indicated at the beginning of this
Agreement, and is duly qualified to do business, and is in good standing, in every jurisdiction where the nature of its business requires it to be so qualified,
except to the extent that any failure to be so qualified or in good standing as a foreign entity could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect. The Seller has no Subsidiaries. All of the outstanding shares of stock of the Seller are owned by PolyOne, one or more direct or indirect wholly-owned
Subsidiaries of PolyOne, or a corporation owned directly or indirectly by the stockholders of PolyOne in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership of stock of PolyOne.

     (b) The execution, delivery and performance by the Seller of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party and the other documents delivered by it
hereunder, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including the Seller’s use of the proceeds of Purchases and reinvestments, are within the
Seller’s corporate powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, do not (i) contravene the Seller’s charter or by-laws, (ii) violate any
applicable law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award, or (iii) breach or result in a default under, or result in the
acceleration of (or entitle any party to accelerate) the maturity of any obligation of the Seller under, or result in or require the creation of any lien upon or
security interest in any property of the Seller
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pursuant to the terms of, any Contract or any other agreement or instrument (other than any Transaction Document) binding on or affecting the Seller or any
of its properties.

     (c) No authorization or approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required for the due execution, delivery
and performance by the Seller of any Transaction Document to which it is a party or any other agreement or document delivered hereunder or for the
perfection of or the exercise by any Indemnified Party of its rights and remedies under the Transaction Documents and such other agreements or documents,
except for the filings of the financing statements referred to in Article III.

     (d) This Agreement has been, and each other Transaction Document to which the Seller is a party when delivered will have been, duly executed and
delivered by the Seller. This Agreement is, and the other Transaction Documents to which the Seller is or will be a party when delivered hereunder will be,
the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Seller enforceable against the Seller in accordance with their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and to general equitable principles.

     (e) Since December 31, 2004, there has been no Material Adverse Change and there have been no events or developments that, in the aggregate, have had
a Material Adverse Effect.

     (f) There is no action, suit, investigation, litigation or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Seller, threatened in any court or before any
arbitrator or governmental instrumentality that (i) could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change or (ii) restrains, prevents or imposes or
can reasonably be expected to impose materially adverse conditions upon the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby.

     (g) No proceeds of any Purchase or reinvestment will be used to acquire any security in any transaction which is subject to Sections 13 and 14 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

     (h) Immediately prior to the time of the initial creation of an interest hereunder in any Pool Receivable and each Purchase, the Seller is the legal and
beneficial owner of the Pool Receivables and Related Security with respect thereto, in each case free and clear of any Adverse Claim. Upon each Purchase or
reinvestment, the Seller shall transfer to the Owner making such Purchase or reinvestment (and such Owner shall acquire) a valid undivided percentage
ownership interest or security interest to the extent of the pertinent Receivable Interest in each Pool Receivable then existing or thereafter arising and in the
Related Security and Collections with respect thereto, free and clear of any Adverse Claim, which ownership interest or security interest shall be a perfected
first priority ownership interest or security interest upon the filing of the financing statements referred to in Section 3.01(b) (ix). No effective financing
statement or other instrument similarly in effect covering any Contract or any Pool Receivable or Related Security or Collections with respect thereto is on
file in any recording office, except those filed in favor of the Agent relating to this Agreement or the Original Agreement or in favor of the Seller and the
Agent relating to the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement or the Original Receivables Sale Agreement.

     (i) Each Seller Report, Receivables Report (if prepared by the Seller or one of its Affiliates, or to the extent that information contained therein is supplied
by the Seller or any Affiliate thereof), information, exhibit, financial statement, or other report or document furnished or to be furnished at any time by or on
behalf of the Seller to the Agent or any Owner in connection with this Agreement is and will be accurate in all material respects as of its date or as of the date
so furnished, and no such report or document contains, or will contain, as of its date of delivery or the date so furnished, any untrue statement of a material
fact or omits to state, or will omit to state, as of its date of delivery or the date so furnished, a
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material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

     (j) The jurisdiction of incorporation, organizational identification number (if any), and the address(es) of the principal place of business and chief
executive office of the Seller and the office where the Seller keeps its Records concerning the Receivable Assets, are as set forth in Schedule III hereto (or, by
notice to the Agent in accordance with Section 5.01(c), at such other locations in jurisdictions, within the United States, where all actions required by
Section 6.05(a) have been taken and completed).

     (k) The names and addresses of all the Lock-Box Banks, together with the lock-box numbers related to, and the account numbers and owners (the Seller or
any Originator) of, the Lock-Box Accounts at such Lock-Box Banks, are specified in Schedule I hereto (or such other Lock-Box Banks and/or such other
Lock-Box Accounts as have been notified to the Agent in accordance with Section 5.03(d)).

     (l) Since the date of its formation, the Seller has not engaged in any activity other than as contemplated by the receivables purchasing program established
pursuant to the fifth amended and restated receivables purchase and sale agreement, dated as of April 10, 2002, by and between PolyOne Funding
Corporation, PolyOne Corporation, Corporate Receivables Corporation, CIESCO, L.P. and Citicorp North America, Inc., the Original Agreement and the
“Transaction Documents” (as defined therein) and the activity contemplated by the Transaction Documents or entered into any commitment or incurred any
Debt other than pursuant to, or as permitted under such receivables purchase program or the Transaction Documents.

     (m) The Seller has not maintained, contributed to or incurred or assumed any obligation with respect to any Plan, Multiemployer Plan or Welfare Plan.

     (n) The Seller has not sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or hypothecated any interest in any Pool Receivable or the Collections with respect thereto to
any Person other than as contemplated by this Agreement, the Original Agreement or that has been released by the Agent from the Receivables Pool.

     (o) The Seller has complied with the Credit and Collection Policy in all material respects and since the date of this Agreement there has been no change in
the Credit and Collection Policy except as permitted hereunder.

     (p) The Seller has not extended or modified the terms of any Pool Receivable or the Contract under which any such Pool Receivable arose, except in
accordance with the Credit and Collection Policy.

     (q) Except under the Lock-Box Agreements, the Seller has not granted any Person dominion or control of any Lock-Box Account, or the right to take
dominion or control over any Lock-Box Account at a future time or upon the occurrence of a future event.

     (r) With respect to each transfer to it of any Pool Receivables, the Seller has either (i) purchased such Pool Receivables from an Originator in exchange for
payment (made by the Seller to an Originator in accordance with the provisions of the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement) in an amount
which constitutes fair consideration and approximates fair market value for such Pool Receivables and in a sale the terms and conditions of which (including,
without limitation, the purchase price thereof) reasonably approximate an arm’s-length transaction between unaffiliated parties or (ii) acquired such Pool
Receivables from an Originator as a capital contribution in accordance with the provisions of the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement. No
such sale, and no such contribution, has been made for or on account of an antecedent debt owed by any Originator to the Seller
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and no such sale or contribution is or may be voidable or subject to avoidance under any section of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.

     (s) The Seller has filed, or caused to be filed or be included in, all tax reports and returns (federal, state, local and foreign), if any, required to be filed by it
and paid, or caused to be paid, all amounts of taxes, including interest and penalties, required to be paid by it, except for such taxes (i) as are being contested
in good faith by proper proceedings and (ii) against which adequate reserves shall have been established in accordance with and to the extent required by
GAAP, but only so long as the proceedings referred to in clause (i) above would not subject the Agent or any other Indemnified Party to any civil or criminal
penalty or liability or involve any material risk of the loss, sale or forfeiture of any property, rights or interests covered hereunder or under the Amended and
Restated Receivables Sale Agreement.

     (t) The Seller is not an “investment company” or an “affiliated person” of, or “promoter” or “principal underwriter” for, an “investment company”, as such
terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

     (u) Both before and after giving effect to (i) each Purchase to be made and each Letter of Credit to be issued on the Amendment and Restatement Effective
Date or such other date as Purchases and Letters of Credit requested hereunder are made or issued, (ii) the disbursement of the proceeds of any Capital
Investment, (iii) the consummation of each other transaction contemplated by the other Transaction Documents and (iv) the payment and accrual of all
transaction costs in connection with the foregoing, the Seller is Solvent.

     Section 4.02. Representations and Warranties of the Servicer.

     The Servicer represents and warrants as follows:

     (a) The Servicer is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction indicated at the beginning of
this Agreement, and is duly qualified to do business, and is in good standing, in every jurisdiction where the nature of its business requires it to be so
qualified, except to the extent that any failure to be so qualified or in good standing as a foreign entity could not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

     (b) The execution, delivery and performance by the Servicer of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party and the other documents to be delivered
by it hereunder, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, are within the Servicer’s corporate powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary
corporate action, do not (i) contravene the Servicer’s charter or code of regulations, (ii) violate any applicable law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment,
injunction, decree, determination or award, or (iii) breach or result in a default under, or result in the acceleration of (or entitle any party to accelerate) the
maturity of any obligation of the Servicer under, or result in or require the creation of any lien upon or security interest in any property of the Servicer
pursuant to the terms of, any Contract or any other agreement or instrument (other than any Transaction Document) binding on or affecting the Servicer or
any of its properties.

     (c) No authorization or approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required for the due execution, delivery
and performance by the Servicer of any Transaction Document to which it is a party.

     (d) This Agreement has been, and each other Transaction Document to which the Servicer is a party when delivered will have been, duly executed and
delivered by the Servicer. This Agreement is,
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and the other Transaction Documents to which the Servicer is party when delivered hereunder will be, the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Servicer
enforceable against the Servicer in accordance with their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws
affecting the rights of creditors generally and to general equitable principles.

     (e) Since December 31, 2004, there has been no Material Adverse Change and there have been no events or developments that, in the aggregate, have had
a Material Adverse Effect.

     (f) There is no action, suit, investigation, litigation or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Servicer, threatened in any court or before any
arbitrator or governmental instrumentality that (i) could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change or (ii) restrains, prevents or imposes or
can reasonably be expected to impose materially adverse conditions upon the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby.

     (g) Each Seller Report and Receivables Report (if prepared by the Servicer or one of its Affiliates, or to the extent that information contained therein is
supplied by the Servicer or any Affiliate thereof), information, exhibit, financial statement, or other report or document furnished or to be furnished at any
time by or on behalf of the Servicer to the Agent or any Owner in connection with this Agreement is and will be accurate in all material respects as of its date
or as of the date so furnished, and no such report or document contains, or will contain, as of its date of delivery or the date so furnished, any untrue statement
of a material fact or omits to state, or will omit to state, as of its date of delivery or the date so furnished, a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements contained therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

     (h) Since December 31, 2004, the Servicer has complied with the Credit and Collection Policy in all material respects and since the date of this Agreement
there has been no change in the Credit and Collection Policy except as permitted hereunder.

     (i) The Servicer has not extended or modified the terms of any Pool Receivable or the Contract under which any such Pool Receivable arose, except in
accordance with the Credit and Collection Policy or in accordance with Section 6.02(b).

ARTICLE V

GENERAL COVENANTS OF THE SELLER AND THE SERVICER

     Section 5.01. Affirmative Covenants of the Seller.

     Until the later of (i) the Termination Date and (ii) the date upon which no Capital Investment for any Receivable Interest shall be existing and no Yield,
Letter of Credit Obligations, fees or other amounts remain unpaid under this Agreement, the Seller will:

     (a) Compliance with Laws, Etc. Comply in all material respects with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders with respect to it and all Pool
Receivables and related Contracts, Related Security and Collections with respect thereto.

     (b) Preservation of Corporate Existence. Preserve and maintain its corporate existence, rights, franchises and privileges in the jurisdiction of its
incorporation, and qualify and remain qualified in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where the failure to preserve and maintain such
qualification would materially adversely affect the interests of the Owners or the Agent hereunder or in
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the Pool Receivables and Related Security, or the ability of the Seller or the Servicer to perform their respective obligations hereunder or the ability of the
Seller to perform its obligations under the Contracts.

     (c) Offices, Records and Books of Accounts. (i) Keep its principal place of business and chief executive office and the offices where it keeps its Records
concerning the Pool Receivables at the address of the Seller referred to in Section 4.01(j) or, upon at least 30 days’ prior written notice to the Agent, at any
other location in a jurisdiction where all actions required by Section 6.05(a) shall have been taken, and (ii) maintain and implement administrative and
operating procedures (including, without limitation, an ability to recreate records evidencing Pool Receivables in the event of the destruction of the originals
thereof), and keep and maintain all documents, books, records and other information reasonably necessary or advisable for the collection of all Pool
Receivables (including, without limitation, records adequate to permit the daily identification of each Pool Receivable, the Outstanding Balance of each Pool
Receivable and the dates which payments are due thereon and all Collections of and adjustments to each existing Pool Receivable).

     (d) Performance and Compliance with Contracts and Credit and Collection Policy. At its expense, timely and fully (i) perform, or cause to be performed,
and comply in all material respects with, or cause to be complied with in all material respects, all provisions, covenants and other promises required to be
observed by it under the Contracts related to the Pool Receivables, and timely and fully comply in all material respects with the Credit and Collection Policy
in regard to the Pool Receivables and the related Contracts and (ii) as beneficiary of any Related Security, enforce such Related Security as reasonably
requested by the Agent.

     (e) Examination of Records; Audits.

     (i) From time to time upon 2 Business Days’ prior notice (except that during the continuance of an Event of Termination, no such notice shall be
required) and during regular business hours as requested by the Agent and at the expense of the Seller, permit the Agent, or its agents or representatives,
(A) to examine and make copies of and abstracts from all Records in the possession or under the control of the Seller, or the agents of the Seller, relating
to Pool Receivables and the Related Security, including, without limitation, the related Contracts, and (B) to visit the offices and properties of the Seller,
or the agents of the Seller, for the purpose of examining such materials described in clause (A) above, and to discuss matters relating to Pool Receivables
and the Related Security or the Seller’s performance hereunder or under the Contracts with any of the officers or employees of the Seller having
knowledge of such matters.

     (ii) At any time and from time to time, upon the Agent’s request (at its own election or upon the request of the Required Purchasers) and at the
expense of the Seller, the Seller shall cause independent public accountants or others satisfactory to the Agent to furnish to the Agent reports showing
reconciliations, aging and test verifications of, and trial balances for, the Receivables and/or a written report of an audit conducted by such accountants
with respect to the Pool Receivables, Credit and Collection Policy, Lock-Box Account activity and the Seller’s performance of its obligations under this
Agreement and the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement on a scope and in a form reasonably requested by the Agent for such audit;
provided, however, that unless a Event of Termination or Potential Event of Termination shall be continuing, the Agent shall request no more than one
such report during any calendar year.

     (iii) The Seller shall conduct, or shall cause to be conducted, at its expense and upon request of the Agent (at its own election or upon the request of
the Required Purchasers), and present to the Agent for approval, such appraisals, investigations and reviews as the Agent shall request for the purpose of
determining the Net Receivables Pool Balance, all upon notice and at

48



 

such times during normal business hours and as often as may be reasonably requested. The Seller shall furnish to the Agent any information that the
Agent may reasonably request regarding the determination and calculation of the Net Receivables Pool Balance including correct and complete copies of
any invoices, underlying agreements, instruments or other documents and the identity of all Obligors in respect of Receivables referred to therein.

     (f) Keeping of Records and Books of Account. (i) Keep, or cause to be kept, proper books of record and account, which shall be maintained or caused to
be maintained by the Seller and shall be separate and apart from those of any Affiliate of the Seller, in which full and correct entries shall be made of all
financial transactions and the assets and business of the Seller in accordance with GAAP, (ii) to the extent Records are in written form, segregate such
Records in file cabinets or storage containers and appropriately label such file cabinets or storage containers to reflect that the Receivable Interests have been
conveyed to the Owners, and (iii) to the extent such Records constitute computer programs and other non-written Records, appropriately legend such Records
to reflect that the Receivable Interests have been conveyed to the Owners.

     (g) Deposits to Lock-Box Accounts. Instruct, or cause the Servicer to instruct, all Obligors to make payments in respect of Pool Receivables to a Lock-Box
Account and, if the Seller or any Originator shall otherwise receive any Collections (including, without limitation, any Collections deemed to have been
received by the Seller pursuant to Section 2.09), segregate and hold in trust such Collections and deposit such Collections, or cause such Collections to be
deposited, to a Lock-Box Account within 2 Business Days following such receipt.

     (h) Maintenance of Separate Existence. Do all things necessary to maintain its corporate existence separate and apart from each Originator and other
Affiliates of the Seller, including, without limitation, (i) maintaining proper corporate records and books of account separate from those of such Affiliates;
(ii) maintaining its assets, funds and transactions separate from those of such Affiliates, reflecting such assets, funds and transactions in financial statements
separate and distinct from those of such Affiliates, and evidencing such assets, funds and transactions by appropriate entries in the records and books referred
to in clause (i) above, and providing for its own operating expenses and liabilities from its own assets and funds other than certain expenses and liabilities
relating to basic corporate overhead which may be allocated between the Seller and such Affiliates; (iii) holding such appropriate meetings or obtaining such
appropriate consents of its Board of Directors as are necessary to authorize all the Seller’s corporate actions required by law to be authorized by its Board of
Directors, keeping minutes of such meetings and of meetings of its stockholders and observing all other customary corporate formalities (and any successor
Seller not a corporation shall observe similar procedures in accordance with its governing documents and applicable law); (iv) at all times entering into its
contracts and otherwise holding itself out to the public under the Seller’s own name as a legal entity separate and distinct from such Affiliates; and
(v) conducting all transactions and dealings between the Seller and such Affiliates on an arm’s-length basis.

     (i) Compliance with Opinion Assumptions and Charter and By-Laws. Without limiting the generality of subsection (h) above, maintain in place all policies
and procedures, and take and continue to take all actions, described in the assumptions as to facts set forth in, and forming the basis of, the opinions set forth
in the opinion delivered to the Agent pursuant to subclause (xii)(C) of Section 3.01(b), and comply with, and cause compliance with, the provisions of the
charter and by-laws of the Seller delivered to the Agent pursuant to Section 3.01 as the same may, from time to time, be amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified with the prior written consent of the Agent.

     (j) Purchase of Pool Receivables from Originators. With respect to each Pool Receivable acquired from any Originator by the Seller other than as a capital
contribution, pay to such Originator (in
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accordance with the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement) an amount which constitutes fair consideration and approximates fair market value
for such Pool Receivable and in a sale the terms and conditions of which (including, without limitation, the purchase price thereof) reasonably approximates
an arm’s-length transaction between unaffiliated parties.

     (k) Nature of Business and Permitted Transactions. Engage solely in the businesses and transactions authorized by Section 3 of its charter.

     (l) Transaction Documents. At its expense, timely and fully perform and comply in all material respects with all provisions, covenants and other promises
required to be observed by it under each of the Transaction Documents, maintain each of the Transaction Documents in full force and effect, enforce in
accordance with its terms, take all such action to such end as may be from time to time reasonably requested by the Agent, and make to any party to each of
the Transaction Documents such demands and requests for information and reports or for action as the Seller is entitled to make thereunder and as may be
from time to time reasonably requested by the Agent.

     Section 5.02. Reporting Requirements of the Seller.

     Until the later of (i) the Termination Date and (ii) the date upon which no Capital Investment for any Receivable Interest shall be existing and no Yield,
Letter of Credit Obligations, fees or other amounts remain unpaid under this Agreement, the Seller will furnish to the Agent for distribution to the Purchasers:

     (a) Monthly Reports. Within 35 days after the end of each of the first 11 fiscal months in each Fiscal Year, financial information regarding the Seller
consisting of unaudited balance sheets as of the close of such month and the related statements of income and cash flow for such month and that portion of the
current Fiscal Year ending as of the close of such month, in each case certified by a chief financial officer or treasurer of the Seller as fairly presenting the
financial position of the Seller as at the dates indicated and the results of its operations and cash flow for the periods indicated and recorded in accordance
with GAAP (subject to the absence of footnote disclosure and normal year-end audit adjustments) and in form reasonable acceptable to the Agent and the
Required Purchasers.

     (b) Annual Reports. Within 95 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, financial information regarding the Seller consisting of balance sheets of the Seller as
of the end of such year and related statements of income and cash flows of the Seller for such Fiscal Year, all prepared in conformity with GAAP and
certified, in the case of such Financial Statements, without qualification, including, without limitation, as to the scope of the audit or as to the Seller being a
going concern by the Seller’s independent public accountants, together with the report of such accounting firm stating that (i) such financial statements fairly
present the financial position of the Seller as at the dates indicated and the results of their operations and cash flow for the periods indicated in conformity
with GAAP applied on a basis consistent with prior years (except for changes with which the Seller’s independent public accountants shall concur and that
shall have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements) and (ii) the examination by the Seller’s independent public accountants in connection with
such financial statements has been made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, and accompanied by a certificate stating that in the course
of the regular audit of the business of the Seller such accounting firm has obtained no knowledge that a Potential Event of Termination or Event of
Termination has occurred and is continuing, or, if in the opinion of such accounting firm, a Potential Event of Termination or Event of Termination has
occurred and is continuing, a statement as to the nature thereof.

     (c) Notice of Event of Termination. As soon as possible and in any event within 2 Business Days after a Responsible Officer of the Seller first becomes
aware of each Event of Termination or Potential Event of Termination continuing on the date of such statement, a statement of a Responsible
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Officer of the Seller setting forth details of such Event of Termination or Potential Event of Termination and the action which the Seller has taken and
proposes to take with respect thereto.

     (d) Other. Upon demand, such other information, documents, records or reports respecting the Receivables, the Related Security, the Contracts or the
condition or operations, financial or otherwise, of the Seller as the Agent may from time to time reasonably request.

     Section 5.03. Negative Covenants of the Seller.

     Until the later of (i) the Termination Date and (ii) the date upon which no Capital Investment for any Receivable Interest shall be existing and no Yield,
Letter of Credit Obligations, fees or other amounts remain unpaid under this Agreement, the Seller will not:

     (a) Sales, Adverse Claims, Etc.

     Except as otherwise provided herein, sell, assign (by operation of law or otherwise) or otherwise dispose of, or grant any option with respect to, or create
or suffer to exist any Adverse Claim upon or with respect to, the Seller’s undivided interest in any Pool Receivable or Related Security or Collections in
respect thereof, or upon or with respect to any related Contract or any Deposit Account to which any Collections of any Pool Receivable are sent (including,
without limitation, any Lock-Box Account), or assign any right to receive income in respect thereof; provided, however, that the Seller may, with the prior
written consent of the Agent, sell or assign its undivided interest in any Pool Receivable or Related Security or Collections in respect thereof for consideration
consisting solely of cash.

     (b) Extension or Amendment of Receivables.

     Except as otherwise permitted in Section 6.02, extend, amend or otherwise modify the terms of any Pool Receivable, or amend, modify or waive any term
or condition of any Contract related thereto.

     (c) Change in Business or Credit and Collection Policy.

     Make any change in the character of its business or in the Credit and Collection Policy that would, in either case, be reasonably likely to impair the
collectibility of the Pool Receivables.

     (d) Change in Payment Instructions to Obligors.

     Add or terminate any bank as a Lock-Box Bank or any Deposit Account as a Lock-Box Account from those listed in Schedule I, or make any change in the
instructions to Obligors regarding payments to be made to any Lock-Box Account, unless the Agent shall have received at least 20 days’ prior written notice
of such addition, termination or change and shall have received, with respect to each new Lock-Box Account, a Lock-Box Agreement executed by the Lock-
Box Bank that maintains such Lock-Box Account and the Seller or any Originator, as applicable; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in the foregoing, the Seller shall be permitted to terminate Lock-Box Account numbered 14046 within 30 days of the Amendment and Restatement
Effective Date so long as the Agent shall be satisfied that the Obligors who had made payments to such Lock-Box Account prior to the termination thereof
shall have been instructed by the Seller or the Servicer to make such payments to another Lock-Box Account that is subject to a Lock-Box Agreement.

     (e) Deposits to Lock-Box Accounts.
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     Deposit or otherwise credit, or cause or permit to be so deposited or credited, to any Lock-Box Account cash or cash proceeds other than Collections of
Pool Receivables.

     (f) Change of Name, Etc.

     Change its name, identity, form of legal structure or jurisdiction of organization, unless, prior to the effective date of any such change, the Seller delivers to
the Agent (i) UCC financing statements necessary to reflect such change and to continue the perfection of the ownership interests in the Receivable Interests
contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) if the identity or structure of the Seller has changed and such change adversely affects the rights of the Agent under
then existing Lock-Box Agreements with the Seller to take control of the Lock-Box Accounts pursuant to Section 6.03(a), new Lock-Box Agreements
executed by the Seller and the Lock-Box Banks, to the extent necessary to reflect such changes and to continue to enable the Agent to exercise such rights.

     (g) Debt.

     Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any
indebtedness, other than (i) indebtedness of the Seller representing fees, expenses and indemnities arising hereunder or under the Amended and Restated
Receivables Sale Agreement for the purchase price of the Receivables under the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, and (ii) other
indebtedness of the Seller incurred in the ordinary course of its business in an amount not to exceed $9,500 at any time outstanding.

     (h) Lease Obligations.

     Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any obligations as lessee for the rental or lease of real or personal property, other than for the lease or rental of an
office space or office equipment for use by the Seller in the ordinary course of its business.

     (i) ERISA.

     Adopt, maintain, contribute to or incur or assume any obligation with respect to any Plan, Multiemployer Plan or Welfare Plan.

     (j) Investments in Other Persons.

     Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, make or hold any Investment in any Person.

     (k) Sales, Etc., of Assets.

     Except as contemplated or otherwise permitted by this Agreement, sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any assets.

     (l) Merger, Etc.

     Consolidate with or merge into any other Person.

     (m) Organizational Documents.

     Amend, supplement or otherwise modify its charter or by-laws, in each case furnished to the Agent pursuant to clause (v) Section 3.01(b).
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     (n) Accounting.

     Account for (including for accounting and tax purposes) or otherwise treat the transactions contemplated by the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale
Agreement in any manner other than as sales of Receivables by any Originator to the Seller, or account for (other than for tax purposes) or otherwise treat the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any manner other than as sales of Receivable Interests by the Seller to the Agent for the account of the
Purchasers, or otherwise change its (i) accounting treatment and reporting practices or tax reporting treatment, except as required by GAAP or any
Requirement of Law and disclosed to the Purchasers and the Agent or (ii) fiscal year.

     (o) Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement and Amended and Restated Letter of Credit Agreement.

     (i) Cancel or terminate the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement or Amended and Restated Letter of Credit Agreement or consent to or
accept any cancellation or termination thereof, (ii) amend, supplement or otherwise modify any term or condition of the Amended and Restated
Receivables Sale Agreement or Amended and Restated Letter of Credit Agreement or give any consent, waiver or approval thereunder, (iii) waive any
default under or breach of the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement or Amended and Restated Letter of Credit Agreement or (iv) take any
other action under the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement or Amended and Restated Letter of Credit Agreement not required by the
terms thereof that would impair the value of any Receivable Assets (as defined therein) or the rights or interests of the Seller thereunder or of the Agent
or any Owner or Indemnified Party hereunder or thereunder.

     (p) Adverse Claims on the Capital Stock of the Seller. Create or suffer to exist, any Adverse Claim upon or with respect to any of the Stock of the Seller.

     Section 5.04. Affirmative Covenants of the Servicer.

     Until the later of (i) the Termination Date and (ii) the date upon which no Capital Investment for any Receivable Interest shall be existing and no Yield,
Letter of Credit Obligations, fees or other amounts remain unpaid under this Agreement, the Servicer will:

     (a) Compliance with Laws, Etc.

     Comply in all material respects with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders with respect to it and all Pool Receivables and related Contracts,
Related Security and Collections with respect thereto.

     (b) Preservation of Corporate Existence.

     Preserve and maintain its corporate existence, rights, franchises and privileges in the jurisdiction of its incorporation, and qualify and remain qualified in
good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where the failure to preserve and maintain such qualification would materially adversely affect the
interests of the Owners or the Agent hereunder or in the Pool Receivables and Related Security, or the ability of the Servicer to perform its obligations
hereunder.

     (c) Books of Accounts.

     Maintain and implement administrative and operating procedures (including, without limitation, an ability to recreate records evidencing Pool Receivables
in the event of the destruction of the originals
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thereof), and keep and maintain all documents, books, records and other information reasonably necessary or advisable for the collection of all Pool
Receivables (including, without limitation, records adequate to permit the daily identification of each Pool Receivable, the Outstanding Balance of each Pool
Receivable and the dates which payments are due thereon and all Collections of and adjustments to each existing Pool Receivable).

     (d) Performance and Compliance with Contracts and Credit and Collection Policy.

     At its expense, timely and fully (i) perform, or cause to be performed, and comply in all material respects with, or cause to be complied with in all material
respects, all provisions, covenants and other promises required to be observed by it under the Contracts related to the Pool Receivables, and timely and fully
comply in all material respects with the Credit and Collection Policy in regard to the Pool Receivables and the related Contracts and (ii) as beneficiary of any
Related Security, enforce and cause each other Originator to enforce such Related Security as reasonably requested by the Agent.

     (e) Examination of Records; Audits.

     (i) From time to time upon 2 Business Days prior notice (except that during the continuance of an Event of Termination, no such notice shall be
required) and during regular business hours as requested by the Agent and at the expense of the Servicer, permit the Agent, or its agents or
representatives, (A) to examine and make copies of and abstracts from all Records in the possession or under the control of any Originator, the Servicer,
their respective Affiliates (other than the Seller) or the agents of such Originator, the Servicer or their respective Affiliates, relating to Pool Receivables
and the Related Security, including, without limitation, the related Contracts, and (B) to visit the offices and properties of any Originator, the Servicer,
their respective Affiliates (other than the Seller) or the agents of such Originator, the Servicer, or their respective Affiliates, for the purpose of examining
such materials described in clause (A) above, and to discuss matters relating to Pool Receivables and the Related Security or the Servicer’s performance
hereunder or under the Contracts with any of the officers or employees of the Servicer having knowledge of such matters.

     (ii) The Agent may (at its own election or at the request of the Required Purchasers), at the Servicer’s sole cost and expense, make test verifications of
the Receivables in any manner and through any medium that the Agent considers advisable, and the Servicer shall furnish all such assistance and
information as the Agent may require in connection therewith.

     (iii) At any time and from time to time, upon the Agent’s request (at its own election or at the request of the Required Purchasers) and at the expense
of the Servicer, the Servicer shall cause independent public accountants or others satisfactory to the Agent to furnish to the Agent reports showing
reconciliations, aging and test verifications of, and trial balances for, the Receivables and/or a written report of an audit conducted by such accountants
with respect to the Pool Receivables, Credit and Collection Policy, Lock-Box Account activity and the Servicer’s performance of its obligations under
this Agreement and the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement on a scope and in a form reasonably requested by the Agent for such audit;
provided, however, that unless a Event of Termination or Potential Event of Termination shall be continuing, the Agent shall request no more than 4 such
reports during any calendar year.

     (iv) The Servicer shall conduct, or shall cause to be conducted, at its expense and upon request of the Agent (at its own election or at the request of the
Required Purchasers), and present to the Agent for approval, such appraisals, investigations and reviews as the Agent shall request for the purpose of
determining the Net Receivables Pool Balance, all upon notice and at
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such times during normal business hours and as often as may be reasonably requested. The Servicer shall furnish to the Agent any information that the
Agent may reasonably request regarding the determination and calculation of the Net Receivables Pool Balance including correct and complete copies of
any invoices, underlying agreements, instruments or other documents and the identity of all Obligors in respect of Receivables referred to therein.

     (f) Keeping of Records and Books of Account.

     (i) Keep, or cause to be kept, proper books of record and account, in which full and correct entries shall be made of all financial transactions and the
assets and business of the Servicer in accordance with GAAP, (ii) to the extent Records are in written form, segregate such Records in file cabinets or
storage containers and appropriately label such file cabinets or storage containers to reflect that the Receivable Interests have been conveyed to the
Owners, and (iii) to the extent such Records constitute computer programs and other non-written Records, appropriately legend such Records to reflect
that the Receivable Interests have been conveyed to the Owners.

     (g) Deposits to Lock-Box Accounts.

     Instruct all Obligors to make payments in respect of Pool Receivables to a Lock-Box Account and, if the Servicer shall otherwise receive any Collections
(including, without limitation, any Collections deemed to have been received by the Seller pursuant to Section 2.09), segregate and hold in trust such
Collections and deposit such Collections, or cause such Collections to be deposited, to a Lock-Box Account within 2 Business Days following such receipt.

     Section 5.05. Reporting Requirements of the Servicer.

     Until the later of (i) the Termination Date and (ii) the date upon which no Capital Investment for any Receivable Interest shall be existing and no Yield,
Letter of Credit Obligations, fees or other amounts remain unpaid under this Agreement, the Servicer will furnish to the Agent for distribution to the
Purchasers:

     (a) Monthly Reports. Within 35 days after the end of each of the first two fiscal months in each fiscal quarter, financial information regarding PolyOne and
its Subsidiaries consisting of Consolidated unaudited balance sheets as of the close of such month and the related statements of income and cash flow for such
month and that portion of the current Fiscal Year ending as of the close of such month, setting forth in comparative form the figures contained in the
Amended and Restated Projections or, if applicable, the latest business plan provided pursuant to clause (e) below for the current Fiscal Year, in each case
certified by the chief financial officer, treasurer or other Responsible Officer acceptable to the Agent of PolyOne as fairly presenting the Consolidated
financial position of PolyOne and its Subsidiaries as at the dates indicated and the results of their operations and cash flow for the periods indicated and
recorded in accordance with GAAP (subject to the absence of footnote disclosure and normal year-end audit adjustments) and in form reasonably acceptable
to the Agent and the Required Purchasers.

     (b) Quarterly Reports. Within 50 days after the end of each of the first 3 fiscal quarters of each Fiscal Year, financial information regarding PolyOne and
its Subsidiaries consisting of Consolidated unaudited balance sheets as of the close of such quarter and the related statements of income and cash flow for
such quarter and that portion of the Fiscal Year ending as of the close of such quarter, setting forth in comparative form the figures contained in the Amended
and Restated Projections or, if applicable, the latest business plan provided pursuant to clause (e) below for the current Fiscal Year in
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each case certified by the chief financial officer, treasurer or other Responsible Officer acceptable to the Agent of PolyOne as fairly presenting the
Consolidated financial position of PolyOne and its Subsidiaries as at the dates indicated and the results of their operations and cash flow for the periods
indicated in accordance with GAAP (subject to the absence of footnote disclosure and normal year-end audit adjustments) and in form reasonably acceptable
to the Agent and the Required Purchasers.

     (c) Annual Reports. Within 95 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, financial information regarding PolyOne and its Subsidiaries consisting of
Consolidated balance sheets of PolyOne and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such year and related statements of income and cash flows of PolyOne and its
Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Year, all prepared in conformity with GAAP and certified, in the case of such Consolidated financial statements, without
qualification, including, but not limited to, as to the scope of the audit or as to PolyOne being a going concern by PolyOne’s independent public accountants,
together with the report of such accounting firm stating that (i) such financial statements fairly present the Consolidated financial position of PolyOne and its
Subsidiaries as at the dates indicated and the results of their operations and cash flow for the periods indicated in conformity with GAAP applied on a basis
consistent with prior years (except for changes with which PolyOne’s independent public accountants shall concur and that shall have been disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements) and (ii) the examination by PolyOne’s independent public accountants in connection with such Consolidated Financial
Statements has been made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, and accompanied by a certificate stating that in the course of the regular
audit of the business of PolyOne and its Subsidiaries such accounting firm has obtained no knowledge that an Event of Termination or a Potential Event of
Termination has occurred and is continuing, or, if in the opinion of such accounting firm, a Potential Event of Termination or Event of Termination has
occurred and is continuing, a statement as to the nature thereof.

     (d) Notice of Event of Termination. As soon as possible and in any event within 2 Business Days after a Responsible Officer of the Servicer, PolyOne or
an Originator first becomes aware of each Event of Termination or Potential Event of Termination continuing on the date of such statement, a statement of the
chief financial officer or treasurer of the Servicer setting forth details of such Event of Termination or Potential Event of Termination and the action which the
Seller has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto.

     (e) Business Plan. Not later than the earlier of (i) 15 days after PolyOne has received the approval of its board of directors therefor and (ii) 90 days after
the commencement of each Fiscal Year: (A) the annual business plan of PolyOne and its Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Year approved by the Board of Directors
of PolyOne, (B) forecasts prepared by management of PolyOne for each fiscal month in such Fiscal Year and (C) forecasts prepared by management of
PolyOne for such Fiscal Year and each of the succeeding Fiscal Years through the Amended and Restated Commitment Termination Date, including, in each
instance described in clauses (B) and (C) above, (x) a projected year-end Consolidated balance sheet and income statement and statement of cash flows, (y) a
statement of all of the material assumptions on which such forecasts are based and (z) containing the types of financial information contained in the Amended
and Restated Projections.

     (f) Public and Creditors’ Reports. Promptly after the sending or filing thereof, copies of (a) all reports that PolyOne is required to provide or provides to
the lenders under the Revolving Credit Agreement, (b) all reports PolyOne sends to its security holders generally, (c) all reports and registration statements
that PolyOne or any of its Subsidiaries files with the Securities and Exchange Commission or any national or foreign securities exchange or the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., (d) all press releases and (e) all other statements concerning material changes or developments in the business of
PolyOne made available by PolyOne or any of its domestic Subsidiaries to the public or any other creditor.
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     (g) Other. Upon demand, such other information, documents, records or reports respecting the Receivables, the Related Security, the Contracts or the
condition or operations, financial or otherwise, of PolyOne as the Agent may from time to time reasonably request.

     Section 5.06. Negative Covenants of the Servicer.

     Until the later of (i) the Termination Date and (ii) the date upon which no Capital Investment for any Receivable Interest shall be existing and no Yield,
fees or other amounts remain unpaid under this Agreement, the Servicer will not:

     (a) Extension or Amendment of Receivables.

     Except as otherwise permitted in Section 6.02, extend, amend or otherwise modify the terms of any Pool Receivable, or amend, modify or waive any term
or condition of any Contract related thereto.

     (b) Change in Business or Credit and Collection Policy.

     Make any change in the character of its business or in the Credit and Collection Policy that would, in either case, be reasonably likely to impair the
collectibility of the Pool Receivables.

     (c) Change in Payment Instructions to Obligors.

     Add or terminate any bank as a Lock-Box Bank or any Deposit Account as a Lock-Box Account from those listed in Schedule I, or make any change in the
instructions to Obligors regarding payments to be made to any Lock-Box Account, unless the Agent shall have received at least 20 days’ prior written notice
of such addition, termination or change and shall have received, with respect to each new Lock-Box Account, a Lock-Box Agreement executed by the Lock-
Box Bank that maintains such Lock-Box Account and the Seller or any Originator, as applicable; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in the foregoing, the Servicer shall be permitted to terminate Lock-Box Account numbered 14046 within 30 days of the Amendment and
Restatement Effective Date so long as the Agent shall be satisfied that the Obligors who had made payments to such Lock-Box Account prior to the
termination thereof shall have been instructed by the Servicer to make such payments to another Lock-Box Account that is subject to a Lock-Box Agreement.

     (d) Deposits to Lock-Box Accounts.

     Deposit or otherwise credit, or cause or permit to be so deposited or credited, to any Lock-Box Account cash or cash proceeds other than Collections of
Pool Receivables.

     (e) Accounting. Change its (i) accounting treatment and reporting practices or tax reporting treatment, except as required by GAAP or any Requirement of
Law and disclosed to the Purchasers and the Agent or (ii) fiscal year.

     (f) Asset Sales. Sell, convey, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of, any of its assets or any interest therein (including the sale or factoring at maturity or
collection of any accounts), whether in a single transaction, or a series of related transactions, to any Person, or permit or suffer any other Person to acquire
any interest in any of its assets except:

          (i) sales pursuant to the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement;

          (ii) the sale or other disposition of inventory in the ordinary course of business;
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          (iii) the sale or other disposition of the Stock of PEFI or all or substantially all of the assets of PEFI; provided, however, that at least 50% of the
proceeds of such sale or transfer (or such series of related sales or transfers) are payable in cash to the Servicer (in the case of a disposition of Stock) or PEFI
(in the case of a disposition of assets) upon the consummation of such sale or other disposition;

          (iv) the sale or other disposition of assets or any interest therein having a Fair Market Value that is less than (x) $250,000 individually and (y)
$2,000,000 in the aggregate for all such dispositions; and

          (v) dispositions of assets or interests therein not otherwise permitted above so long as (w) no Potential Event of Termination or Event of Termination is
continuing or would result therefrom, (x) such sale or other transfer is for Fair Market Value, (y) if such asset or interest has a Fair Market Value of
$10,000,000 or more, or if when aggregated with all such assets or interest previously sold, conveyed, transferred, leased or disposed at any time after the
Amendment and Restatement Effective Date, $25,000,000 or more, 50% of the proceeds of such sale or transfer (or such series of related sales or transfers)
are payable in cash to the Servicer upon the consummation of each such sale or transfer, and (z) if the Fair Market Value of such asset is in excess of
$25,000,000, the Board of Directors of the Servicer has approved such sale.

     (g) Adverse Claims on the Capital Stock of the Seller. Create or suffer to exist, any Adverse Claim upon or with respect to any of the Stock of the Seller.

     Section 5.07. Affirmative Financial Covenants of the Servicer.

     Until the later of the Termination Date and the date upon which no Capital Investment for any Receivable Interest shall be existing and no Yield, Letter of
Credit Obligations, fees or other amounts remain unpaid under this Agreement, the Servicer will, so long as the Servicer shall be PolyOne or an Affiliate
thereof:

     (a) Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. Maintain as of the end of any fiscal quarter during which Total Excess Availability (calculated using the
average Total Excess Availability for each day during such fiscal quarter) is less than $40,000,000, a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of not less than 1:1.

     (b) Minimum Excess Availability. Maintain on each day Receivables Excess Availability in an amount not less than $10,000,000 and Total Excess
Availability in an amount not less than $15,000,000.

     Section 5.08. Negative Financial Covenants of the Servicer.

     Until the later of the Termination Date and the date upon which no Capital Investment for any Receivable Interest shall be existing, and no Yield, Letter of
Credit Obligations, fees or other amounts shall remain unpaid under this Agreement, the Servicer (so long as the Servicer shall be PolyOne or an Affiliate
thereof) will not:

     (a) Capital Expenditures. Make or incur, or permit its Subsidiaries to make or incur, Capital Expenditures during each their respective Fiscal Years in an
aggregate amount in excess of $90,000,000.

     (b) Restricted Payments. Directly or indirectly, declare, order, pay, make or set apart any sum for any Restricted Payment unless, (i) such Restricted
Payment, together with all Restricted
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Payments made in the then current Fiscal Year, does not exceed $10,000,000 and Total Excess Availability (calculated on a pro forma basis and using the
average Total Excess Availability for each day during the preceding calendar month) is at least $50,000,000; or (ii) Total Excess Availability (calculated on a
pro forma basis and using the average Total Excess Availability for each day during the preceding calendar month) is at least $75,000,000 and the Fixed
Charge Coverage Ratio for PolyOne and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for the then most recently ended four fiscal quarter period is at least 1.5 to 1.00; or
(iii) Total Excess Availability (calculated on a pro forma basis and using the average Total Excess Availability for each day during the preceding calendar
month) is at least $100,000,000 and the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for PolyOne and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for the then most recently ended four
fiscal quarter period is at least 1.0 to 1.0.

     (c) Prepayment of Debt. Prepay, redeem, purchase, defease or otherwise satisfy prior to the scheduled maturity thereof in any manner, or make any
payment in violation of any subordination terms of, any Debt and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to do any of the foregoing; provided, however, that
the Servicer or any Subsidiary of the Servicer may (i) prepay any obligations hereunder in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, (ii) make regularly
scheduled or otherwise required repayments or redemptions of Debt, (iii) prepay Debt under the Revolving Credit Agreement; (iv) prepay any Debt payable
to the Servicer by any of its Subsidiaries, (v) renew, extend, refinance and refund Debt on terms no less favorable to the Servicer or its Subsidiary obligated
thereunder, including as to weighted average maturity and final maturity, than the Debt being renewed, extended, refinanced or refunded, (vi) to the extent
that the Servicer sells or otherwise disposes of any assets in accordance with the requirements of Section 5.06(f) (as certified to the Agent by a Responsible
Officer of the Servicer), the Servicer may apply up to 70% of the net cash proceeds received by the Servicer in connection with any such sale or other
disposition (as such amount shall be certified to the Agent by a Responsible Officer of the Servicer) to prepay, redeem or otherwise purchase, at the election
of the Servicer, any 10 5/8% Senior Notes, any Geon Notes and/or MA Hanna Notes outstanding; provided, that, both before and after giving effect to any
such prepayment, redemption or purchase, (x) each of the representations and warranties contained in Article IV (Representations and Warranties) of this
Agreement or the other Transaction Documents is true and correct in all material respects as if made on and as of such date and except to the extent that such
representations and warranties specifically relate to a specific date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all material
respects as of such specific date and (y) no Potential Event of Termination or Event of Termination shall have occurred and be continuing on and as of such
date, and (vii) prepay any other obligations on any Debt provided, that before and after giving effect to such prepayment (a) Total Excess Availability
(calculated on a pro forma basis using the average Total Excess Availability for each day during the preceding calendar month) is not less than $100,000,000,
reduced by the amount of any Restricted Payments made during such month and (b) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of the Servicer and its Subsidiaries for
the then most recently ended four fiscal quarter period is not less than 1.0 to 1.0

ARTICLE VI

ADMINISTRATION AND COLLECTION

     Section 6.01. Designation of Servicer.

     The Pool Receivables shall be serviced, administered and collected by the Person (the “Servicer”) designated to do so from time to time in accordance
with this Section 6.01. Until the Agent designates a new Servicer, PolyOne is hereby designated as, and hereby agrees to perform the duties and obligations
of, the Servicer pursuant to the terms hereof. The Agent may at any time designate as Servicer any Person (including itself) to succeed PolyOne or any
successor Servicer, if such Person (other than itself) shall agree in writing to perform the duties and obligations of the Servicer pursuant to the terms hereof.
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The Servicer may subcontract with each Originator to service, administer or collect the Pool Receivables that such Originator creates, and may, with the prior
consent of the Agent, subcontract with any other Person to service, administer or collect the Pool Receivables, provided that such other Originator or other
Person with whom the Servicer so subcontracts shall not become the Servicer hereunder and the Servicer shall remain liable for the performance of the duties
and obligations of the Servicer pursuant to the terms hereof.

     Section 6.02. Duties of Servicer.

     (a) The Servicer shall take or cause to be taken all such commercially reasonable actions as may be necessary or advisable to collect each Pool Receivable
from time to time, all in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, with reasonable care and diligence, and in accordance with the Credit and
Collection Policy. Each of the Seller, the Purchasers and the Agent hereby appoints as its agent the Servicer, from time to time designated pursuant to
Section 6.01, to enforce its respective rights and interests in and under the Pool Receivables, the Related Security and the related Contracts.

     (b) The Servicer shall set aside and hold in trust for the account of the Seller and each Owner their respective allocable shares of the Collections of Pool
Receivables in accordance with Sections 2.07 and 2.08, but shall not be required (unless otherwise requested by the Agent) to segregate the funds constituting
such portion of such Collections prior to the remittance thereof in accordance with such Sections. If instructed by the Agent, the Servicer shall segregate and
deposit with a bank (which may be Citicorp) designated by the Agent such allocable share of Collections of Pool Receivables set aside for each Owner on the
first Business Day following receipt by the Servicer of such Collections. If no Event of Termination or Potential Event of Termination shall have occurred and
be continuing, PolyOne, while it is the Servicer, may, in accordance with the Credit and Collection Policy, (i) extend the maturity or adjust the Outstanding
Balance of any Receivable (that is not an Eligible Receivable) as PolyOne may determine to be appropriate to maximize Collections thereof, (ii) extend the
term of any Contract and (iii) adjust any other terms and conditions of any Contract if, but only if (in the case of this clause (iii)), the Servicer gives at least 2
Business Days’ prior written notice of such adjustments to the Agent and the Agent agrees in writing to such adjustments.

     (c) The Servicer shall administer the Collections in accordance with the procedures described herein and in Section 2.09. The Servicer shall set aside and
hold in trust for the account of the Seller in accordance with Section 6.02(b) above, (i) the Seller’s allocable share of the Collections of Pool Receivables less
all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Servicer of servicing, administering and collecting the Pool Receivables to the extent not covered by
the Servicer Fee received by it and (ii) the Collections of any Receivable which is not a Pool Receivable in accordance with Section 2.09. The Servicer shall,
if not PolyOne, as soon as practicable following receipt, turn over to the Seller any cash collections or other cash proceeds received with respect to
Receivables not constituting Pool Receivables.

     (d) The Servicer shall hold in trust for the Seller and each Owner, in accordance with their respective interests, all Records that evidence or relate to the
Pool Receivables. The Servicer shall, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Termination, and at the request of the Agent, provide to
the Agent the Records with respect to the Pool Receivables.

     (e) The Servicer shall, from time to time at the request of the Agent, furnish to the Agent (promptly after any such request) a calculation of the amounts set
aside for each Owner pursuant to Section 2.07 or 2.08.
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     Section 6.03. Rights of the Agent.

     (a) The Seller and PolyOne each hereby transfer to the Agent the exclusive ownership, dominion and control of the Lock-Box Accounts to which the
Obligors of Pool Receivables shall make payments, and shall take any further action that the Agent may reasonably request to effect such transfer. Further, the
Agent may notify at any time and at the Seller’s expense the Obligors of Pool Receivables, or any of them, of the ownership of Receivable Interests by the
Owners.

     (b) At any time:

     (i) The Agent may direct the Obligors of Pool Receivables, or any of them, to make payment of all amounts due or to become due to the Seller under
any Pool Receivable directly to the Agent or its designee.

     (ii) The Seller and PolyOne each shall, at the Agent’s request and at the Seller’s and PolyOne’s expense, give notice of such ownership to such
Obligors and direct them to make such payments directly to the Agent or its designee.

     (iii) The Seller and PolyOne each shall, at the Agent’s request, (A) assemble all of the Records which evidence or relate to the Pool Receivables, and
the related Contracts and Related Security, or which are otherwise necessary or desirable to collect the Pool Receivables, and shall make the same
available to the Agent at a place reasonably selected by the Agent or its designee, and (B) segregate all cash, checks and other instruments received by it
from time to time constituting Collections or other proceeds of Pool Receivables in a manner reasonably acceptable to the Agent and shall, promptly
upon receipt, remit all such cash, checks and instruments, duly endorsed or with duly executed instruments of transfer, to the Agent or its designee.

     (iv) The Agent may take any and all commercially reasonable steps in the Seller’s or PolyOne’s name and on behalf of the Seller and the Owners
necessary or desirable, in the determination of the Agent, to collect all amounts due under any and all Pool Receivables, including, without limitation,
endorsing the Seller’s or PolyOne’s name on checks and other instruments representing Collections or other proceeds of Pool Receivables, enforcing
such Pool Receivables and the related Contracts, and adjusting, settling or compromising the amount or payment thereof, in the same manner and to the
same extent as the Seller or PolyOne might have done.

     Section 6.04. Responsibilities of the Seller.

     Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding:

     (a) The Seller and PolyOne each shall perform all of its obligations under the Contracts related to the Pool Receivables to the same extent as if Receivable
Interests had not been sold hereunder and the exercise by the Agent of its rights hereunder shall not release PolyOne or the Seller from such obligations or its
obligations with respect to Pool Receivables or under the related Contracts; and

     (b) Neither the Agent nor the Owners shall have any obligation or liability with respect to any Pool Receivables or related Contracts, nor shall any of them
be obligated to perform any of the obligations of the Seller or any Originator thereunder.

61



 

     Section 6.05. Further Action Evidencing Purchases.

     (a) The Seller and the Servicer each agrees that from time to time, at its expense, it will promptly execute and deliver all further instruments and
documents, and take all further action, that may be necessary, or that the Agent may reasonably request, in order to perfect, protect or more fully evidence the
Receivable Interests purchased by the Owners hereunder, or to enable any of them or the Agent to exercise and enforce any of their respective rights and
remedies hereunder. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Seller and the Servicer each will upon the request of the Agent, in order to perfect,
protect or evidence such Receivable Interests: (i) execute and file such financing or continuation statements, or amendments thereto or assignments thereof,
and such other instruments or notices, as may be necessary, or as the Agent may reasonably request; (ii) mark conspicuously each invoice evidencing each
Pool Receivable and the related Contract with a legend, acceptable to the Agent, evidencing that such Receivable Interests have been sold in accordance with
this Agreement; and (iii) mark its master data processing records evidencing such Pool Receivables and related Contracts with such legend.

     (b) The Seller hereby authorizes the Agent to file one or more financing or continuation statements, and amendments thereto and assignments thereof,
relating to all or any of the Contracts, or Pool Receivables and the Related Security and Collections with respect thereto, now existing or hereafter arising,
without the signature of the Seller where permitted by law. A photocopy or other reproduction of this Agreement or any financing statement covering all or
any of the Contracts, or Pool Receivables and the Related Security and Collections with respect thereto shall be sufficient as a financing statement where
permitted by law.

     (c) If the Servicer or the Seller fails to perform any agreement contained herein, then after notice to the Servicer or the Seller, as applicable, the Agent may
itself perform, or cause performance of, such agreement, and the reasonable costs and expenses of the Agent incurred in connection therewith shall be payable
by the Seller under Section 10.01 or Section 11.04, as applicable.

ARTICLE VII

EVENTS OF TERMINATION

     Section 7.01. Events of Termination.

     If any of the following events (“Events of Termination”) shall occur and be continuing:

     (a) The Seller or the Servicer shall fail to make any payment or deposit to be made by it hereunder when due and such failure remains unremedied for
3 days; or

     (b) Any representation or warranty made or deemed made by the Seller or any Originator or the Servicer (or any of their respective officers) under or in
connection with this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or in any Seller Report, or Receivables Report or any other written report, certificate or
information delivered by or on behalf of the Seller or any Originator or the Servicer (or any of their respective officers) pursuant hereto or thereto, shall prove
to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made or delivered; or

     (c) (i) The Seller or the Servicer shall fail to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in Section 5.01(e), 5.01(g), 5.02, 5.03, 5.04(e),
5.04(g), 5.05 or 5.06 of this Agreement, (ii) any Originator shall fail to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in Section 4.01(g),
4.01(i), 4.01(j)(iii) or 4.02 of the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement; or (iii) the Seller, the Servicer, PolyOne (other than in its capacity as
Servicer) or any Originator shall fail
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to perform or observe any other term, covenant or agreement contained in any Transaction Document on its part to be performed or observed and any such
failure shall remain unremedied for 3 Business Days after the earlier of (A) the date on which a Responsible Officer of PolyOne becomes aware of such
failure and (B) the date on which written notice thereof shall have been given to the Seller by the Agent or any Purchaser; or

     (d) The Seller or PolyOne shall fail to pay any principal of, or premium or interest on, any of its Debt that is outstanding in a principal amount of at least
$9,500, in the case of the Seller, and $15,000,000, in the case of PolyOne (including, without limitation, all amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit
Agreement) or any Originator, when the same becomes due and payable (whether by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration, demand or
otherwise), and such failure shall continue after the applicable grace period, if any, specified in the agreement or instrument relating to such Debt; or any
other event shall occur or condition shall exist under any agreement or instrument relating to any such Debt and shall continue after the applicable grace
period, if any, specified in such agreement or instrument, if the effect of such event or condition is to accelerate, or to permit the acceleration of, the maturity
of such Debt; or any such Debt shall be declared to be due and payable, or required to be prepaid (other than by a regularly scheduled required prepayment),
redeemed, purchased or defeased, or an offer to prepay, redeem, purchase or defease such Debt shall be required to be made, in each case prior to the stated
maturity thereof; or

     (e) Any Purchase or any reinvestment pursuant to Section 2.07 shall for any reason (other than pursuant to the terms hereof) cease to create, or any
Receivable Interest shall for any reason cease to be, a valid and perfected first priority undivided percentage ownership interest or security interest to the
extent of the pertinent Receivable Interest in each applicable Pool Receivable and the Related Security and Collections with respect thereto; or

     (f) The Seller, the Servicer or any Originator shall generally not pay its debts as such debts become due, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its
debts generally, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; or any proceeding shall be instituted by or against the Seller, the Servicer or
any Originator seeking to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking liquidation, winding up, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, protection, relief,
or composition of it or its debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors, or seeking the entry of an order for
relief or the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for any substantial part of its property and, in the case of any such
proceeding instituted against it (but not instituted by it) that is being diligently contested by it in good faith, either such proceeding shall remain undismissed
or unstayed for a period of 30 days, or any of the actions sought in such proceeding (including, without limitation, the entry of an order for relief against, or
the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for, it or for any substantial part of its property) shall occur; or the Seller, the Servicer
or any Originator shall take any corporate action to authorize any of the actions set forth above in this subsection (f); or

     (g) The Net Receivables Pool Balance shall be less than the Required Net Receivables Pool Balance for a period of 2 consecutive Business Days or more;
or

     (h) Since December 31, 2004, there shall have been any Material Adverse Change (other than to the extent expressly set forth on Schedule V hereto or
disclosed in any public filing prior to the date hereof with the Securities and Exchange Commission); or

     (i) Any provision of any Transaction Document shall for any reason cease to be a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Seller, the Servicer or any
Originator, as applicable, or the Seller, the Servicer or any Originator, as applicable, shall so state in writing; or
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     (j) A Change of Control shall occur;

     (k) The charter or by-laws of the Seller shall be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified without consent of the Agent;

     (l) On the date which is 60 days prior to the final maturity date of the 10 5/8% Senior Notes, the outstanding principal amount of the 
10 5/8% Senior Notes is $40,000,000 or more,

then, and in any such event, the Agent shall, at the request, or may with the consent, of the Required Purchasers, by notice to the Seller and the Servicer
declare the Termination Date to have occurred, whereupon the Termination Date shall forthwith occur; provided, that, automatically upon the occurrence of
any event (without any requirement for the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both) described in subsection (f) of this Section 7.01, the Termination
Date shall occur, and the Agent may replace the Servicer pursuant to Section 6.01. Upon any such occurrence of the Termination Date, the Agent and each
Owner shall have, in addition to all other rights and remedies under this Agreement or otherwise, all other rights and remedies provided under any and all
applicable laws, which rights shall be cumulative.

     Section 7.02. Actions in Respect of Letters of Credit.

     Upon the occurrence or declaration of the Termination Date, pursuant to Section 2.08, the Servicer shall set aside and hold in trust as security for
repayment of all amounts with respect to undrawn Letters of Credit for the Purchasers an amount equal to (a) 105% in respect of Standby Letters Of Credit
and (b) 115% in respect of Documentary Letters of Credit, of the Letter of Credit Undrawn Amount. The Servicer may, from time to time, apply such funds in
accordance with Section 2.08.

ARTICLE VIII

THE AGENT

     Section 8.01. Authorization and Action.

     Each Purchaser and each Issuing Bank hereby appoints and authorizes the Agent to take such action as agent on its behalf and to exercise such powers and
discretion under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the other instruments and documents delivered pursuant hereto as are delegated to
the Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such powers and discretion as are reasonably incidental thereto. The Agent agrees to give to each
Purchaser and each Issuing Bank copies of each notice (including, without limitation, each report and financial statement received hereunder or under any
other Transaction Document) given to the Agent by the Seller, the Servicer or an Originator pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document. The Agent further agrees that the Required Purchasers may compel the Agent to make any request that the Agent may but is not required to make
hereunder.

     Section 8.02. Agent’s Reliance, Etc.

     Neither the Agent nor any of its directors, officers, agents or employees shall be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it or them as Agent
under or in connection with this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any other instrument or document delivered pursuant hereto (including,
without limitation, the Agent’s servicing, administering or collecting Pool Receivables as Servicer pursuant to Section 6.01), except for its or their own gross
negligence or willful misconduct. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, except as otherwise agreed by the Agent and any Owner, the Agent:
(i) may consult with legal counsel (including counsel for the Seller, the Servicer or any
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Originator), independent public accountants and other experts selected by it and shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken in good faith by
it in accordance with the advice of such counsel, accountants or experts; (ii) makes no warranty or representation to any Owner and shall not be responsible to
any Owner for any statements, warranties or representations (whether written or oral) made in or in connection with this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document or any other instrument or document delivered pursuant hereto; (iii) shall not have any duty to ascertain or to inquire as to the performance or
observance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any other instrument or document delivered
pursuant hereto on the part of the Seller or any Originator or to inspect the property (including the books and records) of the Seller or any Originator;
(iv) shall not be responsible to any Owner for the due execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of this Agreement or any
other Transaction Document or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto, or the perfection, priority or value of any ownership interest or
security interest created or purported to be created hereunder or under the Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement; and (v) shall incur no liability
under or in respect of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any other instrument or document delivered pursuant hereto by acting upon any
notice (including notice by telephone), consent, certificate or other instrument or writing (which may be by telecopier, telegram, cable or telex) reasonably
believed by it to be genuine and signed or sent by the proper party or parties.

     Section 8.03. Citicorp and Affiliates.

     With respect to any Capital Investment or any Receivable Interest owned by it, Citicorp shall have the same rights and powers under this Agreement as any
other Purchaser and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent. Citicorp and its Affiliates may generally engage in any kind of business with the
Seller or any Originator or any Obligor, any of their respective Affiliates and any Person who may do business with or own securities of the Seller or any
Originator or any Obligor or any of their respective Affiliates, all as if Citicorp were not the Agent and without any duty to account therefor to the Purchasers.

     Section 8.04. Purchase Decisions.

     Each Purchaser acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any of its Affiliates or any other Purchaser and based on
such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own evaluation and decision to enter into this Agreement and to purchase undivided
ownership interests in Pool Receivables hereunder. Each Purchaser also acknowledges that it shall, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any of
its Affiliates or any other Purchaser and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own decisions
in taking or not taking action under this Agreement.

     Section 8.05. Indemnification.

     The Purchasers agree to indemnify the Agent (to the extent not promptly reimbursed by the Seller), ratably according to the Receivable Interests then
owned by them (or, if no Receivable Interest is at that time owned by them, ratably according to their respective Commitments) from and against any and all
liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever that may be
imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any other
instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto or any action taken or omitted by the Agent under this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or
any such instrument or document; provided that no Purchaser shall be liable for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions,
judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements resulting from the Agent’s gross negligence or
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willful misconduct. Without limitation of the foregoing, the Purchasers agree to reimburse the Agent, ratably according to the Receivable Interests then
owned by them (or, if no Receivable Interest is at that time owned by any of them, ratably according to their respective Commitments), promptly upon
demand for any costs and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel) payable by the Seller to the Agent under
Section 11.04, to the extent that the Agent is not promptly reimbursed for such costs and expenses by the Seller.

          Section 8.06. Posting of Approved Electronic Communications.

     (a) Subject to Section 11.05 and certain limited exceptions in respect of which the Company has delivered prior written notice to the Agent, each of the
Purchasers, the Issuing Banks, the Servicer and the Seller agree, that the Agent may, but shall not be obligated to, make the Approved Electronic
Communications available to the Purchasers and Issuing Banks by posting such Approved Electronic Communications on “e-Disclosure”, the Agent’s
internet delivery system that is part of Fixed Income Direct, Global Fixed Income’s primary web portal, or successor electronic platform chosen by the Agent
to be its internet delivery system (the “Approved Electronic Platform”).

     (b) Although the primary web portal is secured with a dual firewall and a User ID/Password Authorization System and the Approved Electronic Platform is
secured through a single-user-per-deal authorization method whereby each user may access the Approved Electronic Platform only on a deal-by-deal basis,
each of the Purchasers, the Issuing Banks, the Servicer and the Seller acknowledges and agrees, that the distribution of material through an electronic medium
is not necessarily secure and that there are confidentiality and other risks associated with such distribution. In consideration for the convenience and other
benefits afforded by such distribution and for the other consideration provided hereunder, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, each
of the Purchasers, the Issuing Banks, the Servicer and the Seller hereby approves, and the Servicer shall cause each other Originator to approve, distribution
of the Approved Electronic Communications through the Approved Electronic Platform and understands and assumes the risks of such distribution.

     (c) The Approved Electronic Communications and the Approved Electronic Platform are provided “as is” and “as available”. None of the Agent or any of
its Affiliates or any of their respective officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors or representatives (the “Agent Affiliates”) warrant the accuracy,
adequacy or completeness of the Approved Electronic Communications and the Approved Electronic Platform and each expressly disclaims liability for
errors or omissions in the Approved Electronic Communications and the Approved Electronic Platform. No warranty of any kind, express, implied or
statutory (including, without limitation, any warranty of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, non-infringement of third party rights or freedom
from viruses or other code defects) is made by the Agent Affiliates in connection with the Approved Electronic Communications.

ARTICLE IX

ASSIGNMENT OF RECEIVABLE INTERESTS

     Section 9.01. Purchaser’s Assignment of Rights and Obligations.

     (a) Each Purchaser may assign to any Eligible Assignee all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including, without limitation,
all or a portion of its Commitment and the Receivable Interests owned by it); provided, however, that (i) each such assignment shall be a constant, and not a
varying, percentage of such Purchaser’s rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Receivable Interests owned by it, (ii) in the case of any
assignment by any Purchaser that is not assigning pursuant thereto all of its right and obligations under this Agreement, (A) the amount of the
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Commitment (determined as of the date of the applicable Assignment and Acceptance) being assigned pursuant to each such assignment shall be at least
$5,000,000, or (B) the aggregate amount of all Commitments (determined as of the date of the applicable Assignments and Acceptances) being assigned by
such Purchaser on such date to two or more Eligible Assignees that are Affiliates of each other shall be at least $5,000,000, (iii) each such assignment shall be
to an Eligible Assignee, (iv) the parties to each such assignment shall execute and deliver to the Agent, for its acceptance and recording in the Register, an
Assignment and Acceptance, together with a processing and recording fee of $3,500 and (v) the consent of the Agent and the Seller (which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld or delayed and shall not be required at all following an Event of Termination) shall first have been obtained. Upon such execution,
delivery and acceptance, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Acceptance, which effective date shall be the later of (x) the date
the Agent receives the executed Assignment and Acceptance and (y) the date of such Assignment and Acceptance, (1) the Assignee thereunder shall be a
party hereto and shall have all the rights and obligations of a Purchaser hereunder and (2) the assigning Purchaser shall, to the extent that rights and
obligations hereunder have been assigned by it pursuant to such assignment and acceptance, relinquish its rights and be released from its obligations under
this Agreement.

     (b) By executing and delivering an Assignment and Acceptance, the assigning Purchaser and the Assignee thereunder confirm to and agree with each other
and the other parties hereto as follows: (i) other than as provided in such Assignment and Acceptance, the assigning Purchaser makes no representation or
warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to any statements, warranties or representations made in or in connection with this Agreement or any
other Transaction Document or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto or the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness,
sufficiency or value of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto, or the perfection,
priority or value of any ownership interest or security interest created or purported to be created hereunder or under the Amended and Restated Receivables
Sale Agreement; (ii) the assigning Purchaser makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to the financial condition of the
Seller or any Originator or the performance or observance by the Seller or any Originator of any of their respective obligations under this Agreement or any
other Transaction Document or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto; (iii) such Assignee confirms that it has received copies of this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, together with such other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own analysis
and decision to enter into such Assignment and Acceptance; (iv) such Assignee will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any of its Affiliates,
the assigning Purchaser or any other Purchaser and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its
own decisions in taking or not taking action under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the other instruments and documents furnished
pursuant hereto; (v) such Assignee confirms that it is an Eligible Assignee; (vi) such Assignee appoints and authorizes the Agent to take such action as agent
on its behalf and to exercise such powers and discretion under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the other instruments and documents
furnished pursuant hereto as are delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such powers and discretion as are reasonably incidental
thereto; (vii) such Assignee appoints as its agent the Servicer from time to time designated pursuant to Section 6.01 to enforce its respective rights and
interests in and under the Pool Receivables and the Related Security and Collections with respect thereto and the related Contracts; and (viii) such Assignee
agrees that it will perform in accordance with their terms all of the obligations which by the terms of this Agreement are required to be performed by it as a
Purchaser.

     (c) The Agent shall maintain at its office referred to in Section 11.02 a copy of each Assignment and Acceptance delivered to and accepted by it and a
register (the “Register”) for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Purchasers and the Commitment of, and each Receivable
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Interest owned by, each Purchaser from time to time, which Register shall be available for inspection by the Seller at any reasonable time and from time to
time upon reasonable prior notice. The entries in the Register shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent manifest error, and the Seller, the
Servicer, the Purchasers and the Agent may treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register as a Purchaser hereunder for all purposes of this
Agreement. No Receivable Interest, Letter of Credit Obligation, Reimbursement Obligation, nor any Assignment and Acceptance, shall be effective unless it
is entered in the Register in due course.

     (d) Upon its receipt of an Assignment and Acceptance executed by any assigning Purchaser and an assignee representing that it is an Eligible Assignee, the
Agent shall, if such Assignment and Acceptance has been completed and is in substantially the form of Exhibit A hereto, (i) accept such Assignment and
Acceptance, (ii) record the information contained therein in the Register, and (iii) give prompt notice thereof to the Seller and the Servicer.

     (e) Each Purchaser may sell participations to one or more Persons in or to all or a portion of its rights and obligations under the Transaction Documents
(including all its rights and obligations with respect to Capital Investment and Letters of Credit). The terms of such participation shall not, in any event,
require the participant’s consent to any amendments, waivers or other modifications of any provision of any Transaction Documents, the consent to any
departure by the Seller, the Servicer or any Originator therefrom, or to the exercising or refraining from exercising any powers or rights such Purchaser may
have under or in respect of the Transaction Documents (including the right to enforce the obligations of the Seller, the Servicer or any Originator), except if
any such amendment, waiver or other modification or consent would reduce the amount, or postpone any date fixed for, any amount (whether of Capital,
Yield or fees) payable to such participant under the Transaction Documents, to which such participant would otherwise be entitled under such participation. In
the event of the sale of any participation by any Purchaser, (w) such Purchaser’s obligations under the Transaction Documents shall remain unchanged,
(x) such Purchaser shall remain solely responsible to the other parties for the performance of such obligations, (y) such Purchaser shall remain the holder of
such Capital for all purposes of this Agreement and (z) the Seller, the Agent and the other Purchasers shall continue to deal solely and directly with such
Purchaser in connection with such Purchaser’s rights and obligations under this Agreement. Each participant shall be entitled to the benefits of
Sections 2.12(a), 2.13 and 2.14 as if it were a Purchaser; provided, however, that anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Seller shall not, at any
time, be obligated to make under Section 2.12(a), 2.13 or 2.14 to the participants in the rights and obligations of any Purchaser (together with such Purchaser)
any payment in excess of the amount the Seller would have been obligated to pay to such Purchaser in respect of such interest had such participation not been
sold.

     (f) Each Issuing Bank may at any time assign its rights and obligations hereunder to any other Purchaser by an instrument in form and substance
satisfactory to the Seller, the Agent, such Issuing Bank and such Purchaser. If an Issuing Banks ceases to be a Purchaser hereunder by virtue of any
assignment made pursuant to this Section 9.01, then, as of the effective date of such cessation, such Issuing Bank’s obligations to Issue Letters of Credit
pursuant to Section 2.4 shall terminate and such Issuing Bank shall be an Issuing Bank hereunder only with respect to outstanding Letters of Credit issued
prior to such date.
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ARTICLE X

INDEMNIFICATION

     Section 10.01. Indemnities.

     Without limiting any other rights that any Indemnified Party may have hereunder or under applicable law, and whether or not any of the transactions
contemplated hereby are consummated, the Seller hereby agrees to indemnify each Indemnified Party from and against, and hold each thereof harmless from,
any and all claims, losses, liabilities, costs and expenses of any kind whatsoever (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) (all
of the foregoing being collectively referred to as “Indemnified Amounts”) arising out of, or resulting from, in whole or in part, one or more of the following:
(a) this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any other agreement or document delivered or to be delivered in connection with this Agreement;
(b) the use of proceeds of any Purchase or reinvestment; (c) the interest of any Owner in any Receivable, any Contract or any Related Security; or (d) any
transaction contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or any other agreement or document delivered or to be delivered in
connection with this Agreement; excluding, however, Indemnified Amounts to the extent resulting from either (x) the gross negligence or willful misconduct
on the part of such Indemnified Party, or (y) the failure to collect amounts in respect of a Pool Receivable, to the extent such failure results from a discharge
of the Obligor with respect thereto in a proceeding in respect of such Obligor under applicable bankruptcy laws or otherwise results from the Obligor’s
financial inability to pay such amounts. Without limiting or being limited by the foregoing and whether or not any of the transactions contemplated hereby are
consummated, the Seller shall pay on demand to each Indemnified Party any and all amounts necessary to indemnify such Indemnified Party from and against
any and all Indemnified Amounts which relate to or result from, or which would not have occurred but for, one or more of the following:

     (i) any Receivable becoming a Pool Receivable which is not at the date of the initial creation of an interest therein hereunder an Eligible Receivable;

     (ii) any representation or warranty or statement made or deemed made by the Seller (or any of its officers) under or in connection with this Agreement
or any other Transaction Document or any Seller Report or Receivables Report or other document delivered or to be delivered in connection herewith or
with any other Transaction Document being incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made or delivered;

     (iii) the failure by the Seller to comply with any applicable law, rule or regulation with respect to any Pool Receivable or the related Contract or any
Related Security with respect thereto; or the failure of any Pool Receivable or the related Contract or any Related Security with respect thereto to
conform to any such applicable law, rule or regulation;

     (iv) the failure to vest in the Owner of a Receivable Interest a first priority perfected undivided percentage ownership interest, to the extent of such
Receivable Interest, in each Receivable in, or purported to be in, the Receivables Pool and the Related Security and Collections in respect thereof, free
and clear of any Adverse Claim; or the failure of the Seller to have obtained a first priority perfected ownership interest in the Pool Receivables and the
Related Security and Collections with respect thereto transferred or purported to be transferred to the Seller under the Amended and Restated
Receivables Sale Agreement, free and clear of any Adverse Claim;
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     (v) the failure of the Seller to have filed, or any delay by the Seller in filing, financing statements or other similar instruments or documents under the
UCC of any applicable jurisdiction or other applicable laws with respect to any Receivable in, or purported to be in, the Receivables Pool and the Related
Security and Collections in respect thereof, whether at the time of any Purchase or reinvestment or at any subsequent time unless such failure results
directly and solely from the Agent’s failure to take appropriate action;

     (vi) any dispute, claim, offset or defense (other than discharge in bankruptcy of the Obligor) of any Obligor to the payment of any Receivable in, or
purported to be in, the Receivables Pool (including, without limitation, any defense based on the fact or allegation that such Receivable or the related
Contract is not a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Obligor enforceable against it in accordance with its terms), or any other claim resulting from
the sale of the goods or services related to such Receivable or the furnishing or failure to furnish such goods or services;

     (vii) any failure of the Seller to perform its duties or obligations in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document or to perform its duties or obligations under any Contract;

     (viii) any product liability, personal injury, copyright infringement, theft of services, property damage, or other breach of contract, antitrust, unfair
trade practices or tortious claim arising out of or in connection with the subject matter of any Contract or out of or in connection with any transaction
contemplated by this Agreement, any other Transaction Document or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto or such Contract;

     (ix) the commingling by the Seller of Collections of Pool Receivables at any time with other funds;

     (x) any action or omission by the Seller, reducing or impairing the rights of any Owner of a Receivable Interest under this Agreement, any other
Transaction Document or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto or thereto or with respect to any Pool Receivable;

     (xi) any cancellation or modification of a Pool Receivable, the related Contract or any Related Security, whether by written agreement, verbal
agreement, acquiescence or otherwise;

     (xii) any investigation, litigation or proceeding related to or arising from this Agreement, any other Transaction Document or any other instrument or
document furnished pursuant hereto or thereto, or any transaction contemplated by this Agreement or any Contract or the use of proceeds from any
Purchase or reinvestment pursuant to this Agreement, or the ownership of, or other interest in, any Receivable, the related Contract or Related Security;

     (xiii) the existence of any Adverse Claim against or with respect to any Pool Receivable, the related Contract or the Related Security or Collections
with respect thereto;

     (xiv) any failure by the Seller to pay when due any taxes, including without limitation sales, excise or personal property taxes, payable by the Seller in
connection with any Receivable or the related Contract or any Related Security with respect thereto;

     (xv) any claim brought by any Person other than an Indemnified Party arising from any activity of the Seller in servicing, administering or collecting
any Pool Receivable;

70



 

     (xvi) any failure by any Lock-Box Bank to comply with the terms of the Lock-Box Agreement to which it is a party; or

     (xvii) to the extent not covered by the foregoing clauses, the occurrence and continuance of any Event of Termination other than an Event of
Termination arising under Section 7.01(f).

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS

     Section 11.01. Amendments, Etc.

     No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement, and no consent to any departure by the Seller or the Servicer therefrom, shall be effective
unless in a writing signed by the Agent and the Required Purchasers and, in the case of any such amendment, the Seller and the Servicer, and then such
amendment, waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given; provided, however, that no
amendment, waiver or consent shall:

     (a) without the prior written consent of each Purchaser,

     (i) amend the definitions of “Eligible Receivable”, “Net Receivables Pool Balance”, “Required Net Receivables Pool Balance”, “Reserve
Percentage”, “Required Purchasers” or “Super-Majority Purchasers”, or

     (ii) amend, modify or waive any provision of this Agreement in any way which would

     (A) reduce the amount of a Capital Investment or Yield that is payable on account of any Receivable Interest or Reimbursement Obligation
or delay any scheduled date for payment thereof or change the order of application of Collections to the payment thereof, or

     (B) impair any rights expressly granted to such Purchaser or such Owner under this Agreement, or

     (C) reduce fees payable by the Seller to or for the account of such Purchaser hereunder or delay the dates on which such fees are payable, or

     (iii) amend or waive the Event of Termination contained in Section 7.01(f) relating to the bankruptcy of the Seller, the Servicer, or any Originator, or
amend or waive the Event of Termination contained in Section 7.01(g) relating to the Net Receivables Pool Balance, or

     (iv) change the percentage of Commitments, or the number of Owners or Purchasers, which shall be required for the Purchasers or any of them to take
any action hereunder, or

     (v) amend this Section 11.01, or

     (vi) extend the Amended and Restated Commitment Termination Date, or

     (vii) increase the amount of the Total Commitment;
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     (b) without the consent of the applicable Purchaser, increase the Commitment of such Purchaser, subject such Purchaser to any additional obligations, or
decrease the Receivable Interest of such Purchaser; and

     (c) without the prior written consent of the Super-Majority Purchasers, amend Section 5.07(b) or the definition of “Total Excess Availability” or
“Receivables Excess Availability”,

provided, however, that the Agent shall not, without the prior written consent of the Required Purchasers, either agree to any amendment or waiver of any
provision of the Intercreditor Agreement or consent to any departure from the Intercreditor Agreement by any party thereto, and provided further, that (x) no
amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Agent in addition to the Purchasers required above to take such action, affect the
rights or duties of the Agent under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, (y) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and
signed by the Swing Purchaser in addition to the Purchasers required above to take such action, affect the rights or duties of the Swing Purchaser under this
Agreement or the other Transaction Documents and (z) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the Issuing Banks in addition
to the Purchasers required above to take such action, affect the rights or duties of the Issuing Banks under this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents.

          (d) If, in connection with any proposed amendment, modification, waiver or termination (a “Proposed Change”) requiring the consent of all affected
Purchasers, the consent of Required Purchasers is obtained but the consent of other Purchasers whose consent is required is not obtained (any such Purchaser
whose consent is not obtained as described in this being referred to as a “Non-Consenting Purchaser”), then, as long as the Purchaser acting as the Agent is
not a Non-Consenting Purchaser, at the Seller’s request, any Eligible Assignee acceptable to the Agent shall have the right with the Agent’s consent and in the
Agent’s sole discretion (but shall have no obligation) to purchase from such Non-Consenting Purchaser, and such Non-Consenting Purchaser agrees that it
shall, upon the Agent’s request, sell and assign to the Purchaser acting as the Agent or such Eligible Assignee, all of the Commitments and interests in the
Receivable Interests of such Non-Consenting Purchaser for an amount equal to the Capital Investment represented by the interest held by the Non-Consenting
Purchaser in the Receivable Interests and all accrued and unpaid Yield and fees with respect thereto through the date of sale; provided, however, that such
purchase and sale shall not be effective until (x) the Agent shall have received from such Eligible Assignee an agreement in form and substance satisfactory to
the Agent and the Seller whereby such Eligible Assignee shall agree to be bound by the terms hereof, (y) such Non-Consenting Purchaser shall have received
payments of all interests held by it in the Receivable Interests and all accrued and unpaid Yield and fees with respect thereto through the date of the sale and
(z) such purchase and sale has been recorded in the Register maintained by the Agent. Each Purchaser agrees that, if it becomes a Non-Consenting Purchaser,
it shall execute and deliver to the Agent an Assignment and Acceptance to evidence such sale and purchase subject to such Assignment and Acceptance; and
provided, further, however, that the failure of any Non-Consenting Purchaser to execute an Assignment and Acceptance shall not render such sale and
purchase (and the corresponding assignment) invalid.

          (e) No failure on the part of any Purchaser or the Agent to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof;
nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right. Without limiting
the foregoing, each Purchaser is hereby authorized by the Seller upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Termination, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, to setoff and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other
indebtedness at any time owing by such Purchaser to or for the credit or the account of the Seller against any and all of the obligations of the Seller now or
hereafter existing under this Agreement to such Purchaser or, if such Purchaser is Citicorp, to the Agent or any Affiliate thereof, irrespective of whether
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or not any formal demand shall have been made under this Agreement and although such obligations may be unmatured. Each Purchaser agrees promptly to
notify the Seller after any such setoff and application; provided, however, that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such setoff and
application. The rights of each Purchaser under this Section 11.01 are in addition to other rights and remedies (including, without limitation, other rights of
setoff) which such Purchaser may have.

     Section 11.02. Notices, Etc.

     All notices and other communications hereunder shall, unless otherwise stated herein, be given in writing or by any telecommunication device capable of
creating a written record (including electronic mail), (i) to each of the Seller, the Issuing Banks, the Servicer, the Agent and the Initial Purchasers, at its
address set forth under its name on the signature pages hereof, (ii) to each Purchaser other than the Initial Purchasers, at its address specified on the
Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which it became a Purchaser hereunder or (iii) to any party hereto at such other address as shall be designated by
such party in a notice to the other parties hereto given as provided herein. All such notices and communications shall be effective when received.

     Section 11.03. Binding Effect; Assignability.

     This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Seller, PolyOne, the Agent, the Issuing Banks, the Swing Purchaser and each
Purchaser and their respective successors and assigns, except that neither the Seller nor PolyOne shall have the right to assign its rights or obligations
hereunder or any interest herein without the prior written consent of all Purchasers. This Agreement shall create and constitute the continuing obligation of
the parties hereto in accordance with its terms, and shall remain in full force and effect until such time, after the Termination Date, as no Capital Investment or
any obligation of the Seller, PolyOne, any Originator or the Servicer under any Transaction Document shall be outstanding; provided, however, that rights
and remedies with respect to the provisions of Sections 2.12, 2.13, 2.14, 10.01, 11.04, 11.06, and 11.07 shall be continuing and shall survive any termination
of this Agreement.

     Section 11.04. Costs and Expenses.

     The Seller agrees to pay, upon receipt of a written invoice, all costs and expenses in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery and
administration (including periodic auditing of Receivables) of, and searches and filings in respect of, this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents and
the other documents and agreements to be delivered hereunder and thereunder, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of
(a) counsel for the Agent with respect thereto and advising the Agent as to its rights and remedies hereunder and (b) internal and external auditors. The Seller
further agrees to pay on demand all costs and expenses, if any (including, without limitation, reasonable counsel fees and disbursements), of each Owner, the
Agent or any Affiliate thereof, in connection with the enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings or otherwise) of this Agreement, the
other Transaction Documents and the other documents and agreements to be delivered in connection herewith or therewith. Each written invoice shall set
forth the basis therefor in reasonable detail and shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error.

     Section 11.05. Confidentiality.

     (a) The Seller, the Servicer, PolyOne, the Purchasers and the Agent hereby agree that each of the Servicer, PolyOne, the Seller, the Purchasers and the
Agent (and each of their respective, and their respective Affiliates, employees, officers, directors, agents and advisors) is, and has been from the
commencement of discussions with respect to the receivables program established hereunder, permitted to
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disclose to any and all Persons, without limitation of any kind, the structure and tax aspects (as such terms are used in Code Sections 6011, 6111 and 6112 and
the regulations promulgated thereunder) of the receivables program established hereunder, and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax
analyses) that are or have been provided to the Servicer, PolyOne, the Seller, such Purchasers or the Agent related to such structure and tax aspects. In this
regard, each of the Servicer, PolyOne, the Seller, the Purchasers and the Agent acknowledges and agrees that its disclosure of the structure or tax aspects of
the receivables program established hereunder is not limited in any way by an express or implied understanding or agreement, oral or written (whether or not
such understanding or agreement is legally binding). Furthermore, each of the Servicer, PolyOne, the Seller, the Purchasers and the Agent acknowledges and
agrees that it does not know or have reason to know that its use or disclosure of information relating to the structure or tax aspects of the receivables program
established hereunder is limited in any other manner (such as where the receivables program established hereunder is claimed to be proprietary or exclusive)
for the benefit of any other Person. To the extent that disclosure of the structure or tax aspects of the receivables program established hereunder by the
Servicer, PolyOne, the Seller, the Agent or the Purchasers is limited by any existing agreement between the Servicer, PolyOne, the Seller, the Agent or the
Purchasers, such limitation is agreed to be void ab initio and such agreement is hereby amended to permit disclosure of the structure and tax aspects of the
receivables program established hereunder as provided in this clause (a).

     (b) Subject to clause (a) of this Section 11.05, neither the Agent nor any Purchaser may disclose to any Person any confidential, proprietary or non-public
information of any Originator or the Seller furnished to the Agent or the Purchasers by either an Originator or the Seller (such information being referred to
collectively herein as the “Originator’s Information”), except that each of the Agent and each of the Purchasers may disclose Originator’s Information (i) to
its and its Affiliates’ employees, officers, directors, agents and advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be
informed of the confidential nature of such Originator’s Information and instructed to keep such Originator’s Information confidential on substantially the
same terms as provided herein), (ii) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority, (iii) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any
subpoena or similar legal process, (iv) to any other party to this Agreement, (v) if reasonably necessary in connection with the exercise of any remedies
hereunder or under any other Transaction Document or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document or the
enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (vi) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section 11.05 to any
assignee of or participant in, or any prospective assignee of or participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement, (vii) to the extent such
Originator’s Information (A) is or becomes generally available to the public on a non-confidential basis other than as a result of a breach of this Section 11.05
by the Agent or such Purchaser, or (B) is or becomes available to the Agent or such Purchaser on a non-confidential basis from a source other than an
Originator, the Servicer, PolyOne or the Seller, and (viii) with the prior written consent of the Servicer, PolyOne or the Seller.

     (c) Subject to clause (a) of this Section 11.05, none of the Servicer, PolyOne or the Seller may disclose to any Person the amount or terms of any fees
payable to the Agent or any Purchaser (such information being collectively referred to herein as the “Program Information”), except that the Servicer,
PolyOne or the Seller may disclose the Program Information (i) to its and its respective Affiliates’ employees, officers, directors, agents and advisors who
have a need to know the Program Information in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby or (ii) to the extent required by
applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process.
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     Section 11.06. Governing Law.

     THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

     Section 11.07. Jurisdiction, Etc.

     (a) Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of any New York
State court or Federal court of the United States of America sitting in New York City, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding
arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party, or for recognition or enforcement of any
judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be
heard and determined in any such New York State court or, to the extent permitted by law, in such Federal court. Each of the parties hereto hereby agrees that
service of process in any such action or proceeding may be effected by mailing a summons and complaint to it at its address specified in Section 11.02 by
registered mail, return receipt requested, or in any other manner permitted by applicable law. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any
such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law.
Nothing in this Agreement shall affect any right that any party may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any of the
other Transaction Documents in the courts of any other jurisdiction.

     (b) Each of the parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection that it may
now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the other Transaction
Documents to which it is a party in any New York State or Federal court. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted
by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.

     Section 11.08. Execution in Counterparts.

     This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when
taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery by telecopier of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement shall be
effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Agreement.

     Section 11.09. Intent of the Parties.

     It is the intention of the parties hereto that each Purchase and reinvestment shall convey to each Owner, to the extent of its Receivable Interests, an
undivided ownership interest in the Pool Receivables and the Related Security and Collections in respect thereof and that such transaction shall constitute a
purchase and sale and not a secured loan for all purposes other than for federal income tax purposes. If, notwithstanding such intention, the conveyance of the
Receivable Interests from the Seller to any Owner shall ever be recharacterized as a secured loan and not a sale, it is the intention of the parties hereto that this
Agreement shall constitute a security agreement under applicable law, and the Seller hereby grants to the Agent for the benefit of itself, the Issuing Banks and
each such Owner a duly perfected first priority security interest in all of the Seller’s right, title and interest in, to and under the Pool Receivables and the
Related Security and Collections in respect thereof, free and clear of Adverse Claims and Seller also hereby grants to the Agent for the benefit of itself, the
Issuing Banks and each Owner a duly perfected
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first priority security interest in all of the Seller’s right, title and interest in, to and under any cash collateral under this Agreement.

     Section 11.10. Entire Agreement.

     This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents contain a final and complete integration of all prior expressions by the parties hereto with respect to
the subject matter hereof and shall constitute the entire agreement and understanding among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersede all prior agreements and understandings, written or oral, relating to the subject matter hereof.

     Section 11.11. Severability of Provisions.

     Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such
prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other
jurisdiction.

     Section 11.12. No Liability of Syndication Agent.

     The Syndication Agent in its capacity as such shall not have any duties or responsibilities or shall incur any liability under this Agreement or any of the
other Transaction Documents.

     Section 11.13. Waiver of Jury Trial.

     Each of the parties hereto irrevocably waives all right to trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim (whether based on contract, tort
or otherwise) arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents, the Purchases or the actions of the Agent or
any Indemnified Party in the negotiation, administration, performance or enforcement hereof or thereof.
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date
above written.
       
  POLYONE FUNDING CORPORATION,
       as Seller
       
  By:    
    

 

    Name:  John Rastetter
    Title:  President
     
  Address:  33587 Walker Road
    Avon Lake, Ohio 44012
     
  Attention:  President
     
  Telephone No.:  (216) 589-4291
  Telecopier No.:  (216) 589-4280
  e-mail:  John.Rastetter@Polyone.com

[RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT]

 



 

       
  POLYONE CORPORATION,
       as Servicer
       
  By:    
    

 

    Name:  John Rastetter
    Title:  Treasurer
     
  Address:  33587 Walker Road
    Avon Lake, Ohio 44012
     
  Attention:  Treasurer
     
  Telephone No.:  (216) 589-4291
  Telecopier No.:  (216) 589-4280
  e-mail:  John.Rastetter@Polyone.com

[RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT]

 



 

       
  ISSUING BANKS
       
  CITIBANK, N.A.,
       as an Issuing Bank
       
  By:    
    

 

    Name:  David Jaffe
    Title:  Vice President/Director
     
  Address:  388 Greenwich Street
    19th Floor
    New York, New York 10013
     
  Attention:  David Jaffe
     
  Telephone No.:  (212) 816-2329
  Telecopier No.:  (212) 816-2613
  e-mail:  david.jaffe@citigroup.com
       
  NATIONAL CITY BANK,
       as an Issuing Bank
       
  By:    
    

 

    Name:   
    Title:   
     
  Address:   
     
  Attention:   
     
  Telephone No.:   
  Telecopier No.:   
  e-mail:  [                    ]

[RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT]

 



 

       
  AGENT
       
  CITICORP USA, INC.,
       as Agent
       
  By:    
    

 

    Name:  David Jaffe
    Title:  Vice President/Director
     
  Address:  388 Greenwich Street
    19th Floor
    New York, New York 10013
     
  Attention:  David Jaffe
     
  Telephone No.:  (212) 816-2329
  Telecopier No.:  (212) 816-2613
  e-mail:  david.jaffe@citigroup.com

[RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT]

 



 

       
  SYNDICATION AGENT
       
  NATIONAL CITY BUSINESS CREDIT, INC.,
       as Syndication Agent
       
  By:    
    

 

    Name:   
    Title:   
     
  Address:  1965 East 6th Street,
    Suite 400
    Cleveland, Ohio, 44114
     
  Attention:   
     
  Telephone No.:  (216) 222-9918
  Telecopier No.:  (216) 222-9555
  e-mail:  [                    ]

[RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT]

 



 

PURCHASERS:

[SIGNATURE PAGES TO BE PROVIDED
SEPARATELY]

[RECEIVABLES PURCHASE AGREEMENT]

 



 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, William F. Patient, President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of PolyOne Corporation (“registrant”), certify that:

 1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of PolyOne Corporation;
 

 2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented our conclusions in this report about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

October 27, 2005
     
/s/ William F. Patient    
William F. Patient   
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board   

 



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, W. David Wilson, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of PolyOne Corporation (“registrant”), certify that:

 1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of PolyOne Corporation;
 

 2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented our conclusions in this report about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

October 27, 2005
     
/s/ W. David Wilson    
W. David Wilson   
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer   

 



 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of PolyOne Corporation (the “Company”) for the period ended September 30, 2005, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William F. Patient, President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board,
do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of
the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

     
/s/ William F. Patient    
William F. Patient   
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board 
October 27, 2005   

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.

 



 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of PolyOne Corporation (the “Company”) for the period ended September 30, 2005, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, W. David Wilson, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, do
hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of
the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

     
/s/ W. David Wilson    
W. David Wilson   
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
October 27, 2005   

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.

 


